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IMPORTANT NOTICE
When considering what action you should take, you are advised to consult
your investment adviser, stockbroker, banker or other financial consultant.
This Prospectus is issued by the Directors of YETU Microfinance PLC and includes
information given in compliance with the requirements of the Capital Markets and
Securities (Prospectus Regulations Requirements) (Amendment) Regulations
2010 and the Capital Markets and Securities (Nominated Advisors) Regulations
2010.
The Directors of YETU Microfinance PLC being the persons named in Section D of
this Prospectus have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated and
the opinions expressed herein are true and accurate in all material respects, and
there are no other material facts omission of which would make any statement
herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading. All the directors of YETU Microfinance
PLC accept responsibility accordingly and have submitted commitment letters to the
Authority in this regard.
The ordinary shares of YETU Microfinance PLC have a nominal value of TZS 250
and rank pari-passu with the right to participate in all future dividends to be declared
and paid on the ordinary share capital of YETU Microfinance PLC
Application has been made to the Enterprise Growth Market (EGM) segment of the
Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange (DSE) for official listing of all the Company’s
ordinary shares. However, existing shareholders will be subjected to a 3-year lock-in
period during which they will not be allowed to sell their shares.
The IPO Advisors, namely, the Nominated Advisor (Consultants for Resources
Evaluation Limited); the Reporting Accountant (Mhasibu Consultants); the Legal
Advisor (M/S Mkoba & Co. Advocates) have given and have not withdrawn their
written consents to act in the capacities stated, and to their names being stated in
their respective capacities in this Prospectus.
This Prospectus shall not be used for or in connection with any offer of YETU initial
shares to, or solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances where
such offer or solicitation is not authorized or is unlawful. The distribution of this
Prospectus outside of Tanzania may be restricted by law. Persons who come into
possession of this Prospectus should seek advice on and observe all restrictions
placed on them by the laws of the jurisdiction in which they are located. Any failure to
comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of applicable securities laws.
No person shall be authorized to either; - (i) reproduce or publish this Prospectus; or
(ii) distribute, disclose or pass on this presentation to any other person, in whole or in
part, by any medium or in any form.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
This document concerns an Offer for ordinary shares of YETU Microfinance PLC
under the Enterprise Growth Market of the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange.
An Enterprise Growth Market (EGM) is designed primarily for small and
medium size companies, start-ups or companies with no track record to
which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than to more established
companies or companies with good track record. A prospective investor
should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if
appropriate, after consultation with an independent financial adviser.
A copy of this Prospectus together with the documents required by Section 434 of
the Tanzanian Companies Act to be attached thereto, have been delivered to the
Capital Markets and Securities Authority for approval and to the Registrar of
Companies in Dar es Salaam Tanzania for registration pursuant to Section 49(1) of
the Tanzanian Companies Act.
The securities that are the subject of the Prospectus have not been approved nor
disapproved by the Capital Markets and Securities Authority. As a matter of policy,
the Capital Markets and Securities Authority of Tanzania does not assume
responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions or
reports expressed or contained in this Prospectus.
Approval of the Prospectus by the Capital Markets and Securities Authority is not
to be taken as an indication of the merits of YETU Microfinance PLC or its shares.
Prospective investors should carefully consider the matters set forth and
discussed in Section G labelled 'Risk Factors' in this Prospectus.
This Document is not for sale.
It is dated 11 June 2015
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DECLARATION OF THE DIRECTORS
The Directors of YETU Microfinance PLC, whose particulars appear on page 100 in
the Prospectus dated 11 June, 2015, collectively and individually accept
responsibility for the information given and certify that to the best of their knowledge
and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement
false or misleading, that they have made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain that
this is true.
We confirm that none of the Directors individually or with others or in a company of
which they were directors has been involved in bankruptcy, liquidation or other
regulatory prohibitions.

CHAIRMAN

SECRETARY
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DATE

IMPORTANT DATES – OFFER TIMETABLE
Offer begins:

Thursday, June 18, 2015

Offer closes:

Thursday, July 30, 2015

Allotment of Shares:

Thursday, August 6, 2015

Announcement of Allotment

Friday, August 7, 2015

Refund cheques to Authorized Selling Agents

Friday, August 7, 2015

Crediting of shares to the CDS accounts

Wednesday, August 12, 2015

Distribution of Depository Receipt

Friday, August 14th, 2015

Listing date and commencement of trading of YETU -

Monday, August 17, 2015

shares on the DSE
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DECLARATION OF CONSULTANTS FOR RESOURCES EVALUATION LIMITED
(THE NOMINATED ADVISOR)
To the best of its knowledge and belief, having made due and careful enquiry and
considered all relevant matters under the Capital Markets and Securities (Nominated
Advisors’) Regulations, 2010 and the DSE Rules for EGM Companies and in relation
to this application for admission, this Nominated Advisor confirms that all applicable
requirements have been complied with and, in particular:
SECTION A:
The listing document complies with the DSE Rules for EGM Companies.
The requirements of the First Schedule to the Capital Markets and Securities
(Nominated Advisors) Regulations, 2010 have been complied with;
SECTION B:
It is satisfied that the applicant and its securities are appropriate to be listed on the
EGM having made due and carefully enquiry and considered all relevant matters set
out in the DSE Rules for EGM Companies and the Capital Markets and Securities
Authority Nominated Advisors, Regulations 2010, and
The Directors of the applicant have received advice and guidance (from this
Nominated Advisor and other appropriate professional advisors) as to the applicant’s
responsibilities and obligations under the law in order to facilitate due compliance by
the applicant on an ongoing basis;
The Nominated Advisor confirms that it will comply with the laws as applicable to it in
its role as a Nominated Advisor to this applicant.

L G FUMBUKA, MBA FCCA
Certified Public Accountant in Public Practice
DIRECTOR
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DEFINITIONS AND ABREVIATIONS
In this document and in the accompanying Provisional Allotment Letter the following
expressions shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise
requires:
“ALCO”

Assets and Liability Committee

“AML” Law

Anti –Money Laundering Law

“ATM”

Automated Teller Machine

“Banking Act”” or
‘BAFI Act”

Shall mean the Banking and Financial Institutions Act, Cap. 342;

“BCP”

Business Continuity Plan

“BoT” or “the Bank”

The Bank of Tanzania

“CEMIDE”

Centre for Microfinance and Development

“CFT”

Combating the financing of Terrorism

“CGAP”

Consultative Group to Assist the poor

“CIA”

Chief Internal Audit

“CMS Act”

shall mean the Capital Markets and Securities Act, Cap 79;

“CMSA” or “the
Authority”

The Capital Markets & Securities Authority

“DCF”

Discounted Cashflow

“Directors” or “the
Board”

The members of the Board of Directors of YETU whose names
appear on page 100 of this document.

“DSE”

The Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange

“EGM”

Enterprise Growth Market- a second tier window of the Dar es
salaam Stock exchange for start-up companies.

“FAM”

Finance and Administration Manager

“Final Allotment”

August 6, 2015

“FINCA”

Foundation for International Community

“FSDT”

Financial Sector Deepening Trust Fund

“Green shoe option”

An agreement that gives the underwriter the right to issue shares to
investors who have subscribed for more shares than are on offer,
subject to a stated limit above the offer shares

“HR”

Human Resource

“IFM”

Institute Of Finance Management

“ILO”

International Labour Organisation

“Initial Allotment”

Allotment to be made on Wednesday, August 5, 2015 to investors
who had paid for their shares in advance.

“IPO”

Initial Public Offering

“IT”

Information Technology
1

“KYC”

Know Your Customer

“Lock-in Period”

A defined period, in this case 3 years, during which pre-defined
investors (usually directors or promoters of the company)

“MFC”

Microfinance Companies

“MFIs”

Microfinance Institutions

“MIS”

Management Information System

“NGO”

Non-profit organisation(Non-government organisation)

“NMB”

National Microfinance Bank

“Nominated Advisor”

Consultants for Resources Evaluation Limited

“Offer Price”

TZS 500 per share

“Official Listing”

The date, in this case Monday, August 17, 2015, when shares on
Offer in an IPO can be listed for sale at the DSE

“Ordinary Shares”

Ordinary shares of TZS .250 each in the share capital of the
Company

“Oversubscription”

Money collected in an IPO that is more than the value of shares
issued on offer

“P/E”

Price Earnings ratio

“PAR”

Portfolio at risk

“PLC”

Public Limited Company

“Promoters”

Investors who are either Directors of the Company, or those that
have 1% or more of the bank’s issued share capital, or those who
are regarded by the Directors and reported to the Exchange after
each allotment as being anchor shareholders.

“Prospectus”

This Prospectus, dated June 11, 2015

“Qualifying
Shareholders”

All holders of ordinary shares qualifying shall be on the register of
members of the Company

“Receiving Agents”

All Licensed Dealing members of the DSE. This includes Nominated
advisors under the law and community banks listed on page viii-ix

“Receiving Bank”

CRDB Bank PLC

“SELF”

Small Enterprise Loan facility

“SMEs”

Small and Medium Enterprises

“TAMFI”

Tanzania Microfinance Institutions Association

“the Company”

YETU Microfinance PLC

“TIB”

Tanzania Investment Bank

“TZS ”

Tanzania Shillings.

“UNDP”

United Nations Development Programme

“YETU” or “the
Issuer”

YETU Microfinance Public limited company

“YOSEFO”

Youth Self Employment Foundation
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Dear Investors,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of YETU Microfinance PLC, it’s indeed my
pleasure to present this prospectus in connection with the Offer for Subscription of
the Company’s shares. The offer is for 25,193,213 ordinary shares at an offer price
of TZS 500 per share and is open to Tanzanian and non-Tanzanian persons.
So far, a total of 11,779,028 ordinary shares worth TZS 2,944,757,000 have been
subscribed for and paid for in the course of transforming Youth and Self Employment
Foundation (YOSEFO), the former microfinance institution (MFI).
By way of background history, YETU Microfinance PLC is a newly incorporated
Microfinance Company which has inherited the microfinance business that was
carried by YOSEFO with a strong base of 28,000 customers, three branches, three
agencies and 137 financial services centres. The branches and agencies and
financial services centres located in Dar es Salaam, Morogoro and Lindi regions and
Zanzibar.
YOSEFO, through which YETU was found, was established in 1997 with a capital of
TZS 30 million. The core activity of YOSEFO was lending to micro entrepreneurs but
also supported schools in Tumbatu Zanzibar, Somanga Simu and Mtanga in Kilwa
and Ifakara. The loan portfolio was secured from wholesale lenders that include
Stromme Microfinance East Africa Limited, SELF and OIKO Credit and Commercial
Bank that include TIB Development Bank, NMB and Mkombozi Commercial Bank.
The purpose of this Offer is to recapitalize the Company further and, upon
attaining the capital requirements for a licensed financial institution,
converting it into a microfinance bank. The proceeds from this Offer will count
toward that goal.
We are also indeed grateful to our partners who provided funding for capacity
building that includes Miche Association, Stromme Foundation, African Development
Foundation, Financial Sector Deepening Trust and Plan International.
We at Yetu Microfinance are very excited to be part of this great initiative and
transformation that Tanzania’s banking and financial sector is undergoing, we are
committed to make the single largest contribution in this exciting journey. Our
company has issued an IPO as a way to invite you all to join our journey.
The main reasons for taking the financial institution through the IPO and subsequent
listing include the following:
·

Capital:-To raise additional capital that would allow the company expand its
scope of business that entail introducing SMEs loans and other loan products
like advances.

3

·

Spread of ownership: - Issuing shares to the public will enable dilution of
ownership so that not more than 20% is owned by a single individual or entity.

·

Business Innovation: IPO will bring about cash which will be used to
upgrade its MIS system so that it can cope with the growing number of
customers transforming three branches namely Ifakara, Kilwa and Zanzibar
into full-fledged bank branches. Also will attract more customers to join.

·

Customer preference: To enable existing customers of YETU the opportunity
to participate directly in the equity and future growth of YETU Microfinance
PLC

The Directors of YETU Microfinance have resolved to continue to maintaining the
YOSEFO brand as a unique and foremost Microfinance Institution; driven by passion
for innovation, creative solutions, amazing customer service and leveraging on
technology whilst creating optimal value for all stakeholders
We therefore, kindly invite all Tanzanians to have a stake in YETU Microfinance PLC

Ernerst Ndimbo
Chairman, Board of Directors
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Introduction and background to the offer
YETU Microfinance PLC (hereinafter referred to as “YETU”) is a company limited by
shares. It was incorporated in the United Republic of Tanzania, under the
Companies Act 2002 on December 23, 2013 with Certificate of Incorporation No.
104761. The company was incorporated primarily to take over the business of the
Youth Self Employment Foundation (“YOSEFO”), established as a Trust under the
Incorporation of Trustees Ordinance Cap 318, then providing grassroots financial
services concerned mainly with lending to and business training of micro
entrepreneurs.
Through this transformation and upon raising capital required through this Offer,
YETU will be able to secure a banking license and expand its scope of business.
YETU Microfinance has already submitted an application for banking license and has
put in place infrastructure, IT systems and human resources for delivery of
community banking services.
The company has two classes of shares: ordinary shares and preference shares.
Currently, only the ordinary shares have been issued.
The authorized, issued and paid up share capital as at June 30, 2014 was as
follows:
Table 1: Share capital as at June 30, 2014
AUTHORISED CAPITAL
100,000,000 Ordinary Shares of TZS 250/= each
20,000,000, Preference Shares of TZS 250/= each

25,000,000,000
5,000,000,000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID
36,972,249 Ordinary Shares of TZS 250/= each
Preference shares

9,243,062,250
0

This Offer aims to raise TZS 12,596,606,500 by selling 25,193,213 shares at a price
of TZS 500 per share. This will represent 68.1% of the final issued share capital of
the Company. Of the shares on offer, 2,170,739 shares are reserved for existing
members of YOSEFO by way of transfer to share capital of their deposits under the
compulsory savings scheme.
The IPO proceeds (net of the Offer expenses) will accrue to YETU, to be used to
broaden and expand the existing capital and loan book. The transaction will also
allow YETU Microfinance PLC to meet the capital requirements for a banking
license.
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The shares will then be listed with the name of YETU Microfinance PLC under the
sticker “YETU“.
YETU Microfinance PLC which is taking over the financial services delivery business
of YOSEFO has jumped at the opportunity provided in the Microfinance and Credit
Activities Regulations, 2005 and the Banking and Financial Institutions Act, 2006 to
transform and scale up YOSEFO, a well-established brand in the provision of
grassroots financial services, into a microfinance deposit taking institution. In the
process, YETU will also define its ownership structure more purposively in order to
meet the expanding financial needs of its clientele.
The reasons to launch the IPO and the subsequent listing on the Dar es Salaam
Stock Exchange have been driven by a Business Plan that has been approved by
the Board, which addresses the following considerations:
·

Capital:-To raise additional capital that would allow the company expand its
scope of business that entail introducing SMEs loans and other loan products
like advances.

·

Spread of Ownership: -Issuing shares to the public will enable dilution of
ownership so that not more than 20% is owned by a single individual or entity.

·

Business Innovation: IPO will bring about cash which will be used to
upgrade its MIS system so that it can cope with the growing number of
customers transforming three branches namely Ifakara, Kilwa and Zanzibar
into full-fledged bank branches. It will also attract more customers to join.

·

Customer Preference: To enable existing customers of YETU the
opportunity to participate directly in the equity and future growth of YETU
Microfinance PLC.

Nature of the Business
YETU Microfinance PLC is a Public Limited Company promoted by YOSEFO and its
founder Directors and employees. YETU is a Credit-only MFI which has been
created as part of YOSEFO’s transformation into a licensed financial institution. The
end result of the transformation process is to marshal and bring together YOSEFO’s
assets and established core business operations under the umbrella of YETU as a
microfinance Bank.
YOSEFO, from which YETU is inheriting its business of microfinance, had been in
operation since 1997 with six branches located in Dar es Salaam, Morogoro, Lindi,
Tanga, Coast Region and Zanzibar. YOSEFO was established as a Trust under the
Incorporation of Trustee Ordinance Cap 318, with Certificate of Incorporation # 2815
given on March10, 2004.
Movement of Ownership
The ownership of YETU Microfinance is spread in different groups of individuals
according to their capital contributions. The ownership is expressed in terms of
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shares, of which currently the major owners of YETU Microfinance are YOSEFO,
Founder Directors and Employees.
The initial authorized share capital of YETU at the time of incorporation in December
2013 comprised TZS 30,000,000,000 divided into TZS 25,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of TZS 250/= each, plus TZS 5,000,000,000 comprising 20,000,000
preference shares of TZS 250/= each.
The movement in the number of issued and paid up ordinary shares began with 5
shareholders holding 5 ordinary shares at incorporation, as follows:
Table 2: Founder shareholders’ holdings at incorporation:
Name
Altemius Ambros Millinga
Happy Zabron Sambega
Phares Thobias Kapinga
Esther Rossiner Mbise
Simpert Oswin Ndunguru

No. of share
1
1
1
1
1

On October 8, 2014, the shareholders passed a resolution (hereinafter called “the
Restructuring Resolution”) stating that certain net assets of YOSEFO (hereinafter
called “the Initial Net Assets”) that were transferred from YOSEFO at book value to
the founding shareholders as shown in the table below. As part of the restructuring
program, the resolution mandated the management to collect cash injections from
the founding Directors and the employees with a view of further diluting YOSEFO
stake in YETU toward 20% maximum;
The resulting ownership structure is summarized by the following table:
Table 3: Current shareholding structure
CURRENT
SHAREHOLDERS
B/FRWD
YOSEFO
FOUNDER
DIRECTORS
EMPLOYEES
GENERAL PUBLIC

Total

INITIAL NET
ASSETS

CASH
OPENING
INJECTIONS NET ASSETS

1,877,789,322

- 1,877,789,322

OPENING
SHARES

% ge

3,755,579 63.77%

604,174,814

11,000,000

615,174,814

1,230,350 20.89%

406,492,011

45,300,300

451,792,311

903,585 15.34%

-

-

-

-

56,300,300 2,944,756,447

5,889,514

2,888,456,147

100

The restructuring resolution also reduced the par value of each share to TZS 250/=
from the original 500/= thereby increasing the number of shares held by the then
existing shareholders. It was also resolved that fresh shares be issued to dilute
YOSEFO completely, with following resulting shareholding structure:
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Table 4: Share capital after the offer (IPO)
Final Shareholders
YOSEFO
Founder Directors
Founder Employees
General Public
Totals

Opening
Shares @
TZS 500
3,755,579
1,230,350
903,585
5,889,514

Opening
Shares @
TZS 250

7,511,158
2,460,700
1,807,170
11,779,028

IPO Shares

Final Shares

%ge

25,193,213
25,193,213

7,511,158
2,460,700
1,807,170
25,193,213
36,972,241

20.32%
6.66%
4.89%
68.14%
100%

Of the fresh shares on offer in terms of the IPO, it was resolved that up to a
maximum of 2,170,739 shares (amounting to about 6% of the issued share capital)
be reserved for members and existing clients of YOSEFO. In the event they are
unable or unwilling to take up the shares on the same IPO terms, the shares shall
revert to the public pool.
Movements in Share Capital
The history of the ordinary share capital of the company consists of 3 movements as
follows:
Table 5: Changes in YETU’s Share Capital since incorporation
Description
At incorporation [@TZS 500 par]
At first restructuring [@TZS 500 par]
500 par]
Subtotal: share @ TZS 500/=
Subtotal: recasted @ TZS 250/=

Shares

Additions after IPO @ TZS 250

25,193,213

6,298,303,250

Total share capital after IPO

36,972,249

9,243,062,250

5
5,776,912
112,601
5,889,518
11,779,036

Share Capital TZS
2,500
2,888,456,000

56,300,500
2,944,759,000
2,944,759,000

Dividend policy
The declaration of dividends will be recommended by the Board of Directors and
approved by the shareholders. It will depend primarily on profits made and the
Company’s capital requirements in compliance of banking laws, regulations and
guidelines.
Subject to these provisions being met, the Directors will distribute at least 60% of
available profits as dividends. The dividend payable shall be subject to 5%
withholding tax
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Summary Financial Information
Strictly speaking, YETU is a start-up company in terms of the CMSA’s Enterprise
Growth Market (EGM) and Nominated Advisor Regulations and, in that sense, does
not have a track record to present to investors in this Prospectus.
Having said that, it is also true to highlight the fact YETU is inheriting the
microfinance business of YOSEFO in its entirety i.e. including branch network and
staff. This would suggest that YOSEFO’s track record may be expected to provide a
mirror image of YETU’s operations going forward, taking off from the point where
YOSEFO has ended.
In evaluating YETU’s likely financial performance, we find it sensible to present the
summary of financial results of YOSEFO over the past years. This will enable
investors to reach an informed decision on the merits of this transaction.
For this reason, the Independent Reporting Accountant has issued a report on
YOSEFO’s 3-years audited financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2012, 2013 and 2014. These are herein incorporated under Section F. It has also
prepared an Independent Reporting Accountant’s Report on the Profit Forecast for
the Years Ended 31 December 2015 - 2018, herein incorporated on page 76. The
latter has been done to underpin the fact that although YETU is inheriting YOSEFO’s
operations, it is a new establishment in areas of scope and emphasis. The extended
period provides readers with useful information, otherwise the norm is to use a profit
forecast for only 1 year at most.
Over sixteen years, YOSEFO has grown to become one of the key players in the
Microfinance in Tanzania. YOSEFO has been a pioneer in Agricultural Microfinance
loans, loans for education, group lending methodology and rural microfinance.
The following table provides financial results for 2009 - 2013
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Table 6: Financial Performance (2009 - 2013)
PROFITABILITY
Years
Net profit (Tzs)

2009
298,914,374

2010

2011

2012

2013

575,673,121 246,808,084

528,996,464

1,037,060,240

Operational Self Sufficiency

115.3%

138.1%

121%

131%

152%

Financial Self Sufficiency

105.9%

114.9%

129.8%

127.1%

133.3%

Source: Audited Accounts of YOSEFO
Record shows that since year 2000 YOSEFO has never made loss except in 2005. The loss was as a result of the expansion drive
to Kilombero and Ilala districts.
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Graph 1: Profitability; 2009 -2013

Source: Audited accounts of YOSEFO
The earnings of YOSEFO have been retained and as a result they form the core
equity of the organization.
EQUITY
Table 7: Sources of equity as of December 31, 2013 which have been built up over
the years
Equity structure as at December 31 2013
Amount in TZS
Participation
Revaluation Reserve
81,436,002
3%
Capital Fund
30,821,985
1%
Grant Capital Fund
353,337,014
12%
Award and Capital Fund
26,385,494
1%
Retained Earnings
2,428,387,383
83%
Total
2,920,367,878
100%
Source: Audited accounts and other financial records of YOSEFO
The main positions from the balance sheet reflect the development of YOSEFO as a
stable and growing Microfinance Institution. As of December 31, 2012, YOSEFO had
a net portfolio of TZS 4,753,554,139 and the amount has grown to
TZS 6,151,987,941 billion as of 31December, 2013.YOSEFO handed over to YETU
Microfinance total assets valued at TZS 7,044,637,044 which is financed by total
liabilities of TZS .4, 431, 180,898 of which loan guarantee funds by borrowers is 65%
and 34% loans from wholesale MFIs and Banks.
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Summary of the initial Public Offer
Table 8: Offer statistics
Offer price
Number of shares on Offer
Expected amount to be raised

TZS 500
25,193,213
12,596,606,500

Allotment policy
The Directors have resolved to enforce the following allotment formula, subject to
CMSA approval:
a) A maximum of 2,170,739 shares have been reserved for YOSEFO members in
exchange for their deposits under the compulsory savings scheme;
b) A minimum of 80% of the issued shares to the public shall be offered to
Tanzania nationals and the remaining 20% is available for non-Tanzanians.
c) In case of oversubscription, permission has been received from CMSA for the
Green Shoe option to be applied whereby excess applications will be allotted
shares up to 20% of the IPO;
d) In the event of an oversubscription beyond the Green Shoe option, available
shares shall be allotted on a pro rata basis.
There are no restrictions to the maximum number of offer shares to be applied for.
Table 9: Offer Timetable
Offer begins:

Thursday, June 18, 2015

Offer closes:

Thursday, July 30, 2015

Allotment of Shares:

Thursday, August 6, 2015

Announcement of Allotment

Friday, August 7, 2015

Refund cheques to Authorized Selling Agents

Friday, August 7, 2015

Crediting of shares to the CDS accounts

Wednesday, August 12, 2015

Distribution of Depository Receipt

Friday, August 14, 2015

Listing date and commencement of trading of YETU
shares on the DSE
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Monday, August 17, 2015

Basis of the Offer Price
The offer price of TZS 500 per share has been found by considering a number of
qualitative and quantitative factors. Qualitatively, we note that YETU is taking over
the microfinance business from the YOSEFO, which shall however continue to
provide support as a major shareholder and provider of all training and technical
support services to YETU. Both YOSEFO and its founding directors have made a
name for themselves as leading practitioners of microfinance in Tanzania and the
Region.
For this reason the Directors felt justified to offer the shares at a premium in
recognition of the work that has gone into making YOSEFO amongst the premier
MFIs in Tanzania.
Secondly, the valuation used market data to value the shares of YETU on the basis
of financial metrics of YOSEFO. These financial multiples are the Price per book
value and the P/E ratio. Valuation has also been done using the discounted cash
flow (DCF) methodology. A final opinion of value was then given based on a
weighted average of the resulting numbers.
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The above methodologies yielded the following results:
DCF VALUATION
22.7%

2014

2015E

2016E

2017E

2018E

1,102,025
(272,813)

807,725
641,462

923,610
579,063

1,086,068
642,402

1,697,995
707,461

829,212
-

1,449,186
(201,931)

1,502,673
(230,903)

1,728,470
(271,517)

2,405,457
(424,499)

829,212
(1,146,539)
81,518

1,651,117
(3,228,656)
(2,350,532)

1,733,575
(3,980,647)
(752,269)

1,999,987
(1,423,377)
(1,404,536)

2,829,956
556,861
(463,938)

FREE CASH FLOW - UNLEVERED
DISCOUNTING FACTOR

(235,809)
0.8152

(3,928,071)
0.6645

(2,999,341)
0.5417

(827,925)
0.4416

2,922,879
0.3600

PV

(192,230)

(2,610,373)

(1,624,840)

(365,626)

1,052,250

EBIT
Add back: DEPRECIATION & AMORT.
OPERATING PROFIT
Less: TAXATION
PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AFTER TAX =
NOPLAT
NET WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES
NET CAPEX
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VALUATION METRICS

MULTIPLES

P/BOOK RATIO VALUATION
P/E RATIO VALUATION
DCF VALUATION

1.50
8.00

IPO PRICE - VALUE OF PER SHARE
IPO PRICE - ROUNDED OFF TO….

PRICE WEIGHT

WTD
VALUE

750
1,407
1,440

1
1
1

750
1,407
1,440

1,199
1,000

3

3,597

Based on the above calculations the recommended price of TZS 1,000 per share
was judged to be too high for the market and for the intended investors. A stock-split
of 2:1 giving 2 new shares for every 1 held – saw this halfed to TZS 500 and the
number of shares in circulation doubled.
The valuation report was undertaken by the NOMAD based on the financial
statements of YOSEFO just prior to the transformation. The Valuation Report is
available for inspection at the Issuer’s head office.
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SECTION A: INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
1.0

Overview of the national economy

Prudent policies and macroeconomic stabilization have underpinned the strength
and resilience of Tanzania’s economic performance over the past decade. Despite
the global financial crisis of 2008-09, the food and fuel price shocks of 2007–08 and
2011–12, and the energy crisis of 2011, real GDP growth has proved resilient,
averaging 7 percent over the past decade. The poverty headcount in Tanzania
Mainland declined from 33.6 percent of the population in 2007 to 28.2 percent in
2011/12, but remained relatively high in rural areas, where job creation was
insufficient to absorb a young and growing labor force1.
According to BoT’s Quarterly Economic Bulletin for the quarter ended June 2014,
Tanzania’s real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth during 2013 was 7.0 percent
compared to 6.9 percent recorded in 2012, largely attributed to output growth in
communications (22.8 per cent); trade and repairs (8.3 per cent); and hotels and
restaurants (6.3 per cent).
During the year 2013, average annual headline inflation decreased further, to 5.6
per cent from the 12.4 per cent recorded in the preceding year. The decrease was
attributed to decline in both food and non-food inflation.
Extended broad money supply (M3) recorded an annual growth rate of 10.0%
compared to 12.5 percent recorded in the year ending December 2012. This is
explained by a slowdown in the growth of net domestic assets of the banking
system. During the last quarter of 2013, banks’ lending and deposit rates exhibited a
general upward trend when compared to the rates recorded in the corresponding
period in 2012. The spread between the 12-month deposit rate and the 1-year
lending rate narrowed to 2.45 percentage points from 3.35 percentage points
recorded in the quarter ending December 2012. Annual growth rate of credit to the
non-government sector declined to 15.3 per cent in December 2013 from 18.2 per
cent recorded in corresponding period in 2012.
As at December 31, 2012, the overall balance of payments remained positive,
increasing slightly to USD 498.4 million compared to USD 327.3 million at
December 31, 2012. However, the current account balance worsened, with a deficit
of USD 4,671.8 compared to a deficit of USD 3,438 million the previous year.
Future macroeconomic outlook
In its latest Country Report, the International Monetary Fund (IMF)2 projects that
Tanzania’s economic growth will remain strong at 7 percent in 2014/5 and in the
medium term.
With inflation currently at 6 percent, the IMF agrees that it will gradually converge to
the 5% Government’s medium term objective.
1
2

Country Report No 14/120 - United Republic of Tanzania. IMF, May 2014
Ibid.
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The external current account deficit remains among the largest in the region, at 14
percent of GDP in 2013/4, brought about by fiscal revenue shortfalls and overruns in
domestically-financed spending that led the deficit to rise to 6.8 percent of GDP in
2012/13 alone. Revenue shortfalls in 2013/14 compared to the budget approved by
Parliament have prompted the authorities to undertake expenditure cuts during the
fiscal year in an effort to meet their 5 percent of GDP target.
Based on the debt sustainability analysis, Tanzania remains at low risk of debt
distress. A major upside risk for the long term, not yet incorporated in the baseline
projections, relates to sizable findings of offshore natural gas that, if confirmed as
commercially viable, could bring in large revenues during the next decade.
During the next few years, policymakers will need to manage and meet expectations
stemming from three main sources, while preserving fiscal and debt sustainability:
I.

Public investment in infrastructure is seen as key to strengthening
competitiveness and removing growth bottlenecks. The “Big Results Now”
(BRN) initiative envisages ambitious infrastructure investment that, after
further prioritization, needs to be fully integrated into the budget process, while
safeguarding critical social expenditures.

II.

Over the next decade Tanzania has good prospects of becoming a major
producer and exporter of natural gas. This is beginning to generate
expectations that greater spending is warranted by likely future revenues.
However, a final decision on whether to develop a large-scale liquefied natural
gas (LNG) project using offshore gas resources may not be made by the
natural gas companies until 2016, with production to begin no earlier than
2020. Beyond keeping expectations in check until such uncertainty is resolved,
decisions made in the next few years on the contracts and the framework for
the management of natural resources revenues will have long-term
implications for whether the ensuing benefits will accrue to all citizens.

III.

Political uncertainties may engender additional spending pressures.
Uncertainties from the ongoing review of the constitution and General
elections in October for the Fifth Phase Government may have significant
economic and fiscal implications. Undertaking reforms of any type in these
conditions will likely require even greater resolve.

However, the economy faces several risks. Possible shocks to food and fuel
prices would further weaken the current account, exert pressure on consumer prices
and may necessitate additional social outlays. A sharp slowdown in China, on the
other hand, would reduce prospective FDI and credit flows to Tanzania undermining
key infrastructure investments and thereby future growth. This said, the most
significant sources of risk relate to domestic policy implementation and include:
potential fiscal slippages because of the intensification of pre-election spending;
delays in the construction of the gas pipeline and the power plants; and the fiscal
risks described below.

Tanzania’s fiscal risks (positive and negative) stem from the following sources:
17

I.

Macroeconomic shocks. The fiscal implications of potential changes in
macroeconomic variables could be significant: in particular, a prolonged
decline in the currently high rate of economic growth would considerably
worsen debt dynamics. Nevertheless, the debt sustainability analysis
suggests that the magnitude of the impact is manageable and is not much
different from peers.

II.

Offshore natural gas. If the presence of commercial quantities of off-shore
natural gas is confirmed, large revenues could start accruing to the budget
by the end of the decade. On the other hand, the fiscal position would
deteriorate if government expenditures were to increase substantially in the
expectation of higher revenues from natural gas, and these later turn out to
be short of expectations.

III.

Subsidies to Public Enterprises (PE). Despite major privatization waves
during the past two decades, PEs still play a major role. The government has
ownership in 215 PEs (including regulatory and policy making bodies) and its
shareholdings are valued at US$8.6 billion (TZS 14 trillion). At the end of
June 2013, total outstanding government loans to PEs amounted to 1
percent of GDP and total guarantees were another 1 percent of GDP. As
natural resources gain importance, the financial situation of PEs involved in
the sector will merit even further disclosure of information.

IV.

Public Private Partnerships and Guarantees. In recent years, guarantees
issued by the central government have been relatively limited and have been
generally disclosed. Public-private partnerships have also seen little activity,
though prospectively this could be an important area as new projects
emerge. Recent government pronouncements are placing a lot of hopes on
PPP. Though Regulations have been enacted, their practical implementation
and exact configuration have not yet emerged.

V.

Government obligations that may not be captured in the fiscal accounts.
This includes, for example, off-budget spending by Ministries, Departments
and Agencies (MDAs) financed by pension funds to construct hospitals,
universities, and other projects which were not funded within the budget
framework; in several instances, the MDAs are not servicing the debt
obligations. This not only weakens transparency but the ensuing obligations
will eventually need to be recognized as central government debt

VI.

The long-term outlook will be influenced by the business climate and its
impact on investment. There is considerable room for improvement through
structural and institutional reforms. In the 2013 survey of the World Bank
Group’s ‘Doing Business’ indicators, Tanzania ranks 134 out of 185
countries (for the average across all indicators) and lags behind several of its
peers in the region (including Kenya, Rwanda, and Uganda). In particular,
speeding up resolution of commercial disputes and rendering tax policy more
predictable are seen as priorities by entrepreneurs and financial market
participants. In response, the “BRN” is now focused on improving the
business climate.
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VII.

East African Community (EAC) integration is progressing, although
significant challenges remain. On November 30, 2013, the Heads of
States of all five EAC countries signed a joint protocol outlining the process
toward EAC Monetary Union, with the introduction of the common currency
envisaged for 2024. Convergence criteria were agreed for inflation, foreign
exchange reserves, and fiscal variables. Implementation of the protocols for
customs union (signed in 2005) and the common market (2010), including
the elimination of remaining non-trade barriers, is crucial to reap the full
benefits of monetary union.

1.1 Demographics and Financial inclusion
1.1.1 Demographics
According to the latest 2012 census, the population of Tanzania grew from
34,443,603 in 2002 to 44,928,923 in 2012 (see Table 6 overleaf).This is a
compounded annual growth rate of 2.7%. At this rate, the country is expected to
grow to 58 million in 10 years and to 72 million in 2030.
These demographics indicate that another problem the authorities will have to
grapple with are the prospects for economic prosperity in the context of rapid
urbanization; in particular, how the growth of cities can be harnessed to create
productive jobs for a labor force that is expected to double in the next 15 years. By
2030, Dar es Salaam will be a mega city of over 10 million people.
A recent study by the World Bank3 cautions that - as demonstrated by many
countries in the world-cities encourage the creation and expansion of businesses by
reducing distances between suppliers and customers. Can Dar es Salaam and other
Tanzanian urban areas become thriving cities? Can they avoid becoming metropolis
slums?
Urbanization comes with significant challenges, notably in terms of increased
pressure on infrastructure, housing, and service provision. The quality of the
business climate in urban Tanzania will need to be improved, as most small and
large entrepreneurs suffer from the uncertainty, corruption, and insecurity that
characterize the business environment.

3

Who wants a job? The Magnetic power of cities, Tanzania Economic Update, World Bank
June 2014
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Table 10:

AVERAGE HOUSEHOLD SIZE BY REGION, 2002 AND 2012
CENSUSES
2002 Census

2012 Census

Region
Population
(Number)

Dodoma
Arusha
Kilimanjaro
Tanga
Morogoro
Pwani
DSM
Lindi
Mtwara
Ruvuma
Iringa
Mbeya
Singida
Tabora
Rukwa
Kigoma
Shinyanga
Kagera
Mwanza
Mara
Manyara
Njombe
Katavi
Simiyu
Geita

Households
Average
Population
(Number)
Household Size (Number)

Households
(Number)

Average
Household Size

1,692,025
1,288,088
1,376,702
1,636,280
1,753,362
885,017
2,487,288
787,624
1,124,481
1,113,715
840,404
2,063,328
1,086,748
1,710,465
729,060
1,674,047
1,249,226
1,791,451
2,058,866
1,363,397
1,037,605
648,464
408,609
1,317,879
1,337,718

376,530
286,579
297,439
356,993
385,260
200,919
596,264
190,761
293,908
232,340
195,497
491,929
217,572
291,369
142,987
242,533
198,786
348,129
348,152
246,600
199,860
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

4.5
4.5
4.6
4.6
4.6
4.4
4.2
4.1
3.8
4.8
4.3
4.2
5.0
5.9
5.1
6.9
6.3
5.1
5.9
5.5
5.2
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

2,083,588
1,694,310
1,640,087
2,045,205
2,218,492
1,098,668
4,364,541
864,652
1,270,854
1,376,891
941,238
2,707,410
1,370,637
2,291,623
1,004,539
2,127,930
1,534,808
2,458,023
2,772,509
1,743,830
1,425,131
702,097
564,604
1,584,157
1,739,530

453,844
378,825
384,867
438,277
506,289
257,511
1,095,095
225,972
344,834
303,071
223,028
635,047
258,280
383,432
199,766
374,488
261,732
524,793
486,184
312,444
273,284
170,160
101,224
229,946
286,757

4.6
4.5
4.3
4.7
4.4
4.3
4.0
3.8
3.7
4.5
4.2
4.3
5.3
6.0
5.0
5.7
5.9
4.7
5.7
5.6
5.2
4.1
5.6
6.9
6.1

33,461,849

6,811,087

4.9

43,625,354

9,109,150

4.8

Kaskazini Unguja
Kusini Unguja
Mjini Magharibi
Kaskazini Pemba
Kusini Pemba

136,639
94,244
390,074
185,326
175,471

27,854
19,937
74,363
33,019
29,776

4.9
4.7
5.3
5.6
5.9

187,455
115,,588
593,678
211,732
195,116

38,651
25,947
113,420
39,706
35,884

4.8
4.5
5.2
5.3
5.4

Total Zanzibar

981,754

184,949

5.3

1,303,569

253,608

5.1

Total Tanzania

34,443,603

6,996,036

4.9

44,928,923

9,362,758

4.8

Total Mainland
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1.1.2 Financial inclusion
One recurring feature of bank management is the question of financial inclusion, i.e.,
how much of a Nation’s population has access to the banking system. In a country of
45 million people, it is gratifying that the large population is an indicator of the
potential market. Then all you have to do is to go to the many villages and districts
that have got no banks.
Unfortunately, depending on various factors such as purchasing power, education,
political systems, infrastructure, etc. the actual market may be smaller than may
appear at first sight. The manner of approaching the situation from a marketing
viewpoint will therefore be influenced by the state of financial inclusion.
The FINSCOPE REPORT 2013 describes financial inclusion as individuals 16 years
old who have or use financial services and products to manage their financial lives.
The financially excluded are those in the same age category who use no financial
mechanisms – instead, they rely on themselves or their families and friends for
saving, borrowing and remitting and their transactions are either cash-based or inkind.
FINSCOPE goes further to describe the formally included as those individuals 16
years or older who have or use financial products or services provided by a financial
service provider that is regulated or officially supervised. Those are informally
included use financial mechanisms provided by someone who is not regulated or
supervised.
Comparison with neighbouring countries in the Region
This is how Tanzania stands compared to her neighbours in the Region:
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Table 11: COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INCLUSION
CLASS 1
%ge

CLASS 2
%ge

CLASS 3
%ge

SOUTH AFRICA
75
4
KENYA
29
38
NAMIBIA
62
3
BOTSWANA
41
18
LESOTHO
38
20
TANZANIA
14
44
SWAZILAND
44
6
NIGERIA
33
10
RWANDA
23
19
GHANA
34
7
ZIMBABWE
26
9
UGANDA
21
7
MALAWI
19
7
ZAMBIA
14
9
MOZAMBIQUE
12
1
CLASS 1 - HAVE/USE FORMAL BANK PRODUCTS
CLASS 2 - HAVE/USE FORMAL NON-BANK PRODUCTS
CLASS 3 - USE INFORMAL MECHANISMS ONLY
CLASS 4 - FINANCIALLY EXCLUDED

11
8
4
8
23
16
13
17
30
15
24
42
19
14
9

CLASS 4
%ge
10
25
31
33
19
26
37
40
28
44
41
30
55
63
78

TOTALS
%ge
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Source: Finscope 2013
Geographical comparisons within Tanzania
Within Tanzania the following table (see overleaf) shows the geographic areas that
are more and those that are less included:
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Table 12: COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INCLUSION

KILIMANJARO
DAR ES SALAAM
NJOMBE
MOROGORO
IRINGA
MANYARA
KIGOMA
MARA
RUVUMA
ZANZIBAR
SINGIDA
LINDI
MTWARA
MBEYA

CLASS 1 CLASS 2 CLASS 3 CLASS 4 TOTALS
%ge
%ge
%ge
%ge
%ge
16.8
70.1
6.9
6.2
100.0
31.6
53.8
4.8
9.8
100.0
16.3
50.3
23.1
10.3
100.0
17.4
46.5
23.7
12.4
100.0
25.9
39.5
19.0
15.6
100.0
5.4
36.1
42.4
16.1
100.0
6.3
44.6
30.5
18.6
100.0
11.1
41.3
27.1
20.5
100.0
13.2
41.7
22.0
23.1
100.0
11.5
25.5
17.1
45.9
100.0
7.0
34.9
12.3
45.8
100.0
6.2
35.0
14.6
44.2
100.0
7.4
35.4
13.4
43.8
100.0
6.6
42.0
9.4
42.0
100.0

SHINYANGA
12.0
32.0
14.5
GEITA
3.0
47.1
14.0
KAGERA
8.6
40.0
15.6
DODOMA
8.1
41.4
15.4
RUKWA
9.6
26.5
29.9
CLASS 1 - HAVE/USE FORMAL BANK PRODUCTS
CLASS 2 - HAVE/USE FORMAL NON-BANK PRODUCTS
CLASS 3 - USE INFORMAL MECHANISMS ONLY
CLASS 4 - FINANCIALLY EXCLUDED
Source: Finscope 2013
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41.5
35.9
35.8
35.1
34.0

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

SECTION B: BUSINESS OVERVIEW
2.0 Overview of the National Economy
The banking industry is the backbone of any economy and facilitates national
development by providing financial intermediation. The banking sector in Tanzania is
made up of the commercial banks, Non-Bank Financial Institutions, Community
Banks and other financial institutions which may not be directly referred to as banks.
Other financial institutions include Microfinance Companies (MFC) and Bureau De
Changes (BDCs). The Bank of Tanzania is a regulatory authority for the banking
sector.
As of December 31, 2014 the banking sector in Tanzania was comprised of 54
banks. The banks can be further categorized into 8 large banks, 20 big banks and 19
regional and small banks. The YETU Microfinance PLC is seeking to be licensed as
a microfinance services provider. The banking sector has eight large banks which
control over 70% of the market share of the banking industry. In terms of outreach,
the banking sector as per Finscope Study of 2013 serves only 13.9% of Tanzanians.
Therefore, the room for expansion is wide given the huge un-met demand for
banking services. The core market of YETU Microfinance PLC is low end market that
is grossly underserved by the banking industry.
2.1

Microfinance in Tanzania

2.1.1 History of Microfinance in Tanzania
The United Republic of Tanzania is situated in East Africa and part of the Sub
Saharan area with a total surface of 945, 087 square kilometres and a population of
44 million ( Mainland and Zanzibar). The country gained its independence in 1961. In
1990, the mainland of Tanzania initiated a political transformation process to a multiparty system. Between 1999 and 2001 the economy picked up by an average of 6%
and by 2007 the GDP growth rate (7.1%) was comparable to the early years of
independence – (URT – United Republic of Tanzania, 2008). The inflation rate has
been relatively stable during the last seven years with an average of 7% but it has
increased significantly during the last 9 months, with a growth of up to 13.5% in April
2011 (BOT, 2011). The population living below the poverty line (income is under one
US dollar a day) was 35.7 % in 2000/1. About 80% of the population in Tanzania
lives in rural areas with agriculture being their main activity (Morrissey et al, 2005).
Microfinance or financials services for the poor has emerged over the past 30 years
from a narrow notion of microcredit – well-defined methodology to extend credit to
target groups for enterprise development or some other specific purpose – to an
ambitious and daring concept of building entire financial systems that serve low
income and poor people. In Tanzania, the history of microfinance goes way back to
1985 when the Government promoted and established the Presidential Trust Fund in
mid-1990. Other MFIs emerged such as PRIDE, FINCA, and YOSEFO.
In the late 1990s the Bank of Tanzania started specialized banks which are
commonly known as community banks and cooperative banks. These include
Kilimanjaro Cooperative Bank, Mbinga Community Bank PLC, MUCOBA BANK PLC
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and Kagera Cooperative Bank. Akiba Commercial Bank became the first
Commercial Bank to venture into microfinance.
2.1.2 Typology of Microfinance Industry in Tanzania
(a) Financial Services Providers
The Microfinance industry is still at the emerging stage and constitutes a diverse
range of practitioners and practices. The pioneers of Microfinance in Tanzania are
NGOS which started to emerge in the mid-1990s. However, informal microfinance
services providers have been in Tanzania for years; these include ROSCAs, ASCAs,
Burial associations, clan savings groups, etc. Savings and Credit Societies
(SACCOS) is another type of Microfinance services providers which have been
active in both rural and urban areas. Banks have joined the Microfinance industry
during the last 10 years. Based on the background of the history of Microfinance in
Tanzania, it is generally acceptable to categorize microfinance institutions by the
group under which the provider belongs. The groups include NGOs MFIs, Banks and
Non-Bank Financial institutions, Savings and Credit Societies and informal financial
services providers and Government/donor programs.
(i) NGOs MFI
These organizations specialize in the provision of financial services to micro
entrepreneurs. The major ones include;
· PRIDE Tanzania
· Poverty Africa (T)
· FINCA Tanzania
· Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA)
· Presidential Trust Fund (PTF)
· Youth Self Employment Foundation (YOSEFO)
(ii) Limited Liability Companies
These are limited liability companies which specialize in Microfinance Services and
are new players in the Tanzanian market. These providers like NGO MFI’s Tujijenge
Tanzania Ltd and K-Finance Ltd are not regulated.
(iii) Microfinance Companies
The first Microfinance Company was licensed by the Bank of Tanzania in July 2011.
Several NGO MFIs are currently lined up for the transformation to become
Microfinance Companies
(iv) Commercial Banks and Community Banks
These institutions provide a wide range of microfinance services to their clientele.
The services include micro loans, savings products, wholesale credit funds to
SACCOS, money transfer and micro lending. With regard to loan collateral, they use
chattel mortgage and peer pressure through solidarity groups.
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The institutions include:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Akiba Commercial Bank
CRDB
MUCOBA BANK PLC
Mbinga Community Banks
Dar es Salaam Community Bank
Mwanga Community Bank
Kilimanjaro Cooperative Bank
Kagera Cooperative Bank and
Tanzania Postal Bank

(v)

Savings and Credit Societies (SACCOS)

These comprise of formal mechanism whereby financial resources are mobilized
from members, management is in the hands of members and their members
constitute the main beneficiaries. SACCOS are registered under the Cooperatives
law. SACCOS get funds for lending to members from internally mobilized savings
and loans from Commercial banks, Community Banks and Government programs
such as Small Enterprise Loan Facility (SELF).
(vi)

Informal Financial Services Providers

Informal providers are neither legally constituted nor regulated by any institution.
These providers deliver savings, credit and micro insurance services. These are
member owned and controlled by members themselves:
· Rotating Savings and Credit Associations (ROSCA’s)
· Accumulated Savings Credit Associations
· Burial Associations (micro insurance services)
· Money Lenders and Traders
· Self Help Groups (SHGs)
· Village Community Banks (VICOBA/VSLA)
(vii)

Government programs/projects

Local government i.e. District, Municipal, and City Councils have established youth
and women funds for lending. The councils are required by Law to set aside 10% of
the revenue to provide loans to women and youth who want to establish or expand
their businesses. The Central Government through SELF Project and JK Funds
charge subsidized interest. SELF Project is funded by a loan from the African
Development Bank (ADB) to the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania.
(viii)

Wholesale MFIs

Wholesale microfinance is a new phenomenon in the industry of microfinance in
Tanzania. Key players in wholesale microfinance products include Oiko Credit,
Stromme East Africa Ltd, CRDB Microfinance Company and some other Commercial
Banks.
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2.2 Regulatory Environment
Tanzania does not have a microfinance law but has a microfinance policy which was
approved by the Government in 2001 and Microfinance and Credit Activities
Regulations, 2005. Both the policy and regulations are currently being reviewed and
the Government also plans to introduce a microfinance law. The microfinance
landscape includes other players that include Savings and Credit Cooperatives
Society (SACCOS), Village Community Banks (VICOBA) and other informal
providers. SACCOS are covered under the Cooperatives Development law.
Only Credit MFIs are not covered by any law and they obtain their legal status from
various laws or forms of organizations. The majority of them are registered as NGOs
under the Societies Act or NGOs Act, 2002 and incorporated as Trusts. In recent
years, some have been incorporated under the Companies Act, 2002. These
organizations are covered by neither the Banking Act nor the Cooperative
Development Act. This is a major pitfall of the Microfinance industry, and the
decision by the Government to introduce a Microfinance law is timely.
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SECTION C: PROFILE OF YETU MICROFINANCE PLC
3.0 Company History
YETU Microfinance PLC is a Microfinance institution which started operations in
January 2014. It has taken over the entire microfinance business including staff of
Youth Self Employment Foundation (YOSEFO); the takeover includes six branches;
Mzizima and Mbagala in Dar es Salaam, Ifakara and Mngeta in Morogoro region,
Zanzibar Branch and Kilwa Branches. Also YOSEFO has handed over its satellite
branch of Amani in Muheza District.
Currently, YOSEFO is a major shareholder of YETU Microfinance and continues to
operate non-microfinance activities that include training of micro entrepreneurs,
support to schools and other development activities.
3.1 Legal Status of the Company
The company was incorporated as a private limited liability company in Tanzania
under the Companies Act, 2002. It holds certificate of Incorporation No. 104761
issued on December 23, 2013. Since it was registered as a private company, the
shares were not freely transferable, the maximum number of shareholders was
restricted to fifty (50) and any invitation to the public was prohibited.
The company was formed with the sole purpose to transform YOSEFO, which is a
microfinance institution, into licensed financial institution in accordance with the
Banking and Financial Institution Act, 2006.
On February 26, 2014 the Registered Trustees of YOSEFO passed a resolution to
transfer the entire microfinance business to the newly established company, YETU
MICROFINANCE PLC.
On October 8, 2014 a resolution was passed by the Directors of YETU Microfinance
Limited to approve amendment of the Memorandum and Articles of Associations and
conversion of the company from a private company to a public company, and a
certified copy of the new Memorandum and Articles of Association was filed to
BRELA on 2October 8, 2014
3.2 Vision and Mission
3.2.1 Vision
To become the first financial institution choice for micro and small enterprises.
This will be achieved through;·
·
·
·

Customer focus: Always delighting the customer
Team Spirit: Supporting one another to achieve shared bank’s objectives.
Professionalism: Demonstrate great skills, expertise and ability in all work
situations
Flexibility: Embrace and implement change.
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·
·
·

Initiative: Do what is right promptly in the best interest of the institution
without waiting to be told
Integrity: Our word is our bond
Passion: Inspired to serve with excellence, the youth and women
entrepreneurs and all those who value our services

3.2.2 Mission
Our Mission is focused on the following main goals:
Outreach: to reach the greatest possible number of the economically marginalized
(especially women and youth) both in urban and rural areas.
Sustainability and return to investors: to provide high-value quality financial
services to customers, thereby ensuring the overall sustainability of both the bank
and of returns to investors.
Transformation: to provide opportunities for those living in poverty to transform their
lives economically and socially.
These will be achieved through:
· Providing financial services especially savings and credit to small and microenterprises ventures, farm and non-farm.
·

Contributing positively to financial inclusion by filling vacuum created by
Commercial Banks in administering credit and financial services to small and
micro-enterprises in rural and urban areas.

·

Providing banking services to our cherished customers most of whom have
difficulty in dealing with commercial banks.

·

Providing branchless services to our cherished customers

3.3 YETU’s Corporate Structure
3.3.1 Employees
At the date of this Prospectus, YETU had 74 employees in the following categories:
Table 13: Profile of Human Resources at YETU
s/n
Particulars
1
Management Staff
2
Managers
3
Accountants
3
Branch Accountants
4
Supervisors
5
Credit Officers
6
Supporting Staff
Total

29

Total
4
3
2
3
3
39
20
74

Table 14: Distribution of Employees at YETU:
Staff Distribution

Total

Head Office staff

19

Mzizima Branch

18

Mbagala Branch

17

Zanzibar branch

3

Mngeta Branch

2

Ifakara Branch

11

Kilwa Branch

4

Total

74
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Figure 1: Organization Structure
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3.3.3 The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of YETU PLC will be comprised of six directors including the
chairperson and the Managing Director who will be the only executive director. The
number could be increased as other investors join in the ownership of YETU. The
members of the board will be individuals of high integrity; their selection will be
based on technical skills, professional background and willingness to be identified
with the mission and vision of YETU Microfinance PLC. The Board shall hold four
regular meetings in a year. The Board provides overall strategies to YETU
Microfinance PLC, sets policies and establishes directions. The Board is also
responsible for the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and exercises
supervisory control over the management of the institution through its various
committees
Board Committees
There are four committees that will provide guidance to the Board in making
informed decisions; these committees are assigned to reinforce the wholeness of the
Board’s functions without interfering with the authority delegated to the Managing
Director. Each Committee will have its chairman and not less than two other
members, who can be board members or outside the board.
The Committees will have terms of reference to ensure that they work within the
stipulated BOT guidelines and abide to international best practices.
These committees are;Audit Committee: The members of this committee have knowledge and
experience in Accounting, Banking or finance so as to provide the necessary
oversight function. The Audit Committee will be chaired by an accountant and
will be supported by a Banker and a legal practitioner. The committee will be
charged with the responsibility of ensuring that internal audit and external
issues are addressed fully by the management. The committee shall report to
the Board all issues related to audits of YETU microfinance plc.
Credit Committee: The Credit Committee will be comprised of one chairman
and two other members. It will be responsible for approving loan applications
amounting to over 10% of the core capital.
Remuneration, Appointment, Human Resources and Legal Committee:
This committee is chaired by a lawyer and assisted by two other members.
The function of the committee is to supervise all major appointments made in
the bank, advice the Board on the scale and remunerations of the various
categories of staff and be responsible for legal issues.
Risk Management Committee and Assets and Liability Committee
(ALCO): The committee will be responsible for the review of operational
procedures with the view to anticipate, detect, assess, prevent and/or manage
potential risks/problems that could result in losses to the organization. It shall
develop and recommend risk management policies and procedures to be
used.
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3.4 Operations History of the Inherited Business
Business takeover of YOSEFO, included the operations, financials, profits, assets
and liabilities. In the operations part; YOSEFO has a good track record, of which;
over sixteen years, YOSEFO has grown to become one of the key players in the
microfinance in Tanzania. YOSEFO was registered as NGO in 1996 and started
microfinance operations in 1997 at Vituka in Temeke District, Dar es Salaam Region
with a capital of TZS 30 million.
YOSEFO has been a pioneer in agricultural microfinance loans, loans for education,
group lending methodology and rural microfinance. In 2002 YOSEFO received a propoor innovative award from CGAP. The following table provides financial results of
YOSEFO for 2009- 2013
Table 15 YOSEFO – Operating Results (2009 -2013)

Number
Branches
Number of
Clients
Women Clients
Outstanding
gross loan
balance

Portfolio at
Risk > 30 days
(%)

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

4

5

5

5

6

11,912

16,308

17,664

21,841

27,012

7,586

9,884

12,815

14,437

17,920

2,183,548,963

2,986,165,706

3,971,546,678

5,082,732,664

7,002,982,587

2.2%

2.6%

3.9%

0.91%

1%

Over the years 2009-2013, YOSEFO registered a positive average yearly client
growth of approximately 26%. The increase in outstanding loan portfolio followed an
even stronger (over 55%) average annual growth rate between 2009 and 2013. This
extraordinary increase in the number of clients together with a rapid increase in
portfolio size during this period were on the one side brought by prudent financial
management, which freed funds for further disbursement and on the other side, due
to the huge untapped market of microfinance.
Despite this substantial growth, YOSEFO has managed to keep portfolio at risk
(PAR)4 low. Since 2009, PAR > 30 days has been between 1.5% and 3%. This
excellent portfolio quality has been due to management’s adoption of a culture of an
excellent credit risk management, consisting of a “zero past due” culture within the
organization.
The practice entails the weekly review of portfolio in arrears and portfolio at risk data
to immediately deal with any arrears that may arise. It is also due to well-trained
4

This is the most accepted measure of portfolio quality. Portfolio at risk is the outstanding amount of
all loans that have one or more instalments of principal past due by a certain number of days, in this
case 30 days
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Credit Officers and very good repayment morale of YOSEFO’s clientele under the
group lending and unique individual lending methodology. The clientele of individual
loans commonly known as Mavuno product are graduates from the group lending
methodology.
3.5 YETU’s Relationship with YOSEFO
Though YETU has taken over the entire microfinance business of YOSEFO, the task
of providing non-financial services to micro-entrepreneurs (especially women and
youth) is still with YOSEFO. The non-financial services include training and
development of business resource centres for clients of YETU.
In particular, YOSEFO will continue providing the following services, funding them
using its share of dividends received from YETU:
I.

Training and Technical Support to YETU Microfinance Clients

One of the challenges faced by microfinance is inability to allocate resources for
skills development for its clientele. In order for the businesses financed by YETU
Microfinance to grow, owners need to upgrade their skills on business management
and entrepreneurship. The success of YOSEFO on lending activities depended on
its ability to mobilize resources for skill development of its clientele. YOSEFO has a
moral obligation to continue with skills development for YETU staff.
The major part of dividends to be derived from its investment in YETU Microfinance
PLC will be used for capacity building of customers of YETU Microfinance through
training programs and management of business resource centres. These services
will contribute immensely to the good performance of YOSEFO’s customers.
II.

Provision of Value-Added Services to the Community

As a microfinance institution, YOSEFO worked in two key areas of community
support-education and environmental conservation into which it contributed both
financial and non-financial resources. YOSEFO was able to raise resources from
partners for construction of classrooms, and provision of electricity, water and
computers in schools. Schools which received support included five primary schools
in Ifakara and one school in Ulanga District, two primary schools in Kilwa District and
one primary school in Tumbatu, Zanzibar.
YOSEFO will now work in partnership with YETU Microfinance PLC and will continue
to support the education sector.
On environmental conservation, loan policies and business conducted by YOSEFO
promoted the conservation of nature. YOSEFO partnered with Tanzania Forest
Conservation Group (TFCG) in Amani (Usambara Mountains) through providing
training and financial products that are friendly to nature. YOSEFO has transferred
360 customers in Amani to YETU Microfinance PLC. The two organizations will
partner and continue to provide environmentally friendly financial products.
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III.

Development of Warehouse Receipt System (WRS)

YOSEFO is working on the construction of warehouses in Kilombero and Ulanga
districts with financing support from partners. The warehouses are expected to be
used by smallholder farmers of rice who are customers of YETU Microfinance PLC.
This approach will ensure that YETU Microfinance PLC participates effectively in the
warehouse receipt system and without undermining the quality of portfolio of
agricultural loans. We understand that CMSA is at an advanced stage of licensing a
commodities exchange in addition to the DSE as the securities exchange. YETU will
be an active proponent in its establishment and operationalization, and an active
participant in its services once it has been established, linking with our experience in
WRS.
Link up with Partners
YOSEFO works closely with a number of partners who for many years have provided
financial resources for on-lending and capacity building. YOSEFO’s current partners
include;
·

Wholesale MFIs: Stromme Microfinance East Africa Limited, OIKO Credit and
Small Enterprise Loan Facility

·

Banks: TIB Development Bank and YETU Microfinance PLC

·

International NGOs: Miche Association of Italy ( supports schools and product
development for smallholder farmers)

·

Funding Agencies: Financial Sector Deepening Trust (FSDT) - Provided funds
for capacity building and transformation of YOSEFO and thus the
establishment of YETU Microfinance.

YOSEFO will collaborate with YETU Microfinance PLC in ensuring continued
relationship with these partners and create new ones.
3.6 The Core business of YETU and Community Engagement
The achievements of YOSEFO have nurtured the idea of transforming into YETU
Microfinance. YETU Microfinance is a company limited by shares incorporated on
December 23, 2013 under the companies Act 2002. YETU will continue the
businesses of YOSEFO, the provision of credit.
The core target market of YETU will remain low income households and micro
entrepreneurs, especially women and youth in rural and urban areas. YETU will also
continue to use solidarity group lending methodology and individual loans in the
delivery of its services. As mentioned in previous sections, YETU has already
submitted an application for Banking License to the Bank of Tanzania.
The objective of the banking license is to widen its scope of business by introducing
savings and other banking products for its core market.
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YETU Microfinance is expected to be licensed as deposit taking Microfinance
Institutions by the Bank of Tanzania, after increasing the current capital and diluting
shares of YOSEFO in compliance with section 15(7)(a) of the Banking and Financial
Institutions Act that provide restriction of ownership to 20% stake of licensed
financial institutions .
3.7 SWOT Analysis: Overview
The SWOT analysis focuses on both internal and external factors that either facilitate
or constrain the attainment of the objectives in the company’s business Plan (2014 –
2018). The assessment of the internal environment on the one hand reveals a
number of conditions/factors that are within the control of the organization. Strength
refers to all aspects that YETU does well or all internal characteristics that will
enhance the performance of the Company, and Weakness refers to something that
lacks within an organization or things that an organization does poorly or conditions
that place an organization at a disadvantageous position.
On the other hand, the assessment of the external environment reveals conditions
which are outside the control of the organization and represent opportunities and
threats that the Company may take advantage/measures to exploit or mitigate in
order to achieve goals of the Plan. Opportunities refer to conditions or things that will
enable an organization to achieve its objectives while threats are those conditions
that place an organization at a disadvantage in achieving its objectives. The internal
environment consists of factors within the Company that facilitate (strengths) or
constrain (weaknesses) the attainment of the plan.
Strengths
The following are YETU Microfinance’s strengths:
i) It already has established branches and Agencies.
ii) Has a strong customer base of 28,000 clients who are highly satisfied with its
products and services and are willingly requesting for more services.
iii) It has skilled and experienced employees with track records in working in
financial institutions hence familiar with the market situations.
iv) Automation of business process, installed a banking technology system.
v) Inherited brand from YOSEFO’s already established business.
vi) Strong in methodologies of reaching out markets of low income and micro
entrepreneurs who are the majority in the Tanzanian market
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Weaknesses
i) Low Capital fund. As YETU is now at an expansion stage, it is expanding its
operations capabilities thereby recruiting new staff and installing a banking
technology which in one way or another is a new initiative to the company.
Hence additional costs are being incurred.
ii) Inability to capture medium enterprises. The institution currently has lower
average loan sizes than most of its major competitors, it needs to strengthen
and expand its capital base to be in a position to compete effectively.
Opportunities
i)

The demand for higher loan sizes among clients giving YETU an
opportunity or the need to expand so as to offer higher loans to SMES and
thereby bind its clients.

ii)

Existence of a National Financial Inclusion Strategy; this is a Government
policy that will support YETU’s efforts to reach SMEs in remote villages
that cannot at present access the formal banking services.

iii)

Agency banking regulations provide the opportunity for branchless
banking.(see note (ii) above)

iv)

Existence and involvement of Mobile Networks in providing platform
financial services delivery will make it possible for rural and isolated clients
to access YETU’s services

v)

Tanzania’s strong and growing economy which gives us an opportunity to
serve more customers.

Threats
i) Competitive Industry, in which the number of financial institution is highly
increasing,
ii) Commercial banks’ focus in microfinance; hence Microfinance institutions
should be more creative to survive.
iii) Restriction on unsecured lending by regulators. Restrictions limit the
functioning.
iv) Threats from communication companies. Communication companies can
now perform some functions of banks and financial institutions; hence they
are a threat to banks.
v) Changes in the Government and economic policies highly affect individual
behaviours. Uncertainty in individual’s incomes erodes their propensities to
save.
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SECTION D: BUSINESS PLAN
4.0 Introductory remarks to the YETU Business Plan
YETU has inherited the microfinance business of YOSEFO along with requisite
assets, sites and most importantly, customers and professional staff. This means
that YETU will operate largely on the same ground as YOSEFO.
In addition – and this is very important – although YOSEFO will now remain an arm’s
length shareholder with interest only in the results, most of its dividends from YETU
as a 20% shareholder will in fact be ploughed back to fund the training and public
sensitisation programs that will otherwise have to be sought from external service
providers or additional staff recruited for the purpose.
All these factors will contribute to YETU’s double bottom-line. Public sensitisation
and members’ education are key ingredients to the microfinance business model.
For these reasons, the Directors have prepared the business plan along the
trajectory that YOSEFO was following, with the same planning assumptions,
projected from the YOSEFO base of the audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2013. These were recasted slightly – and audited again – to
separate remove non-core assets from the continuing YETU operations.
For the purpose of assessing financials going forward, the Directors have retained
the services of a professional accounting firm as Independent Reporting Accountant
to review the audited financial statements of YOSEFO for the 3 years ending 31
December 2011, 2012 and 2013, and a profit forecast to December 2014.
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4.1 Management Accounts as at 31 December 2014 and Forecast for 2015
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
31.12.2014
ASSETS EMPLOYED
FIXED ASSETS
OTHER LONG RERM INVESTMENT
Investment
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Bank Balances
Treasury Bills
Active Loans Portfolio- Group Business
Active Loans Portfolio- Mavuno
Active Loans Portfolio- Agriculture

NOTE
1.0

TZS
369,316,722

TZS
1,295,959,122

2.0

13,953,799

292,671,125

3

263,449,671

2,620,921,256

4,963,583,281
376,987,532
91,862,400

3,950,000,000
9,283,623,557
906,242,406
564,235,825

982,098,195
6,058,614
42,309,046
21,370,735
6,484,269,803
493,085,943
7,240,805,417

1,523,658,423
102,563,254
98,563,241
25,642,350
12,504,529,056
367,312,568
19,735,434,005

4.1
4.2

Active Loans Portfolio- Bankijamii
Active Loan Portfolio- Education
Active Loans Portfolio- Salary
Active Loans Portfolio- SRI
Total Portfolio
Other Current asset
TOTAL CURRENT ASSET

4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
5.0

TOTAL ASSETS
FINANCED BY:
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Group guarantee Savings
Other Creditors

31.12.2015

7,624,075,938

6.0
7.0

Total Current Liabilities

0

21,031,393,127

2,757,498,565
476,303,311

2,310,534,453
648,156,966

3,233,801,876

2,958,691,419

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Stromme Loan

8.1

437,500,000

187,500,000

Self Loa

8.2

300,000,000

56,200,000

TIB Agricultural. Loan

8.3

187,500,000

45,000,000

OIKO Credit

258,300,000

Total Long Term Liabilities

925,000,000

TOTAL LIABILITIES

4,158,801,876

547,000,000
0

3,505,691,419

EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL FUND

10.0

2,888,456,146

15,485,062,646

Profit for the year

12.0

576,817,916

1,812,539,441

Grant Capital

228,099,396

Total Equity
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

3,465,274,062
7,624,075,938
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0
0

17,525,701,483
21,031,392,902

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 2014

INCOME:
Income from Operations:
Interest from Loans
Application Fees
Membership Fees
Insurance Fee
Other Income
TOTAL
OPERATING EXPENDITURE:
Personnel Costs
Administration Costs
Operating Costs
Occupancy Costs
Financial Costs
Other Operational Cost
TOTAL
Net Income from Operation
Revenue Grants:
FSDT Fund

NOTE

10.0
10.1
10.2
10.3

10.4

9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4

9.5
9.6

Total Net Income
Taxation
Net Income After Tax

31.12.2014
TZS

31.12.2015

2,555,349,077
128,358,500
26,602,631
195,843,650
22,450,748
2,928,604,606

4,537,631,254
136,500,243
59,073,458
205,642,563
229,212,008
5,168,059,526

945,816,288
652,062,971
458,034,256
119,255,657
156,946,266
242,408,704
2,574,524,142
354,080,464

1,186,969,638.00

415,010,091
415,010,091
769,090,555
192,272,639
576,817,916

70,730,174
70,730,174
1,647,628,700
411,907,175
1,235,721,525

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR TRANSFERRED TO RETAINED EARNINGS
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818,318,482
979,999,869
125,349,050
240,033,921
240,490,040
3,591,161,000
1,576,898,526

1,812,539,441

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
CASH FROM/(USED IN) 0PERATING ACTIVITIES
Surplus for the Year
Adjustment for items not Involving Movement of Cash:
Depreciation
Other adjustments
OPERATING SURPLUS BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL

31.12.2014
TZS.
576,817,916
161,278,704
-145,742,562

592,354,058

MOVEMENT IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS:
Increase in Active Loans Portfolio - Business
Increase in Active Loans Portfolio -Mavuno
Increase in Active Loans Portfolio - Agriculture
Increase Active Loan Portfolio Benkijamii

164,908,264
(358,445,945)
214,380,006

Active Loan Portfolio- Education
Active Loans Portfolio- Salary
Active Loans Portfolio- SRI

(660,227,336)
114,963,093
(42,309,046)
(21,370,735)
44,074,660
(241,453,682)
(785,480,721)

Decrease in Debtors
Group savings guarantee
Increase in Current liabilities

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
CASH FLOW FROM /(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Fixed Assets
Investment

(193,126,663)
0
-52,931,245
(52,931,245)

CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Strome Loan
Self-Loan
TIB loan

-62,500,000
300,000,000
-37,500,000

200,000,000

Cash and Cash Equivalent at Beginning of the Year
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(46,057,908)
309,507,579

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT END OF THE YEAR
MADE UP AS FOLLOWS:
Cash and Bank Balances at the end of the Year:
Petty Cash
TIB Repayment Bank A/c
Current A/c Operation
NBC Acc. No1326-Repayment Acc
NBC Acc. No1764 ADF Acc
Education Bank A/c
NMB- Kilwa project Ac
NMB Bank Acc Dar Acc
Mkombozi Bank Acc
Zanzibar Account
NMB- Ifakara Bank Ac
Short term deposit

2,405,962
(139,536,926)
637,551
746,652
4,937,688
46,395,208
9,644,110
13,062,324
(128,629,488)
88,948,880
82,821,870
282,015,841

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT END OF THE YEAR

263,449,671
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263,449,671

NOTE 1.0

FIXED ASSETS
DESCRIPTION

COST
As at 1.1.2014
Addition During the Year
Disposal
As at 31.12.2014(A)
DEPRECIATION
As at 1.1.2014
Charge for the Period
Disposal
As at 31.12.2014 - (B)
NET BOOK VALUE
As at 31.12.2014- (A-B)
As at 01.01.2014 - (B)

FURNITURE
COMPUTER
AND
&ACCESSORIES
FITTINGS
TZS
TZS

ELECTRICAL
EQUIPMENTS

TOTAL
SOFTWARE
TZS

74,272,884
6,039,052

99,775,337
8,985,735

246,525,145
33,724,104

182,930,450
0

80,311,936

108,761,072

280,249,249

182,930,450

10,167,697
10,038,992

32,393,068
35,891,154

13,715,710
92,482,252

65,380,806
22,866,306

20,206,689

68,284,222

106,197,962

88,247,112

60,105,247
64,105,187
12.50%

40,476,850
67,382,269
33%

174,051,287
232,809,435
33%

94,683,338
117,549,644
12.50%
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603,503,816
48,748,891
652,252,707
121,657,281
161,278,704
282,935,985
369,316,722
481,846,535

31.12.2014

NOTE

TZS.
2.0

INVESTMENTS
Vodacom M- Pesa

3.0

13,953,799

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Petty Cash

2,405,962

TIB Repayment Bank A/c

-139,536,926

Current A/c Operation
NBC Acc. No1326-Repayment Acc
NBC Acc. No1764 ADF Acc

4,937,688

Education Bank A/c
CRDB-Plan Project A/c
NMB- Kilwa project Ac

46,395,208
0
9,644,110

NMB Bank Acc Dar Acc

13,062,324

Mkombozi Bank Acc
Zanzibar Account

-128,629,488
88,948,880

NMB- Ifakara Bank Ac
Short term deposit
TOTAL
4.0
4.1

637,551
746,652

82,821,870
282,015,841
263,449,671

PORTFOLIO
ACTIVE LOAN PORTFOLIO - Group business
Balance as at 1.1.2014
Loans Disbursements
Less: Loans Repayments
: Recover Clients Insurance
Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

6,056,552,669
12,630,477,454
18,687,030,123
13,427,539,158
0
13,427,539,158
295,907,683.64

Bad Debts Written Off
295,907,684
4,963,583,281

Balance31.12. 2014
ACTIVE LOAN PORTFOLIO -MAVUNO
Balance as at 1.1.2014
Loans Disbursements
Less: Loans Repayments
: Recover Clients Insurance

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
Balance31.12. 2014
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390,741,922
541,855,815
932,597,737
535,193,991
0
535,193,991
397,403,746
20,416,214
376,987,532

4.2

ACTIVE LOAN PORTFOLIO –Agriculture
Balance as at 1.1.2014

100,447,932

Loans Disbursements

193,351,169
293,799,101

Less: Loans Repayments

196,491,076
97,308,025

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

91,862,400

Balance31.12. 2014
4.3

5,445,625

Loan portfolio - Benjamin
Balance as at 1.1.2014

300,455,980

Loans Disbursements

2,545,440,401
2,845,896,381

Less: Loans Repayments

1,805,604,534
1,040,291,847

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

58,193,652

Bad Debts Written Off
Balance31.12. 2014
4.4

982,098,195

Loan portfolio – Education
Balance as at 1.1.2014

15,933,193

Loans Disbursements

31,864,837
47,798,030

Less: Loans Repayments

41,739,416
6,058,614

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

2,366,020.19

Bad Debts Written Off
3,692,594

Balance31.12. 2014
4.5

Loan Portfolio – Salary
Balance as at 1.1.2014

47,076,700

Loans Disbursements

74,659,416
121,736,116

Less: Loans Repayments

79,427,071
42,309,046

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
Balance31.12. 2014
4.6

338,812
41,970,234

Loan Portfolio- SRI
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Balance as at 1.1.2014

8,417,890

Loans Disbursements

24,751,125
33,169,015

Less: Loans Repayments

10,532,388
22,636,628

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
Balance31.12. 2014
5.0

21,370,735

Other current Assets
M- Pesa Disbursement Account
Staff Debtors

51,226,013
9,410,500

Interest Receivables

426,285,430
6,164,000

Sundry debtors

493,085,943

Total
6.0

1,265,893

Current Liabilities
Client Group Guarantee Savings Mzizima

1,062,044,781

Client Group Guarantee Savings Mbagala

813,310,404

Savings guarantee Kilwa

156,386,084

Savings guarantee Tumbatu

126,111,127

Savings guarantee Amani

21,158,697

Savings guarantee Mngeta

86,920,219

Savings guarantee Ifakara

491,567,254
2,757,498,565

7.0

Other current Liabilities
Staff savings share

50,025,001

Gratuity Payable

4,769,324

Savings Payables

15,493,157

Payee Payables

12,891,690

Vijana Vijiweni

72,706,450

Unearned Interest

128,145,050

Other Accruals

192,272,639
476,303,311

TOTAL

3,233,801,876
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8.0

TERM LOANS

8.1

STROMME LOAN

8.2

8.3

2014

Balance 01.01 2014

500,000,000

Addition for year

-

Total

500,000,000

Repayment

62,500,000

Balance 31.12.2014

437,500,000

SELF LOAN
Balance 01.01 2014

187,500,000

Addition for year

375,000,000

Total

562,500,000

Repayment

262,500,000

Balance 31.12.2014

300,000,000

TIB AGRICULTURE LOAN
Balance 01.01 2014

312,500,000

Addition for year

-

Total

8.0

312,500,000

Repayment

125,000,000

Balance 31.12.2014

187,500,000

TOTAL TERM LOAN

925,000,000
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9.0

OPERATING COST

9.1

Personnel Cost
Salaries

881,146,041

Medical Expenses

9,248,205

Staff Welfare

10,928,000

Staff Gratuity

6,790,793

Pension fund

37,703,249
945,816,288

9.2 Administration Costs
Contribution & subscription

7,134,500

Staff Insurance

196,000

Public relation

31,286,550

Staff Training

63,711,883

Printing and Stationery

79,795,320

Repair and Maintenance of Office Equipments

98,636,117

Telephone and Postage

10,421,930

Fax & Internet

49,623,674

Holiday Allowance

81,908,000

News Papers

42,626,000

Legal Fee

57,168,422

Travel & safari

78,451,982

Board Meetings Exp.

9,446,000

Consumables

15,809,350

Insurance on office equipment

12,620,243

Security/cleaning

13,227,000
652,062,971

9.3

OPERATING COSTS
Repair and Maintenance of Motor Cycles

27,917,931

Fuel

24,155,065

Field Transport

161,787,400

Programme & Promotion

27,500,900

Client Training

130,360,800

Clients Insurance

14,161,170

Work shop & Seminars

21,329,209

System maintenance and Installation Exp.

50,821,780

TOTAL

458,034,256
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9.4

OCCUPANCY COSTS
Office Fields Rent

68,518,800

Electricity

50,736,857

TOTAL
9.5

119,255,657

FINANCIAL COSTS
Bank Charges

20,090,993

Interest on Loans

193,529,076

Mobile banking operational costs
Fes on borrowed fund

82,500,400
6,000,000

Loan Impairments

-145,174,203
156,946,266

9.6

OTHER OPERATIONAL COSTS
Depreciation

138,412,398

Amortization on Software

92,866,306

Provision for Audit fee

8,000,000

Accountancy & Audit Fee

3,130,000

Gain loss from Exchange rate
TOTAL

242,408,704

TOTAL OPERATING COST
10
10.0

2,574,524,142

INCOME
INTEREST INCOME
Group business Loans

2,158,815,718

Benjamin loans

228,184,965

Salary Loans

16,462,182

Agricultural Loans

21,854,885

Educational Loans

4,128,813

Mavuno

125,902,514

TOTAL

2,555,349,077
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10.1

Loan Application
Mzizima branch

32,218,500

Mbagala Branch

44,901,000

Kilwa Branch

34,247,500

Zanzibar branch

5,504,000

Tanga Branch

10.2

242,000

Mavuno

5,198,500

Ifakara

6,047,000

TOTAL

128,358,500

Entrance Fees
Mzizima branch

9,744,750

Mbagala Branch

6,910,181

Kilwa Branch

1,725,300

Zanzibar branch

1,285,100

Tanga Branch

242,000

Mngeta Branch

1,114,700

Ifakara Branch

5,580,600

TOTAL
10.3

26,602,631

Insurance Fee
Kilwa Branch

7,797,750

Zanzibar branch

8,256,000

Tanga Branch

312,000

Mzizima branch

67,296,000

Mbagala branch

55,272,650

Mngeta Branch

8,814,000

Ifakara Branch

48,095,250

TOTAL

195,843,650

Total Operation income
10.4

2,906,153,858

Other Income
Interest from Fixed Account

7,019,178

Commissions

6,100,339

Differed Income

415,010,091

Recovery on loan losses

9,331,231

Sub total

437,460,839

TOTAL INCOME

2,928,604,606

TOTAL INCOME

3,343,614,697

50

These reports are, strictly speaking, not those of the Issuer, but they are so
intertwined with it that the Nominated Advisor used them in preparing the valuation
for YETU. Not only that, but the Directors are actually making these Reports, as well
as YOSEFO’s audited financial statements for the 3 years available for inspection by
prospective investors reading this Prospectus, The NOMAD’s Valuation Report is
similarly available for inspection.
4.2 Major products and services
YETU Microfinance will continue to deliver its lending program through two main
methodologies. These include group and individual loan methodologies. Upon
successfully securing license for deposit taking YETU will provide banking services
to its clients similar to those offered by banks with the same mission focusing low
income earners. Based on the said assumptions the following products will be
offered
A. Credit products
YETU Microfinance delivers its lending program through two main methodologies:
Group methodologies and individual loan methodologies, as described below:
a) Solidarity Group Loans is a system of group lending where an organized
group of 5 enterprising youth, women and other micro entrepreneurs but
active acting under the principle of co-guarantee apply for micro loans and
repay these in installments within a given period of time. Clients are organized
into groups whose members serve as informal bank and cross guarantee
each other’s loans.
b) Mavuno Loan product the product was designed to afford members of
solidarity group loan who have reached a loan ceiling of TZS million and
would like to borrower on individual capacity. The main collateral for this loan
are chattels, business stocks and the borrower must have good track record
in solidarity group loans. Repayment is monthly with a maximum duration of
two years. Failure charges apply when defaulted. The benefit of the product is
the opportunity to access a loan individually in order to grow ones micro or
small business.
c) SME Loans the SME loan products include Export and Import Loan, Car
Loan, Business/Shop improvement, Business Capital loan, Processing &
Manufacturing Loan. The purpose is to support small and medium enterprises
to grow and develop their businesses. The main features of the products
include the following: Export and Import loan: 1-6 months repayment, bullet
payment where possible, Car loan for commercial/business use only: 3-12
months repayment. Business /shop improvement loan: 3-12 months
repayment. Processing/Manufacturing loan: 3-12 months repayment. The
benefit of the product is clients having flexible and easy access to funds to
meet a specific SME business needs.
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d) SRI Agricultural loans this loan is only issued to rice out-growers supported
by Kilombero Plantation Company. To qualify for the loan, farmers must
undergo training offered by KPL, use farm inputs supplied by KPL and
referred to by KPL for loans.
e) Mixed farming loans this loan is issued to smallholder farmers for financing a
variety of crops in Kilombero, Ulanga and Amani Muheza. This loan product
also finances horticulture, fruit farming and domestic livestock keeping. This
loan is an add-up loan for clients with good track record in business loans
issued through solidarity groups.
f) Instant loan – Kibindo. This loan accessed through mobile technology and
will only be eligible to clients rated A and B. The rating is based on loan cycle
reached by customer in solidarity group loans and loan repayment
performance in business loans.
B.

Deposit products

One of the basic reasons for YETU Microfinance is to be able to provide deposit
services to its clients. After recognizing that micro and small entrepreneurs need
savings as much as loans, it has therefore considered the mobilization of deposits as
its second key objective and an important part of its credit extension.
While it will provide deposit services at the start of its operations (except demand
deposits planned by the second year), the volume of deposits is initially projected to
be moderate and contributed mostly by existing clients. The deposit mobilization
program is anchored on the desire of micro and small have to have safe custody of
their small and on YETU Microfinance’s desire to refinance its lending operations.
The products are:
a) Compulsory (Collateral) Savings the compulsory (collateral) savings which was
being implemented by YOSEFO will essentially be followed. Applicants of group
loans are required to post a minimum deposit of 15% of the loan amount applied
for, which will constitute part of the security or collateral of the loan. Withdrawals
on this account are not allowed during the loan service period but client may
deposit money in the account during the period.
b) Voluntary Deposit These products are similar to the existing products offered by
other banks, they can be of the following types:
i) Card Savings account This is a flexible interest bearing account offering
customers multiple options to deposit funds, with regular withdrawals
available without a notice period.
ii) Demand Deposit This is a non-interest bearing account offering customers
multiple options to deposit funds, with withdrawals available without a notice
period. This product will be made available and offered to individual
borrowers and small entrepreneurs with bigger cash flow needs.
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iii)

Term Deposit This is a fixed interest bearing account for a prescribed
period, i.e. 8% or 6 months. The customer will be issued a certificate, and
on the due date can either collect the balance plus interest or roll it over for
another fixed period. This account is designed for customers who already
have accumulated some amounts they would not need immediately and
are interested in slightly higher interest rate, as well as small
entrepreneurs who are capable of planning their funding requirements
beforehand but who for various reasons are not able to maintain an
account with the commercial banks.

C. Other products
Inward Remittances provide international and domestic money transfer services.
Traders and people from rural areas who have migrated to towns will have access to
a fast, secure and affordable service to be provided by MFC through Western Union
and/or MoneyGram.
Payments and money transfer through M-Pesa will continue to be a super
aggregator for M-Pesa which allows all our FCS to be agents of M-pesa. As an
aggregator YETU Microfinance will have be able to generate income from
commission paid by Vodacom M-Pesa to aggregators and agents
Market and sales activities
The market is stiff in a way that there is Increase in the number of banks and other
financial institutions in Tanzania but all are targeting the same group hence creates
high competition. The increase has not translated into increased bargaining power
for a larger number of customers because high street banks are targeting high net
worth clients and medium scale enterprises.
Potential clients from the lower end of the market are discouraged from accessing
financial services through high initial deposits and punitive maintenance charges for
below a certain amount. At the same time, demand for financial services in the
micro/small business sector is higher than the current supply.
Since only an estimated less than 20% of Tanzanians have access to formal
financial services, YETU Microfinance hopes to concentrate its operations on this
target segment with its excellent positioning and reputation in the market and attract
more clients for growth.
But the nature of financial services products is such that they satisfy the same client
needs (e.g. to deposit or lend funds), and could easily be copied by competitors.
YETU Microfinance’s response to this competition is periodic modification of existing
products and introduction of demand-driven products such as money transfers and
insurance to meet the needs of its clients.
For survival in the market YETU Microfinance hopes to serve clients by providing
speedy client services, door-to-door service delivery and real time adequate loan
provision to make more people attracted to its unparalleled services. Additionally,
YETU Microfinance intent to use mobile bank technology to provide real time
services to its clients. The following strategies applied:53

a) Market research, Product Development and Management. Conducting market
surveys aimed at identifying clients and prospects needs, develops demand
driven products to meet and satisfy the clients and prospects needs. Also,
existing products are monitored to ensure they are valuable, in demand and are
competitive in the market.
b) Marketing Promotions. In addition, the department carries out marketing
promotions aimed at pushing and pulling YETU MICROFINANCE products to
the clients and the public. The department would deploy diverse promotional
campaign strategies to achieve different strategic marketing goals.
c) Client Service. Furthermore, the department will create a market edge with
clients. Hence it develops client service principles and ensures their compliance
across the company to ensure excellent service delivery. This aims at delivering
best services to clients/prospects, hence retaining their interest in the company.
Thus, a continuous monitoring of the various marketing channels/outlets as well
as the development of mechanisms is necessary to ensure consistency in
service delivery and client satisfaction.
d) Corporate Image and Branding. In addition, the section ensures the building
and enhancement of YETU Microfinance’s image. It develops the brand,
promotes the brand and makes it the distinctive standard in the microfinance
industry.
e) Corporate Relations and Communication. The department is responsible for
dealing with the outside world both on local and international levels in order to
strengthen and ensure cordial relations with existing/future business partners as
well as with the general public. A marketing manager who gives the marketing
drive to the company leads the marketing department.
To achieve stated goals, technological innovation will be introduced. As a result
YETU Microfinance is implementing mobile banking that will allow customers to
deposit and withdraw cash through M-Pesa.
Uptake of technology
Information Technology (IT) has become an indispensable tool for microfinance and
banking operations due to high volumes of smaller business transactions that
characterize this sector of the economy. YETU MICROFINANCE PLC Department
serves as the core support running in the background to provide efficient and
effective IT services to its clients and for the company reporting systems. The
technology used will provide management, outside stakeholders including the Bank
of Tanzania accurate, timely and comprehensive information on operations,
especially on the portfolio, deposit operations and financial and risk reporting.
YETU Microfinance has upgraded Bankers Realm, its core banking solution, to
provide a solid foundation for scalability of operations in the years ahead. The
upgrade provides Bankers Realm with a financial reporting suite that is compliant
with all prudential requirements. Furthermore, it is integrated with human resource
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personnel, payroll and asset tracking systems. With this strategic enhancement of
Bankers Realm, profit and loss statement and balance sheet are generated as and
when required. Depreciation of all fixed assets is automated and runs at the end of
every month. Personnel and Payroll systems have simplified the generation of
certain information that supports management decision-making.
Key payroll reports: such reports include: pay slips, social security contribution,
provident fund, bank advice, and tax among others. Furthermore, medical bill and
incident reports per staff and branch are now available through the personnel system
to track medical cost and incidences that may occur within the organization.
The Section will be staffed for the following functions described in the chart below:
Diagram 2:
IT/MIS Section

Central IT
Functions

Grouping of cross section
tasks/responsibilities
Core functions
· Project
management-In
house projects
· Data Security
· IT-Controlling
· Procurement
in
accordance
with
procurement policy
· Management
of

User Support

IT Operations

Interface to the internal
users
Core Functions
· User help desk
· Second
level
support/user
and application
· Internal
user
training

Interface to the
internal users
Core Functions
· User help
desk
· Second
level
support/us
er
and
application
· Internal
user

In House
development

Customization of soft
ware
Core Functions
· Internal
project work
· Data
warehouse
· Business
intelligence
and reporting
development

training

service providers

A Manager who will report to the Managing Director will initially head the IT/MIS
department. Other positions will be a Supervising Systems Administrator who will
assist the IT manager at the Head Office and Systems Administrators who will be at
the branches to supervise the local IT infrastructure.
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4.3 Locations, subsidiaries and Operating units
YETU microfinance has designed its operations in a way that will link banking and
microfinance activities functioning as a whole. Its headquarters are in Dar es Salaam
has currently six branches that include Mzizima, Mbagala Ifakara, Zanzibar, Kilwa
and Mngeta. These branches have already hooked to connect to services at head
office and currently do business online. Three branches namely Mzizima, Mbagala
and Mzizima have already been modeled for banking operations including ATMs.
Details of branches are as follows.
HEAD OFFICE
Kiungani Street, 2nd Floor Mkunazini Building
P. O. BOX 75379, DAR ES SALAAM, TANZANIA
TEL. +255 22 2180914, FAX +255 22 2180914
Email:- infor@yetumfplc.co.tz, Website: www.yetumfplc.co.tz
Mzizima Branch
Machinga Complex Building,
Ground Floor
P.O.Box 75379
Dar es Salaam
infomizizima@YETUmfplc.co.tz

MbagalaBranch
Zakhem Street
P.O.Box 75379
Dar es Salaam
Infombagala@YETUmfplc.co.zt

Ifakara Branch
Mahenge Road
P.O.Box 40
Ifakara
infoifakara@yetumfplc.co,tz

Mngeta
KPL/SRIBuilding
Mngeta Village
P.O.Box 40
Ifakara
infomngeta@yetumfplc.co,tz

Zanzibar Branch
MwanakwerekweShopping Centre
Mwanakwerekwe
P.O. box 1741
Zanzibar
infozanzibar@yetumfplc.co.tz

Kilwa Branch
Kilwa Masoko
P.O.Box 177
Kilwa
infokilwa@yetumfplc.co.tz

4.4 Financial projections
YETU will continue making profits throughout the projected periods due to the fact
that YETU has taken entire business of YOSEFO which has good remarkable profits
records and strong customers’ base.
Interest Income: Interest income expect to grow drastically to TZS 2.21billion in
2015 from TZS 1.62 billion in 2014, to TZS 3.20 billion in 2016 and TZS 3.63 billion
in 2017. This growth will be attributed by increase in loan portfolio during the
projected period which will increased due to due to low income rate charge since
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IPO money will mostly be used,.massive expansion to new areas and opening of
branches in Lindi as well as up gradation of agencies into full-fledged branches.
Other Income: Non interest income shall comprise of commission and fees on
loans, membership fees, commission on insurance, ATM fees, commission on
mobile banking and other banking fees. Other income shall keep on increasing
following the continuous introduction of other allied financial services.
Interest Expense: Interest expense will remain consistence despite of increase in
other business parameters during the referred period. This will be caused by
reduction in loan borrowing which will be substituted by increase in voluntary
deposits and other kinds of deposits.
Net profits: Profits will keep on increasing due to well managed operational cost and
increase in interest and other incomes. During the first year all profits will be
ploughed back to equity while dividend at 60% of net profits shall be paid with effect
from third year
Underlying assumptions
· Average Inflation rate not go above 12% during the projected period
·

Average interest rate on deposit is 8%

·

Average borrowing interest rate is 17%

·

Expansion of business operation to other areas e.g Lindi branch opened in
August 2014 and Mtwara branch is expected to be opened within the second
quarter of 2015

·

The size of IPO is actually 12 billion of which 30% will be raised from member
clients

·

Other income will include maintenance fee, commission on insurance,
account maintenance fee and mobile money fee etc.

·

Expansion of operational area within existing branches

·

Deposit taking license to be secured in last quarter of 2015

·

Loan tenor will be 3 months to 12 months for group loans and to 24 months
for individual loans

·
·

Positive Deposit and loans growth rate to be maintain for the period.
Deposit mobilization team will be set up for the purpose of achieving targets.

·
·

Mobile banking to commerce operation in June 2015 that will included kibindo
loan product.
Organization mission creation of self-employment, targeted customers with
low income earners

·

Group lending will be our major loans delivery method.

·

Group customers to maintain up to at least 20% of the advanced loans
( margin deposit/ Upfront saving)

·

All loans of 1.0 million and bellow to be disbursed through MPESA
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·

Existing customers to be encouraged to save at least 3,000 per week under
Akiba Yako product.

·

Banki Jamii to save through Mtaji Wako product for refinancing their
member’s projects.

·

Repayment rate not to drop below 90%
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MHASIBU CONSULTANTS
Certified Public Accountants, Auditors & Tax Consultants
P. O. Box 78047, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, Nkrumah Street, Plot No.430/158
Tel: +255-22-2120238, 0732991002, Fax: +255-22-2124782
E-mail: mhasibuconsultants@mhasibu.com: Website:www.mhasibu.com
E-mail: mhasibu_tz@hotmail.com

Our Re
11 June, 2015

Date:

The Directors
Yetu Microfinance Plc
P. O. Box 75379
Dar es Salaam
Tanzania.
Dear Sirs,
Independent Reporting Accountant’s Report on the Profit Forecast
We have examined the profit forecast of Yetu Microfinance Plc set out on pages 58
to 64 on the prospectus for four years from 31st December 2015 to 31st December
2019 in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
applicable to the examination of prospective financial information. Management is
responsible for the forecast including the assumptions on which it is based.
Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has
come to our attention, which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not
provide a reasonable basis for the forecast. Further, in our opinion the forecast is
prepared on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in accordance with the
accounting policies normally adopted by Yetu Microfinance Plc.
Actual results are likely to be different from the forecast results since anticipated
events frequently do not occur as expected and the variation may be material.
Accordingly, we express no opinion on whether or not the forecast will be achieved.
Yours faithfully,

John M. Lyanga
Mhasibu Consultants
Certified Public Accountants
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PROJECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE SUMMARISED BELOW:
YETU MICROFINANCE PLC
PROJECTED BALANCE SHEET IN Tzs '000' ( 2014 TO 2018
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Management

Projections

Projections

Projections

Projections

Projections

Current Assets
Cash On Hand
Balance With Bank Of Tanzania
Balance With Banks
Investment in T- Bills
Other Investments
Account receivables
Loans and Advances
Less Provisions
Net Loans and Advances

2,405
0
261,044
0
13,954.00
317,472
6,865,499
(383,934)
6,481,565

961,044
0
1,659,877
3,950,000
292,671
367,312
12,952,135
(447,607)
12,504,529

986,638
0
1,081,897
2,000,000
523,955
413,371
21,520,847
(506,042)
21,014,804

1,068,592
0
861,693
1,000,000
544,710
453,520
27,467,472
(463,374)
27,004,098

1,403,055
0
904,710
1,000,000
847,095
422,252
32,728,598
(571,430)
32,157,168

1,575,906
0
1,004,710
1,555,132
788,692
503,829
38,593,932
(681,446)
37,912,486

Total current assets

7,076,440

19,735,433

26,020,665

30,932,613

36,734,280

43,340,755

274,633
94,683

808,142
487,817

1,597,185
530,416

2,001,039
546,026

2,260,658
550,941

2,553,960
555,899

369,316

1,295,959

2,127,601

2,547,065

2,811,599

3,109,859

ASSETS *

Non-Current Assets
Long Term Investment
Premises, Furniture and Equipments
Intangible Assets
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TOTAL ASSETS

7,445,756

21,031,392

28,148,266

33,479,679

39,545,879

46,450,614

Current Liabilities
Deposits
Other Saving Deposits
Time Deposits
Margin Deposits ( Upfront Saving)

0
0
2,757,499

16,410
170,000
2,124,124

4,643,897
335,000
3,280,727

7,781,239
461,256
4,518,220

10,159,363
900,000
5,421,864

13,964,296
1,056,075
6,506,237

Subtotal deposits

2,757,499

2,310,534

8,259,624

12,760,716

16,481,228

21,526,608

Deffered Revenue Grant
Account Payables
Other Current Loan Maturities

0
27,686
450,000

84,417
206,795
286,829

326,912
269,863
211,703

361,296
134,947
185,663

345,761
291,049
251,494

330,893
256,547
119,730

Other Current Liabilities

270,579

70,397

76,029

98,837

106,744

115,284

subtotal non-deposits current liabilities

748,265

648,438

884,506

780,743

995,048

822,454

Total current liabilities
Long Term Debt

3,505,764
475,000

2,958,972
547,000

9,144,130
422,985

13,541,459
132,543

17,476,276
511,303

22,349,062
357,912

Total Liabilities

3,980,764

3,505,972

9,567,115

13,674,002

17,987,579

22,706,974

EQUITY
Paid Up Share Capital
Retained Earnings

2,888,456
576,536

15,485,063
1,812,258

15,485,063
2,831,337

15,485,063
4,093,452

15,485,063
5,937,712

15,485,063
8,177,723

0

228,099

264,751

227,162

135,525

80,854

LIABILITIES

Capital Grant (Donated )

0
Subtotal equity

3,464,992

17,525,420

18,581,151

19,805,677

21,558,300

23,743,641

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

7,445,756

21,031,392

28,148,266

33,479,679

39,545,879

46,450,614
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Shareholders fund to Total Assets
Nonperforming Loans to Gross Loans
Gross Loans to Total Deposits
Loans and Advance to Total Assets
Earning Assets to total Assets
Debt Equity Ratio
Debt Ratio
Deposit Growth
Assets Growth
Operating Efficiency ratio
Portfolio Yield
Capital to Total risk Weighted Assets (CAR1)
Liquid Assets to Deposit Liabilities

46.54%
6.51%
248.98%
87.05%
91.79%
114.89%
53.46%
1.62%
106.82%
121%
45%
50%
10%
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83.33%
4.45%
560.57%
59.46%
84.86%
20.01%
16.67%
-16.21%
141.56%
138%
42%
124%
297%

66.01%
4.10%
260.55%
74.66%
90.46%
51.49%
33.99%
257.48%
153.40%
20%
34%
79%
56%

59.16% 32.44%
2.75%
2.55%
215.25% 198.58%
80.66%
81.32%
92.29%
92.57%
69.04%
83.44%
40.84%
45.49%
54.50%
29.16%
154.56% 175.37%
20%
18%
32%
34%
66%
60%
27%
25%

32.44%
2.47%
179.28%
81.62%
92.88%
95.63%
48.88%
30.61%
179.17%
17%
33%
57%
23%

PROJECTED INCOME STATEMENT IN TZS '000' (2014 TO 2018)
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2,555,349
0

4,537,630
276,500
23,414

6,406,885
140,000
41,916

7,969,311
70,000
43,577

9,913,437
70,000
67,768

11,373,746
108,859
67,768

2,555,349

4,837,544

6,588,802

8,082,888

10,051,205

11,550,373

TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest - on Deposit
Interest - On Borrowing From Banks

0
163,529

22,041

272,395

444,413

615,968

838,944

87,520

67,678

23,858

92,035

64,424

Subtotal interest expense

163,529

109,561

340,073

468,271

708,003

903,368

2,391,820

4,727,983

6,248,729

TOTAL INTEREST INCOME
Interest- on Loans and Advances
Interest on Bills
Interest- On Other Investment
Subtotal interest income

NET INTEREST INCOME
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7,614,617 9,343,202.06 10,647,004.73

OTHER INCOME
Commissions and fees incl. penalties
Other Earned Income

350,804
437,460

401,216
173,262

594,077
275,543

615,803
252,196

809,433
358,393

1,063,945
509,309

788,264

574,478

869,621

867,999

1,167,825

1,573,254

3,180,084

5,302,461

7,118,350

8,482,616

10,511,027

12,220,259

895,816
89,255
161,278

1,483,223
185,367
250,718

1,881,200
258,435
320,627

2,273,296
251,334
385,071

2,499,694
377,773
399,405

2,748,638
406,993
414,273

1,410,762
2,557,111

1,671,852
3,591,160

1,882,107
4,342,369

2,249,945
5,159,646

2,208,071
5,484,943

2,566,976
6,136,880

622,973
145,742

1,711,301
(63,673)

2,775,981
(58,436)

3,322,970
42,669

5,026,085
(108,056)

6,083,379
(110,016)

768,715
(192,179)

1,647,629
(411,907)

2,717,545
(679,386)

3,365,639
(841,410)

4,918,028
(1,229,507)

5,973,362
(1,493,341)

NET INCOME/LOSS AFTER TAX
Provision for dividend

576,536
0

1,235,721
0

2,038,159
1,019,079

2,524,229
1,262,115

3,688,521
1,844,261

4,480,022
2,240,011

NET INCOME/LOSS AFTER TAX & DIVIDENTS
BALANCE B/F

576,536
0

1,235,721
576,536

1,019,079
1,812,258

1,262,115
2,831,337

1,844,261
4,093,452

2,240,011
5,937,712

RETAINED EARNINGS

576,536

1,812,258

2,831,337

4,093,452

5,937,712

8,177,723

SUBTOTAL OTHER INCOME
TOTAL INCOME
OPERATING AND ADM. EXPENSES
Employees Salary and Benefits
Rental Expenses on Premises and equipment
Depreciation
Other cash expenses
SUBTOTAL OPERATING AND ADM. EXPENSES
NET OPERATING INCOME/LOSS
Provision for loan loss and Contingencies
NET INCOME/LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Income Taxation
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Profit Before Tax
Depreciation
Other Items not involving movement
SUBTOTAL
Change In Working Capital
(Increase)/Decrease in Loans and Advance
(Increase)/Decrease in Account Receivable
Increase/(Decrease) in Account Payable
Increase/(Decrease) in Deposits
Increase/(Decrease) in short term investment
Increase/(Decrease) in other payables
Dividends paid
Tax Paid
Net working capital changes

CASHFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annex 3
2014
2015
2016
768,715
1,647,629
2,717,545
161,278
250,718
320,627
(145,742)
63,673
58,436
784,251
1,962,019
3,096,608

2017
3,365,639
385,071
(42,669)
3,708,041

2018
4,918,028
399,405
108,056
5,425,490

2019
5,973,362
414,273
110,016
6,497,651

(183,835)
(211,993)
(11,465)
44,075
(13,954)
41,973
(192,179)

(6,086,636)
(49,840)
179,109
(446,965)
(4,228,717)
(363,353)
(411,907)

(8,568,711)
(46,059)
63,068
5,949,090
1,718,716
(69,495)
(1,019,079)
(679,386)

(5,946,625)
(40,149)
(134,916)
4,501,092
979,245
(3,231)
(1,262,115)
(841,410)

(5,261,126)
31,268
156,102
3,720,512
(302,385)
73,738
(1,844,261)
(1,229,507)

(5,865,334)
(81,577)
(34,502)
5,045,380
(496,729)
(123,225)
(2,240,011)
(1,493,341)

(527,378)

(11,408,310)

(2,651,857)

(2,748,109)

(4,655,660)

(5,289,337)

Net Cash Flow from Operations
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Assets
Other Long Term Investments

256,873

(9,446,290)

444,751

959,933

769,830

1,208,314

(52,931)
-

(1,177,361)
-

(1,152,269)
-

(804,536)
-

(663,938)
-

(712,533)

Net Cash flow from Investment

(52,931)

(1,177,361)

(1,152,269)

(804,536)

(663,938)

(712,533)

CASHLOW FROM FINANCING
Issue of Shares
Capital Grants
Deferred Revenue Grant ( FSDT Fund)
Long Term Debt

(250,000)

12,596,607
312,516
72,000

(124,015)

(3,205)
(290,442)

(107,172)
378,760

(153,391)

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities
Increase/Decrease in Cash For the year
Cash and Cash Equivalent at the beginning of the year

(250,000)
(46,058)
309,508

12,981,123
2,357,472
263,449

155,132
(552,386)
2,620,921

(293,647)
(138,250)
2,068,535

271,588
377,480
1,930,285

(222,929)
272,851
2,307,765

263,449

2,620,921

2,068,535

1,930,285

2,307,765

2,580,616

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the end of the year
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279,147

(69,538)

SECTION E: ACCOUNTANTS REPORT

MHASIBU CONSULTANTS
Certified Public Accountants, Auditors & Tax Consultants
P. O. Box 78047, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, Nkrumah Street, Plot No.430/158
Tel: +255-22-2120238, 0732991002, Fax: +255-22-2124782
E-mail: mhasibuconsultants@mhasibu.com: Website:www.mhasibu.com
E-mail: mhasibu_tz@hotmail.com

Date: …………………….FEE FFEE NOTEFEENOTEFEEF
11 June, 2015
The Directors
Yetu Microfinance Plc
P. O. Box 75379
Dar es Salaam
Tanzania.
Dear Sirs,
REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON YETU MICROFINANCE PLC
We are pleased to submit our Accountant’s Report in accordance with the
requirements of the Capital Markets and Securities (Prospectus Requirements)
Regulations, (hereafter referred to as “the Regulations”).
RESPONSIBILITY
As Directors of Yetu Microfinance Plc (“Company”), you are responsible for the
Information Memorandum, and for all information contained therein, and for the
financial statements and information to which this Accountant’s Report relates and
from which it has been prepared.
It is our responsibility to issue a report on these financial statements based on our
review financial information set out on page 62 in the Information Memorandum and
to report our opinion to you.
REVIEW PROCEDURES
We have conducted a review of the audited statement of financial position of Yetu
Microfinance Plc (formerly “Yetu Microfinance Ltd”) as at January 31, 2014 which
resulted from transformation of Youth Self Employment Foundation and audited
financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2011, December 31, 2012
and 31st December 2013 of Youth Self Employment Foundation, in accordance with
the International Standard on Review Engagements 2400. This Standard requires
that we plan and perform the review to obtain moderate assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. A review is limited primarily to
inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures applied to financial data
and thus provide less assurance than an audit. We have not performed an audit and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
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A review carried out in accordance with ISRE 2400 is substantially less in scope than
an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware
of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Yetu Microfinance Plc
has no previous operations and therefor no complete set of financial statements,
Yetu Microfinance Plc (formerly “Yetu Microfinance Ltd”) inherit assets, liabilities and
business operations of the Youth Self Employment Foundation, the statement of
financial position of Yetu Microfinance Plc (formerly “Yetu Microfinance Ltd”) as at
01st January 2014 is described on pages 3 to 11.
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the audited statement of financial position of Yetu Microfinance Plc as at
January 31, 2014 and audited financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2012 and 31st December 2013 of Youth Self Employment Foundation do not give a
true and fair view in accordance with International Accounting Standards..

Yours faithfully,

John M. Lyanga
Mhasibu Consultants
Certified Public Accountants
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YETU MICROFINANCE LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 1ST JANUARY, 2014

ASSETS

NOTE

01.01.2014
TZS

3
4
5
6
7

309,507,579
6,151,987,941
105,478,839
362,532,505
115,130,180
7,044,637,044

Bank Overdraft
Compulsory Savings
Other Creditors
Current Loan Maturities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

8
9
10
11

153,605,837
2,713,423,905
39,151,156
525,000,000
3,431,180,898

LONG-TERM LOANS
TOTAL LIABILITIES

12

725,000,000
4,156,180,898

Cash and Bank Balances
Loan Portfolio
Accounts Receivable
Plant and Equipment
Intangible Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current-Liabilities

EQUITY
2,888,456,146
7,044,637,044

Share Capital
TOTAL LIABILITEIS AND EQUITY
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YETU MICROFINANCE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
NOTE: 1.0: BACKGROUND
1.1.

Establishment

Yetu Microfinance Limited was registered as a Microfinance company on
5th May 2014 with registration number 104761. The company is an
offspring and result of the transformation of Youth Self Employment
Foundation.
1.2.

Objective

The main objective of YETU Microfinance Limited is to provide
Microfinance financial services to the micro and medium sized individuals
and enterprises.
1.3.

Management

YETU Microfinance Limited is under the overall management of the Board
of Directors and the Management Team, while the day to day activities are
supervised by the Executive Director.
1.4.

Financing

The company is financed by share capital from the following subscribers:·
·
·

Youth Self Employment Foundation
Founder Directors; and
Employees.

NOTE: 2.0: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
2.1

Basis of Accounting
These financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis
under the historical cost convention.

2.2

Property, Plant and Equipment
The cost method is used for initial cost of all acquisition of assets
controlled by the Foundation. Cost is determined as the value of
asset given as consideration plus the cost incidental to the
acquisition. Assets acquired for no cost or nominal consideration
are initially recognized as assets at their fair value which is the
amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a
knowledgeable and willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at
the date of acquisition.

69

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
NOTE: 2.0: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONT’D)
Depreciation
Land was not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets (though on
class basis except for motor vehicles) was computed on straight
line basis to write-off the asset values over their estimated useful
lives at given rates per annum as shown below:Depreciation

Rate %

Computer and Accessories
Furniture and Fixture
Electrical Equipment
Software

33.0%
12.5%
12.5%
33.0%

Depreciation is charged on assets from the date when they are
made available for use and stop on the date when the asset is
derecognized or reclassified as available for sale by the company.
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment
loss whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable i.e. carrying amount being
higher that the recoverable amount.
2.3

Computer Software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalized on the basis for
the costs incurred to acquire and to bring to use of the specific
software i.e. the costs of acquiring the software that is regarded as
an integral part of some identifiable hardware. The cost of acquiring
other software are recognized as intangible assets of indefinite useful
life when the rights of acquiring the assets are conveyed to the
company for unlimited term of renewal and therefore, these assets
are not amortized. However, the useful lives of these assets are
reviewed at every end of the year under review to determine whether
events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life
assessment for the assets. If they do not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite shall be accounted for as a
change in an accounting estimate.
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NOTE: 2.0: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONT’D)
2.4

Impairment of Receivables
Receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at
value less allowance for bad and doubtful debts. Specific write-off is made in the
financial statements against receivable considered uncollectible.

2.5

Transactions in Foreign Rates Currencies
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Tanzania
shillings as the presentation currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities at the year-end
expressed in foreign currencies are translated into the Tanzania Shillings at the
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial year. The resultant
gains/losses on exchange are dealt with in the income statement.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise of cash and bank balances.

Accruals
Provisions are recognized and presented in the financial statements when the
company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligations, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
2.9

Interest on Loans
Interest on loans is recognised as income on accrual basis of accounting. The
policy is applied in order to eliminate the risk of overbooking of income for
unpaid overdue loan instalments. (Microfinance issued by CGAP) require
adjustment on interest for all unpaid instalment when accrue accounting is
applied. MIS used for 2013 accounts now upgraded) did not have the option on
accruing income

2.10

Employee Benefits

(i)

Short Term Benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits such as salaries, employees’
entitlements to leave pay, medical welfare, incentives, other contributions etc.
are recognized during the year in which the employees render the related
services.
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NOTE: 2.0: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONT’D)
(ii)

Terminal Benefits
Terminal Benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange of these benefits.
The company recognizes terminal benefits when it is constructively obliged
to either terminate the employment of the current employee according to
detailed formal plan without any possibility of withdrawal or to provide
terminal benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy.

NOTE: 4

NOTE: 5

NBC Account No.1326
NBC Account No.1764
Operation bank Account
NMB - Dar es Salaam Account
NMB - Kilwa Project Account
NMB -Zanzibar
Fixed Deposit
NMB - Ifakara
Petty Cash
TOTAL
LOAN PORTFOLIO
Business
Mavuno
Banki Jamii
Agriculture
Education
Total
Less: Provision for Bad Loans
Business
Mavuno
Benki Jamii
Agriculture
Education
Total
Net Loan Portfolio
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
M-PESA Aggregator
M-PESA Disbursement
Staff Debtors
Other Debtors
TOTAL

01.01.2014
TZS
(1,248,218)
6,834,810
20,726,124
9,644,638
8,981,074
39,707,800
170,938,379
53,490,437
432,535
309,507,579
5,810,277,377
330,074,543
366,161,068
154,609,320
20,542,125
6,681,664,433
425,965,995
23,832,137
44,290,209
33,587,613
2,000,538
529,676,492
6,151,987,941
12,753,799
39,982,040
9,055,000
43,688,000
105,478,839
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NOTE: 6

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
FURNITURE

COMPUERS

ELECTRICAL

AND

AND

EQUIPMENTS

TOTAL

FITTINGS

ACCESSORIES

TZS

TZS

TZS

TZS

74,272,884

99,775,337

246,632,095

420,680,316

10,352,545

34,016,371

13,778,895

58,147,811

63,920,339

65,758,966

232,853,200

362,532,505

PARTICULARS

COST
Balance as at 01.01.2014
DEPRECIATION
Balance as at 01.01.2014
Carrying Amount as at
01.01.2014

NOTE: 7

INTENGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE: 8

Accounting Software
BANK OVERDRAFTS

115,130,180

Tanzania Investment Bank (TIB)

55,974,597

Mkombozi Commercial (MCB)
TOTAL

97,631,240
153,605,837

The Company has inherited an overdraft facility of TZS.200,000,000/= from Mkombozi Commercial Bank
for a tenor of one year, granted for the purpose of working capital for the provision of micro loans
To micro entrepreneurs. The Bank overdraft attracts an interest of 18% per annum. Repayment of accrued
amounts of interest from the overdrawn amount will be monthly on due dates. The Bank
overdraft is guaranteed by property on plot number 89 and 90 Block A located at Yombo Vituka -Temeke
Municipality, owned by Mr. A. Millinga, the Executive Director of the Foundation.
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01.01.2014
TZS
NOTE: 9

NOTE: 10

NOTE: 11

COMPULSORY SAVINGS
Client Group Guarantee Savings
Savings Guarantee - Tumbatu
Savings Guarantee - Kilwa
Savings Guarantee - Tanga
Savings Guarantee - Ifakara
TOTAL
OTHER CREDITORS
Staff Share Savings
Audit Fees
Gratuity Payable
TOTAL

29,875,000
5,000,000
4,276,156
39,151,156

CURRENT MATURITY OF LONG TERM LOANS
250,000,000
150,000,000
125,000,000
525,000,000

Stommer East Africa Loan

SELF Loan
TIB - Agriculture Loan
TOTAL
NOTE: 12

1,792,402,042
108,536,047
131,526,949
27,335,480
653,623,387
2,713,423,905

LONG TERM LOANS

(a) STOMMER EAST AFRICA LOAN
Balance Brought Forward
Additions During the Year
Less: Loan Repayment
Less: Transferred to Current Maturity
SUB TOTAL
(b) SELF LOAN
Balance Brought Forward
Additions During the Year
Less: Loan Repayment
Less: Transferred to Current Maturity
SUB TOTAL
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500,000,000
500,000,000
1,000,000,000
250,000,000
750,000,000
250,000,000
500,000,000

300,000,000
300,000,000
112,500,000
187,500,000
150,000,000
37,500,000

(c) TIB - AGRICULTURE LOAN
Balance Brought Forward
Additions During the Year

Less: Transferred to Current Maturity
SUB TOTAL

437,500,000
437,500,000
125,000,000
312,500,000
125,000,000
187,500,000

TOTAL

725,000,000

Less: Loan Repayment
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 st DECEMBER 2013

NOTE

2013
TZS

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

ASSETS
3
4
5
6
7
8

630,033,447
6,151,987,941
105,478,839
3,000,000
873,040,576
115,130,180
7,878,670,983

661,051,723
4,753,554,139
34,115,028
3,000,000
648,130,333
175,497,229
6,275,348,452

537,703,576
3,826,555,901
14,222,526
3,000,000
217,804,978
23,278,890
4,622,565,871

Bank Overdraft
Compulsory Savings
Other Creditors
Current Portion of Long term
Loan
Deferred Revenue Grants
Total Current Liabilities

9
10
11

153,605,837
2,713,423,905
39,151,156

311,904,481
2,050,271,088
72,942,966

49,351,184
1,753,394,489
32,808,920

12

525,000,000

738,636,366

790,386,364

13

268,045,135
3,699,226,033

351,163,764
3,524,918,665

10,786,119
2,636,727,076

Deferred Capital Grants

14

534,077,072

356,442,355

8,897,463

Long-Term Loans

15

725,000,000

562,500,000

780,886,366

Capital Fund
16
Capital Grants
17
Revaluation Reserve
18
Award Capital Fund
19
Retained Earnings
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

30,821,985
353,337,014
81,436,002
26,385,494
2,428,387,383
2,920,367,878
7,878,670,983

30,821,985
301,516,808
81,436,002
26,385,494
1,391,327,143
1,831,487,432
6,275,348,452

30,821,985
276,516,808
26,385,494
862,330,679
1,196,054,966
4,622,565,871

Cash at Bank and Balances
Loan Portfolio
Accounts Receivables
Investment
Property and Equipment
Intangible asset
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

EQUITY
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST
DECEMBER 2013

INCOME

2013
TZS

NOTE

Interest Income

2,290,569,183

Interest Expense

2012
TZS
1,892,523,017

2011
TZS

1,248,866,512
192,813,884

200,426,588

215,790,824

2,090,142,595

1,676,732,193

122,369,950
22,062,850
186,026,950
26,099,769
135,379,308
491,938,827

98,600,185
24,407,700
135,495,032
24,323,451
20,371,679
303,198,047

2,582,081,422

1,979,930,240

840,807,671
427,347,369
71,483,508
23,790,131

765,931,633
580,140,095
59,617,733
19,440,957

621,720,786
252,572,512
45,730,400
5,064,180

181,592,503

25,783,258

23,005,330

1,545,021,182

1,450,913,676

948,093,208

Profit Before Taxation
Income Tax

1,037,060,240
-

529,016,564
-

246,808,084

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

1,037,060,240

529,016,564

246,808,084

Net Interest Income

1,056,052,628

Less: Loan Impairment Loss
Other Income
Application and Entrance Fees
Membership Fees
Insurance Fees
Interest on FDR
Deferred Income
Profit on Sale of Assets
Total
Total Income

35,229,850
13,731,550
80,404,960
3,888,450
890,776
4,703,078
138,848,664
1,194,901,292

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

Administration Expenditures
Operating Costs
Occupancy Costs
Financial Costs
Depreciation & Amortization
Expenses
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

20
21
22
23
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31st DECEMBER 2013

2013
TZS

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

1,037,060,240

528,996,464

246,808,084

121,225,454
60,367,049
-

18,300,037
7,483,221
-

23,005,330
(4,703,078)

1,218,652,743

554,779,722

267,532,852

Working Capital Changes
Increase in Loan
Increase in Accounts Receivable
Increase in Creditors and Other Accruals

(1,398,433,802)
(71,363,811)
332,606,012

(926,998,238)
(19,892,502)
625,638,292

(936,928,690)
16,631,474
586,474,476

Net Changes in Working Capital
Net Cash flow from Operations

(1,137,191,601)
81,461,142

(321,252,448)
233,527,274

(333,822,740)
(66,289,888)

Cash flow from(Used in) Investing Activities
Purchase of Property and Equipment
Acquisition of Software
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

(346,135,697)
-

(370,910,500)
(155,980,450)
-

(138,675,104)
7,370,000

Net Cash from Investing Activities

(346,135,697)

(526,890,950)

(131,305,104)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Grants
Capital Funds-Grants
Long term Loans
Net Cash flow from Financing Activities

177,634,717
51,820,206
162,500,000
391,954,923

347,544,892
25,000,000
(218,386,366)
154,158,526

(3,313,292)
36,387,355
409,613,636
442,687,699

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

127,280,368

(139,205,150)

245,092,707

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the Beginning
of the Year

349,147,242

488,352,392

243,259,685

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of
the year

476,427,610

349,147,242

488,352,392

Surplus for the Year
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation
Amortization
Prior year adjustment
Operating Surplus before working capital
changes
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2,422,516

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31st DECEMBER 2013

Particulars

Capital
Fund

Capital
Grant

Revaluation Award Capital
Reserve
Fund

Retained
Earnings

Total

Balance as at 01.01.2013
Additions
Balance as at 31.12.2013

30,821,985
30,821,985

301,516,808
51,820,206
353,337,014

81,436,002
81,436,002

26,385,494
26,385,494

1,391,327,143
1,037,060,240
2,428,387,383

1,831,487,432
1,088,880,446
2,920,367,878

Balance as at 01.01.2012
Additions
Balance as at 31.12.2012

30,821,985
30,821,985

276,516,808
25,000,000
301,516,808

81,436,002
81,436,002

26,385,494
26,385,494

862,330,679
528,996,464
1,391,327,143

1,196,054,966
635,432,466
1,831,487,432

Balance as at 01.01.2011
Adjustments
Additions
Balance as at 31.12.2011

30,821,985
30,821,985

240,129,453
36,387,355
276,516,808

-

26,385,494
26,385,494

613,100,079
2,422,516
246,808,084
862,330,679

910,437,011
2,422,516
283,195,439
1,196,054,966
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE: 1.0: BACKGOUND
1.1

Establishment
The Youth Self Employment Foundation (YOSEFO) is a non-profit
making NGO Registered on 20th September, 1996 under the Societies
ordinance of 1954 vide Certificate of Registration No. SO.8762. the
Foundation is an off spring of UNDP funded and ILO executed Rural
Youth Training Employment (RYTE) project, which ceased operations in
March, 1995.
On January 12, 2004 YOSEFO signed an agreement with MICHE and
UKIJA of Ifakara to monitor and supervise the former UKIJA micro credit.
The agreement made YOSEFO to open a branch in Ifakara.

1.2

Objective
The main objective of YOSEFO is to promote rural and urban
development by assisting youth including the disabled (i.e. men and
women aged 18-60) by simplifying the means of accessing financial
services in developing small and micro enterprises.
The Foundation is Microfinance Institution, which specializes in financial
services delivery to micro enterprises. The financial services delivery
methodology is based on three main groups upon which the loan
products have been classified.

(i)

Group Loan Product
This is a methodology whereby loans are guaranteed through selfformed groups within a financial service centre which constitute eight
groups of five individual each.

(ii)

Mavuno Loan Product
It is an individual loan product set mainly for clients who graduate from
the group loan product.

(iii)

Benki-Jamii
This is a rural based loan product designed specifically for rural
communities. Members reorganize and guarantee themselves in
accessing financial services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Borrowers are given loans ranging from TZS.1,000,000/= in respect of
Mavuno Loan Product as start-up loan for Group Product and BankJamii has been revised to range from TZS.50,000/= to TZS.100,000/=.
Subsequent loans are issued upon full repayment of previous loans; and
approval of the loans is done at the centre, which also guarantees the
loan.
1.3

Management
YOSEFO is under the Management of the Board of Trustees and the
Management team while the day to day activities are supervised by the
Executive Director. The Foundation had 54 employees during the year.

1.4

Outreach
The Youth Self Employment Foundation operates in five regions-two
regions in Tanzanian Mainland namely Dar es Salaam (in Temeke and
Ilala Districts); and Morogoro Region (in Ifakara); and three regions in
Zanzibar. Furthermore, in October, 2007 and January, 2008 YOSEFO
extended services to Kilwa in Lindi Region and Northern Unguja
Region. By the end of December, 2009 YOSEFO had 12,444 clients, of
whom 8,537 were women.

1.5

Financing
1.5.1 Grants Capital – TZS.353, 337,104/=
(i)

ADF Capital Fund – TZS.182,876,218/=
YOSEFO signed an agreement on 08th March, 2000 with Africa
Development Foundation (ADF), via this agreement, ADF
provided a grant to YOSEFO amounting to TZS.114,522,000/=
of which TZS.70,000,000/= was for credit lending of portfolio
loans to clients and balance of TZS.17,998,561/= was used to
purchase computers, motor cycles and furniture (Note ....)
TZS.26, 523,439/= was for operating expenses. However, the
agreement was amended on 25th September, 2002 and
changed the expiring date to September, 2005 and additional
funding
of
TZS.105,000,000/=
was
received;
and
TZS.36,387,355/= was received in 2011. Therefore, the total
money received was TZS.255, 909,355/=.
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On 31st may 2005 this agreement was re-amended and centre for Sustainable
Development Initiative (CSDI), ADF agency came in and part of this grant amounting
to TZS.28,511,137/= was converted to a loan of which the amount had been fully
repaid. Hence TZS.146, 488,873/= remained as capital funds.
Summary

Amount
TZS.

Received in 2000
Received in 2005
Received in 2001

114,522,000
105,000,000
36,387,355
255,909,355

Allocated as Under
Credited to Income in Previous Years
26,523,439
Used to Purchase Non-Current Assets
17,998,561
Converted to Loan
28,511,137
Sub-Total
73,033,137
Used for Lending to Client’s Portfolio 182,876,218
Loan
(ii)
(a)

MICHE – Capital Fund – TZS.118,640,590/=
Tumbatu – TZS.43,981,343/= for Lending
In 2005 MICHE an Institution from Italy agreed to finance YOSEFO
in implementing Microfinance service in Tumbatu – Zanzibar and
Kilwa. In June, 2006 YOSEFO received TZS.2,841,927 as start-up
cost including visibility study and initial training costs in Tumbatu
and TZS.18,139,016/= for lending activities. Furthermore, in 2008
YOSEFO received TZS.3, 000,400/= for lending activities. Also,
during the year under review, TZS.20, 000,000/= was received for
lending activities. Hence, as at 31st December, the grant amounted
to TZS.43, 981,343/=. The whole amount was used for lending to
clients.

(b) Ifakara – TZS.74,659,247/= for Lending
In 2004 MICHE an Institution from Italy also agreed to finance
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YOSEFO implementing Micro finance services in Ifakara by transforming UKIJA Micro
credit to be a YOSEFO Microfinance, with this agreement MICHE financed the
transition cost as well as support on credit fund for three years ended 2006. By the
end of 2008 TZS.49, 657,247/= had been provided by MICHE as capital fund. The
whole amount was used for lending to clients in respect of portfolio – loans. In 2012
TZS.25, 000,000/= was received and used for lending purpose.
(iii)

Plan International – Capital Grant TZS.33,715,900/= - Deferred Grant
Plan International Inc. Tanzania signed a contract with YOSEFO on 22nd
November, 2004 to run a micro finance program in Ilala, Buguruni ward
area. Plan committed a grant of TZS.164, 746,800/= to cover:

§
§
§
§
§
§

Cost of logistic support and client training;
Subsidize in renting cost and personnel costs; and
Capital including cost of loan tracking software computer and motor
vehicle. An amount of TZS.33, 715,900/= had been received to cover the
following and utilized as to date.
Loan tracking software;
Computer server; and
Motor Vehicle.
The costs for the grant are being transferred to revenue on the basis for
annual depreciation on the assets purchased (See Note 13.0).
1.5.2 CGAP – Capital Fund – TZS.26, 385,494/=
YOSEFO developed a product for paying school fee and education
support requirement for client receiving its financial services. This product
won "The Pro – Poor Innovative Challenge award" of Consultative Group
to Assist the Poorest (CGAP). In 2002 the

Foundation received TZS.26, 385,494/= (equivalent to US Dollar 35,000) as an Award
Prize. The amount was used for lending to clients in respect of portfolio-loans.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE: 2.0: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
2.1

Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis under the
historical cost convention.
2.2

Property, Plant and Equipment

The cost method is used for initial cost of all acquisition of assets controlled by the
Foundation. Cost is determined as the value of asset given as consideration plus
the cost incidental to the acquisition. Assets acquired for no cost or nominal
consideration are initially recognized as assets at their fair value which is the
amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable and
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation
Land was not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets (though on class basis
except for motor vehicles) was computed on straight line basis to write-off the
asset values over their estimated useful lives at given rates per annum as
shown below:Depreciation

Rate %

Building
Motor Vehicles and Cycles
Computer and Accessories
Furniture and Fixture
Electrical Equipment
Software

4.0%
25.0%
33.0%
12.5%
12.5%
33.0%

Depreciation is charged on assets from the date when they are made available
for use and stop on the date when the asset is derecognized or reclassified as
available for sale by the Foundation.
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Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment loss whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable i.e. carrying amount being higher that the recoverable amount. During the
year 2012, the Non-current assets of the Foundation were revalued by Valuer: M/S
Ures Association – Office of the valuer is in the NSSF Ubungo Building in Kinondoni –
Dar es Salaam 3rd Floor, NSSF Building Ubungo. However, valuation on Pot Number 2
Block "D" in Kilwa Urban Area was carried out by M/S Valuation Section – Kilwa
District Council.
2.3

Computer Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalized on the basis for the costs incurred
to acquire and to bring to use of the specific software, Where the costs of acquiring the
software that is regarded as an integral part of some identifiable hardware. The cost of
acquiring other software are recognized as intangible assets of indefinite useful life
when the rights of acquiring the assets are conveyed to the Foundation for unlimited
term of renewal and therefore, these assets are not amortized. However, the useful
lives of these assets are reviewed at every end of the year under review to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life
assessment for the assets. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite shall be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
2.4

Impairment of Receivables

Receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at value
less allowance for bad and doubtful debts. Specific write-off is made in the financial
statements against receivable considered uncollectible.
2.5

Transactions in Foreign Rates Currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Tanzania shillings as
the presentation currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities at the year-end expressed in foreign
currencies are translated into the Tanzania Shillings at the rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the financial year. The resultant gains/losses on exchange are dealt with in
the income statement.
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2.6

Computer Software
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the financial position at face value. For
the purpose of statement of changes in financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise of cash and bank balances and other near cash items.

2.7

Grants/Donations
Grants related to capital expenditure are initially credited to equity in form of
capital grants and the amount is correspondingly debited to the related noncurrent assets. Grants related to depreciable assets are usually recognized as
income over the periods and in the proportions in which depreciation on the
related assets is charged.
Grants related to revenue expenditure are credited to the income statement in
the same financial year in which the revenue expenditure to which they relate is
charged.
Revenue grants received from donors to fund general operations are recognized
in the income statement upon receipt. Funds received from donors to finance
specific expenditure are recognized initially in the Deferred Grant Account. Such
deferred grants are released to income to match the specific expenditure
incurred in accordance with the Grant Agreement during the year.

2.8

Accruals
Provisions are recognized and presented in the financial statements when the
Foundation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligations, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. When the
Foundation expects a provision to be reimbursed, e.g. Audit fees, the
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the reimbursement
is virtually certain.

2.9

Income Recognition
Income, other than grants/donations, is recognized on accrual basis of
accounting. Income is recognized only when it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transaction through "arms-length-transactions
between knowledgeable sellers and knowledgeable buyers" will flow to the
Foundation.
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2.10 Employee Benefits
(iii)

Short Term Benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits such as salaries, employees’
entitlements to leave pay, medical welfare, incentives, other contributions
etc. are recognized during the year in which the employees render the
related services.

(iv)

Terminal Benefits
Terminal Benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange of these benefits.
The Foundation recognizes terminal benefits when it is constructively
obliged to either terminate the employment of the current employee
according to detailed formal plan without any possibility of withdrawal or to
provide terminal benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy.
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2013

2012

2011

TZS

TZS

TZS

432,535
(1,248,218)
6,834,810
89,315,829
20,726,124
9,644,638
7,728,575
8,981,074
223,481,464
39,707,800
170,938,379
53,490,437

611,200
3,061,040
726,810
17,392,123
3,960,915
2,164,567
1,802,282
6,268,330
344,220,563
5,897,940
273,674,824
1,271,129

289,600
165,748,283
3,343,048
2,581,522
16,416,524
11,068,336
605,044
67,014
8,997,120
2,265,508
13,783,290
307,455,150
5,083,137

630,033,447

661,051,723

537,703,576

Business
Mavuno
Benki Jamii
Agriculture
Education

5,810,277,377
330,074,543
366,161,068
154,609,320
20,542,125

4,265,862,641
273,909,277
321,033,308
217,236,238
10,611,200

3,478,401,274
201,969,241
217,639,363
73,536,800
-

Total

6,681,664,433

5,088,652,664

3,971,546,678

425,965,995
23,832,137
44,290,209
33,587,613
2,000,538
529,676,492

221,037,093
49,420,258
49,924,027
8,140,212
6,576,935
335,098,525

118,115,442
15,970,100
8,699,131
2,206,104
144,990,777

6,151,987,941

4,753,554,139

3,826,555,901

CASH AND BANK
NOTE:3 BALANCES
Cash
TIB Payments Accounts
NBC Account No.1326
NBC Account No.1764
Education Bank Account
Operation Bank Account
CRDB Bank-Plan Account
NMB-Kilwa Project Account
KIVA Forex Account
NMB Dar es Salaam Branch
Mkombozi Bank
Zanzibar Bank
Fixed Deposit Account
NMB-Ifakara
Total
NOTE:4 LOAN PORTFOLIO

Less: Impairment Loss
Business
Mavuno
Benki Jamii
Agriculture
Education
Total
Net Loan Portfolio
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2013
TZS

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

12,753,799
39,982,040
9,055,000
43,688,000

12,753,799
9,374,229
11,145,000
842,000

5,012,926
7,809,600
1,400,000

105,478,839

34,115,028

14,222,526

3,000,000

3,000,000

3,000,000

NOTE:5 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
M-Pesa Aggregator
M-Pesa Distributor
Staff Debtors
Other Debtors
Total
NOTE:6 INVESTMENT
Equity Investment

Investment represent shares held in Mbinga Community Bank PLC. The shares
we’re not valued to reflect their fair value at the end of the reporting period as Mbinga
Community Bank PLC is not listed company.
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NOTE:7

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Computer &
Accessories
TZS

Motor
Vehicles and
Motor Cycles
TZS

Electrical
Equipment
TZS

Total
TZS

Land Lease
TZS

Buildings
TZS

Furniture &
Fittings
TZS

Cost/Valuation
As at 01.01.2013
Additions
As at 31.12.2013
As at 01.01.2012
Additions
Adjust/Rev.

87,404,000
1,800,000
89,204,000
2,000,000
15,617,840
69,786,160

167,361,704
29,169,047
196,530,751
159,268,220
30,214,859
(22,121,375)

64,812,884
9,460,000
74,272,884
9,983,000
47,695,124
7,134,760

77,002,432
22,772,905
99,775,337
54,274,145
51,445,400
(28,717,113)

241,640,000
64,511,000
306,151,000
57,847,561
207,666,121
(23,873,682)

28,209,350
218,422,745
246,632,095
4,135,000
18,271,156
5,803,194

666,430,370
346,135,697
1,012,566,067
287,507,926
370,910,500
8,011,944

As at 31.12.2012
As at 01.01.2011
Additions
Disposal

87,404,000
2,000,000
-

167,361,704
72,500,000
86,768,220
-

64,812,884
7,756,500
2,226,500
-

77,002,432
40,328,945
13,945,200
-

241,640,000
51,290,247
25,915,184
-19,357,870

28,209,350
4,135,000
-

666,430,370
176,010,692
130,855,104
(19,357,870)

As at 31.12.2011
Depreciation
As at 01.01.2013

2,000,000

159,268,220

9,983,000

54,274,145

57,847,561

4,135,000

287,507,926

-

914,312

1,659,684

4,919,102

10,301,457

505,482

18,300,037

Charge for the Year

-

7,180,619

8,692,861

29,097,269

62,981,292

13,273,413

121,225,454

As at 31.12.2013

-

8,094,931

10,352,545

34,016,371

73,282,749

13,778,895

139,525,491

As at 01.01.2012

-

6,786,728

4,395,725

36,610,954

19,200,612

2,708,929

69,702,948

Charge for the Year

-

914,312

1,659,684

4,919,102

10,301,457

505,482

18,300,037

Adjust/Rev

-

(6,786,728)

(4,395,725)

(36,610,954)

(19,200,612)

(2,708,929)

(69,702,948)

As at 31.12.2012

-

1,659,684
3,644,768

4,919,102
30,328,470

10,301,457
29,467,179

505,482
2,006,535

18,300,037

As at 01.01.2011

914,312
433,333

Charge for the Year

-

6,353,395

750,957

6,282,484

6,424,381

702,394

20,513,611

Disposal

-

-

-

-

-16,690,948

-

(16,690,948)

Particulars
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65,880,285

As at 31.12.2011
Carrying Amount as at 31.12.2013
Carrying Amount as at 31.12.2012
Carrying Amount as at 31.12.2011

89,204,000
87,404,000
2,000,000

6,786,728
188,435,820
166,447,392
152,481,492

4,395,725
63,920,339
63,153,200
5,587,275
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36,610,954
65,758,966
72,083,330
17,663,191

19,200,612
232,868,251
231,338,543
38,646,949

2,708,929
232,853,200
27,703,868
1,426,071

69,702,948
873,040,576
648,130,333
217,804,978

NOTE:8

INTENGIBLE ASSETS
Opening Balance
Additions
Adjust/Rev
As at 31.12.2013
Amortization
Opening Balance
Charge for the Year
Adjust/Rev
Carrying Amount

NOTE:9

2013
TZS
182,980,450

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

182,980,450

34,786,730
155,980,450
(7,786,730)
182,980,450

26,966,730
7,820,000
34,786,730

7,483,221
60,367,049
67,850,270
115,130,180

11,507,840
7,483,221
(11,507,840)
7,483,221
175,497,229

9,016,121
2,491,719
11,507,840
23,278,890

55,974,597
97,631,240
153,605,837

160,771,759
151,132,722
311,904,481

49,351,184
49,351,184

BANK OVERDRAFTS
Tanzania Investment Bank
Mkombozi Commercial Bank
Total

The Foundation has an overdraft facility of TZS.200,000,000 from
Mkombozi
Commercial Bank for a tenure of one year granted for the purpose of working capital
For the provision of micro loans to entrepreneurs. The Bank overdraft attracts an interest
Rate of 18% per annum. Repayment of accrued amounts of interest from the overdrawn
Amount will be monthly on due dates. The bank overdraft is guaranteed by property on
Plot No.89 and 90 Block A located at Yombo Vituka-Temeke Municipality,
owned by
Mr. A. Millinga, the Executive Director of the
Foundation

NOTE:10 COMPULSORY SAVINGS
Client Group Guarantee Savings
Savings Guarantee-Tumbatu
Savings Guarantee-Kilwa
Savings Guarantee-Tanga
Savings Guarantee Loan-Ifakara
Total

1,792,402,042
108,536,047
131,526,949
27,335,480
653,623,387
2,713,423,905
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1,201,497,845
131,859,627
115,791,512
13,306,680
587,815,424
2,050,271,088

846,985,068
147,988,637
123,477,858
28,385,290
606,557,636
1,753,394,489
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NOTE:11 OTHER CREDITORS
Staff Share Savings
Kilombero Planting Ltd
Audit Fees
Benefits Due-Deceased Employee
Gratuity Payable
Total

2013
TZS

2012
TZS

29,875,000
5,000,000
4,276,156
39,151,156

15,350,000
38,488,000
4,000,000
10,869,826
4,235,140
72,942,966

2011
TZS
17,464,000
4,000,000
11,344,920
32,808,920

In 2011 Yosefo secured a five year concessional loan of TZS 500 million
from
Tanzania Investment Bank for lending to small holders farmers in Kilombero
Valley. Kilombero Planting Ltd will train the farmers who will be registered as
Yosefo clients. Kilombero Planting Ltd is a subcontractor. Costs incurred by
Kilombero Planting Ltd such as training expenses and value of seeds and
Fertilizers supplied to farmers will be recovered from
Yosefo.
NOTE:12 CURRENT MATURITY OF LONG TERM LOANS
Plan International Loan
Stommer East Africa Loan
SELF Loan
Oiko Credit
TIB -Agriculture Loan
Total

250,000,000
150,000,000
125,000,000
525,000,000

250,000,000
363,636,366
125,000,000
738,636,366

33,000,000
300,000,000
363,636,364
93,750,000
790,386,364

25,360,311
25,360,311
22,058,000
3,302,311

6,154,835
72,297,476
78,452,311
53,092,000
25,360,311

4,162
52,921,173
52,925,335
46,770,500
6,154,835

-

2,508,200
2,508,200
2,508,200
-

3,563,200
3,563,200
1,055,000
2,508,200

NOTE:13 DEFERRED REVENUE GRANTS
(i) MICHE Education Project
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Expenditure
Sub-Total
(ii) STOMME Foundation
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Expenditure
Sub-Total

93

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2013
DEFERRED REVENUE
TZS
NOTE:13 GRANTS(CONT'D)
(iii) F.K. Programme
Opening Balance
(5,211,521)
Additions during the year
84,608,456
79,396,935
Less: Expenditure
75,390,901
Sub-Total
4,006,034

Less: Expenditure
Sub-Total
Total Deferred Revenue Grants

2011

TZS

TZS

(1,292,114)
57,285,222
55,993,108
61,204,629
(5,211,521)

17,661,385
37,003,300
54,664,685
55,956,799
(1,292,114)

-

3,415,198
3,415,198
3,415,198
-

48,084,500
48,084,500
44,669,302
3,415,198

331,014,974
590,167,029
921,182,003
660,445,213
260,736,790
268,045,135

924,213,660
924,213,660
593,198,686
331,014,974
351,163,764

10,786,119

1,574,865
315,139

4,421,466
2,846,601

4,767,153
110,860

1,259,726

1,574,865

234,827
4,421,466

2,550,722
1,477,079

4,475,997
1,925,275

7,443,602
779,916

1,073,643

2,550,722

2,187,689
4,475,997

346,071,643
313,014,025
659,085,668
131,746,012
527,339,656

360,846,571
360,846,571
14,774,928
346,071,643

(iv) NAFAKA Project
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Expenditure
Sub-Total
(v) Financial Sector Deepening
Trust
Opening Balance
Additions during the year

2012

NOTE:14 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS
(i) Grants from ADF
Less: Transferred to Income
Less: Transferred to Retained
Earnings
Sub-Total
(ii) Grants from Plan
International
Less: Transferred to Income
Less: Transferred to Retained
Earnings
Sub-Total
(iii) Financial Sector Deepening
Trust
Additions
Less: Transferred to Income
Sub-Total
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2013
DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS
TZS
NOTE:14 (CONT'D)
(iv) Stomme Capital Fund
Opening Balance
Additions
Less: Transferred to Income
Sub-Total
(v) Self Capital Fund
Opening Balance
Additions
Less: Transferred to Income
Total
Total
NOTE:15 LONG-TERM LOANS

2012

2011

TZS

TZS

2,320,625
2,320,625
290,078
2,030,547

2,370,000
2,370,000
49,375
2,320,625

-

3,924,500
1,551,000
2,373,500
534,077,072

4,700,000
775,500
3,924,500
356,442,355

8,897,463

-

-

44,000,000
44,000,000
44,000,000
-

66,000,000
66,000,000
22,000,000
44,000,000
33,000,000
11,000,000

500,000,000
500,000,000
1,000,000,000
250,000,000
750,000,000
250,000,000
500,000,000

500,000,000
500,000,000
500,000,000
250,000,000
250,000,000

150,000,000
150,000,000
150,000,000
-

(a) Plan International Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Loan Repayments
Transferred to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
(b) Stommer East Africa Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Loan Repayments
Transferred to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
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2013
TZS
NOTE:15 LONG-TERM LOANS (CONT'D)
(c) Kiva Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year

Less: Loan Repayments
Less: Transfer to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
( e ) Oiko Credit
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Loan Repayments
Less: Transfer to Current Maturity
Sub-Total

-

18,251,776
18,251,776
18,251,776
-

300,000,000
300,000,000
112,500,000
187,500,000
150,000,000
37,500,000

300,000,000
300,000,000
300,000,000
-

125,000,000
300,000,000
425,000,000
125,000,000
300,000,000
300,000,000
-

363,636,366
-

727,272,730
-

600,000,000
400,000,000

363,636,366
363,636,366
-

727,272,730
363,636,364
363,636,366
363,636,366
-

1,000,000,000
272,727,270
727,272,730
363,636,364
363,636,366

-

-

91,666,695
91,666,695
91,666,695
-

437,500,000
437,500,000
125,000,000
312,500,000
125,000,000
187,500,000
725,000,000

500,000,000
500,000,000
62,500,000
437,500,000
125,000,000
312,500,000
562,500,000

500,000,000
500,000,000
500,000,000
93,750,000
406,250,000
780,886,366

( f ) NMB Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Loan Repayments
Less: Transfer to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
( g ) TIB- Agriculture Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year
Less: Loan Repayments
Less: Transfer to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
Total

2011
TZS

-

Less: Loan Repayments
Transferred to Current Maturity
Sub-Total
(d) Self Loan
Opening Balance
Additions during the year

2012
TZS
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2013
TZS
NOTE:16 CAPITAL FUND
Funds Received from Defunct
RYTE
Prior Period Adjustment
Ifakara-from UKUJA
Total

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

23,433,401
1,249,534
24,682,935
6,139,050
30,821,985

23,433,401
1,249,534
24,682,935
6,139,050
30,821,985

23,433,401
1,249,534
24,682,935
6,139,050
30,821,985

146,488,863
157,188,904
49,659,247
353,337,014

146,488,863
105,368,698
49,659,247
301,516,808

146,488,863
80,368,698
49,659,247
276,516,808

NOTE:17 CAPITAL GRANTS
African Development Fund
(i) African Development Fund
(ii) MICHE Grant Fund
(iii) Ifakara Capital Fund
Total

NOTE:18 REVALUATION RESERVE
During the year 2012 ,the Foundation's non-current assets were revalued by
uses
and Associates Office 3rd Floor NSSF Building Ubungo in Kinondoni District
Dar es Salaam region. However , valuation on Plot No. 2 Block D in Kilwa Urban was
Carried out by valuation section Kilwa District Council of P.O. Box 160, Kilwa Masoko.
The assets revalued were as stated here below:Land
Building
Furniture and Fittings
Computers and Accessories
Electrical Equipment
Motor Vehicles and Cycles
Software
Sub-Total
Less: Net Book Value on
01.01.2012
Cost of revalued Additions during
the Year
Revaluation Reserve

87,404,000
137,146,845
26,535,100
52,195,600
17,946,850
224,850,000
26,950,000
573,028,395

87,404,000
137,146,845
26,535,100
52,195,600
17,946,850
224,850,000
26,950,000
573,028,395

-

241,083,868

241,083,868

-

250,508,525
491,592,393
81,436,002

250,508,525
491,592,393
81,436,002

-
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NOTE:19 AWARD FUND-TZS.26,385,494
The Youth Self Employment Foundation Developed a product for paying school fees
and education support requirement for clients receiving its financial services.
This
product won "the pro-poor innovative challenge "AWARD" of consultative
Group
to assist the poorest (CGAP) in 2002, the Foundation received TZS
26,385,494
(Equivalent to USD 35,000) as an award prize. The amounts of cash received were
Used to lend portfolio loans to
clients.
NOTE:20 ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
LAPF Contributions
Salaries and Wages
Medical Expenses
Staff Welfare
Bonus(Staff)
Accounting Fees
Audit Fees
NSSF Contribution
Contribution and Subscription
Staff Allowance
Staff Training
Printing and Stationery
Repairs and MaintenanceFurniture and Equip
Telephone and Postage
Fax and Internet
Holiday Allowance
Newspapers
Legal Fees
Board Meeting Expenses
Security
Office Equipment Insurance
Travel and Safari Expenses
Public Relation
Office Consumables
Staff insurance
Loss on Exchange Rate
Total

16,832,025
554,463,587
11,729,843
7,434,000

497,357,794
11,144,162
23,649,875

1,310,000
5,000,000
32,488,205
2,846,000
40,857,900

4,000,000
54,839,361
600,000
7,078,028
4,006,000
35,795,160

395,550,186
4,699,396
9,945,178
10,472,000
6,220,000
27,562,866
2,419,189
8,682,159
8,329,500
31,997,660

10,547,500
7,729,465
3,632,000
45,984,179
1,824,500
15,486,700
7,650,000
13,949,700
2,539,257
34,287,500
6,701,200
12,877,540
4,636,570
840,807,671

4,742,100
3,526,930
4,901,200
27,510,781
2,302,200
4,125,000
7,180,000
7,527,400
2,973,264
46,210,153
7,210,275
9,251,950
765,931,633

5,489,798
3,764,200
1,752,000
25,984,000
1,221,500
1,412,400
9,535,000
7,496,000
1,851,724
42,420,892
5,185,000
6,679,075
3,051,063
621,720,786
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NOTE:21 OPERATING COSTS
Repair and Maintenance-Motor
Vehicles
Motor Vehicles and Cycles
Running Expenses
Motor vehicles and Cycles
Insurance
Field Transport
Promotion and Advertisement
Clients Training
Clients Insurance
Workshop and Seminars
Computerization
Provision -Bad and Doubtful debt
Loss at Kilwa
Loss at Dar es Salaam
Loss at Ifakara
Total

2013
TZS

2012
TZS

2011
TZS

25,018,718

14,638,619

9,887,600

10,824,500

22,703,100

15,306,000

2,720,000
129,526,970
2,871,104
11,419,750
20,377,960
1,368,000
28,642,400
194,577,967
427,347,369

2,349,145
107,137,620
5,791,400
15,695,600
23,443,162
4,171,420
6,091,848
190,107,747
59,325,860
105,684,574
23,000,000
580,140,095

2,338,197
92,757,400
23,547,000
7,471,500
28,687,065
10,129,650
13,993,518
48,454,582
252,572,512

57,936,200
13,547,308
71,483,508

48,312,500
11,305,233
59,617,733

33,914,504
11,815,896
45,730,400

7,851,113
1,051,918
14,887,100
23,790,131

7,872,971
3,172,186
8,395,800
19,440,957

5,064,180
5,064,180

NOTE:22 OCCUPANCY COSTS
Office Field Rent
Electricity
Total

NOTE:23 FINANCIAL COSTS
Bank Charges
Withholding Tax
M-Pesa Charges
Total

NOTE:24 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Previous year's figures have been reclassified whenever necessary in order to make
them comparable with current
year's figures.
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SECTION F: BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
4.0 Board of Directors
Ernest Kanisius Ndimbo (62), Tanzanian - Chairman
M. Sc. Economics (Specialization Labour Economics) from Donetsk State
University in former Soviet Union
Mr. Ernest has got experience in different sectors and industry in government offices before
his retirement. He saved in position of Director of Employment, Ministry of Labour and
Employment, An Economist with the Labour Department Headquarters dealing with
Employment Policies and Legislations Programmes, acting Assistant Labour Commissioner
Employment.
He also has attend various course on Labour laws, Industrial relations, African population,
Human Resources and Development planning in Africa, Managing rural community
development projects, Second Ordinary Session of the Labour and Social Affairs Commission
of the African Union and The Sessions of the International Labour Conference (ILC).
He did different assignments on the following Coordinating the Labour Force Survey,
Preparation of the 1997 National Employment Policy and the 2008 Revised Policy, Served as
a member in the Financial Sector Assessment Programme – Employment and Social Security
Committee and Preparation of background information and proposed functions,
responsibilities that led to the formation of the Employment Department.

Dr, Esther Rossiner Mbise (58) Tanzanian – Board Member
Doctorate in Philosophy, Maastricht, the Netherlands 2013, Master of Philosophy,
Maastricht School of Management, the Netherlands 2010, Master of Business
Administration, University of Dar es Salaam 1991-1993, Bachelor of Science with
Education, University of Dar es Salaam 1978-1981.
Dr. Mbise is currently Lecturer College of Business Education, Department of Marketing; she
is Co-Supervisor PhD students in IMPDET Project under the University of Eastern Finland
and Research Supervisor Post graduate students.
She has considerable experience in board management and governance having served and
continues serving on a number of public, private and international boards. These include the
CBE Executive Committee; and the CBE-Training Committee.
She is currently Chairperson CBE Convocation and Graduation Committee. Dr Mbise is
responsible for many of CBE’s portfolio of consultancy assignments, possessing respected
Clients like the PPF Pensions Fund, the Public Sector Pension’s Fund (PSPF); Bahi District
Council the National Housing Corporation; and the Shinyanga Municipal Council, She is a
Member of the CBE Master Worker’s Council and participated in preparation of the College’s
Five Year CBE Corporate Strategic Plan (2010/11-2014/15).
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Danford Nelson Mbilinyi (43), Tanzanian- Member
MBA University of DSM, Postgraduate Diploma in Scientific Computing, and B.Sc.
Education (Mathematics & Chemistry) - University of Dar es Salaam.
Mr. Danford Mbilinyi is currently Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Umoja Switch Company
Limited; before that he worked with Access Bank Tanzania Limited and with Twiga Bancorp
Limited Tanzania as Senior Systems Analyst/programmer and Technical Staff respectively.
Mr. Mbilinyi also has experience in ICT institution from University Computing Center, Twiga
Bancorp Limited and Access Bank Tanzania Limited with Umoja Switch Company Limited as
Project manager and Chief Executive Officer.
He also has experience of managerial duties in the capacity of Head of Department, Special
Projects Manager and as Chief Executive Officer (CEO). He has attended several courses on
effective oversight of companies and directorship such as Programming, Networking,
Database and E-commerce integration, Course in Internet Database Programming in Delft
University of Technology (TU Delft), Netherlands, Studying the Electronic Fund Transfer
(EFT) services Kenswitch, PesaPoint, Nairobi, Kenya, BANKORM, Kampala Uganda and
Johannesburg South Africa.
Happy Sambega (50), Tanzanian - Member
National Diploma in Accountancy (NAD, by NBAA, Dar es Salaam School of
Accountancy (DSA, 1990)
Ms. Happy Sambenga has wide ranging professional experience in accounting, planning,
finance and management. She Joined YOSEFO in 2002 as a Finance Officer and is currently
YOSEFO’s Head of Finance and Administration. Prior to that, she worked with the Dar es
Salaam School of Accountancy as an Instructor and at the Dar es Salaam Regional Trading
Company as an Accountant, being Head of the Credit Control section responsible for all
creditors and debtors.
She has attended various courses such as Monitoring Performance in Microfinance
organized by the Stromme Foundation; Planning and Forecasting; Product Development:
Financial Ratios & Liquidity Management in Microfinance, conducted by Micro save Africa:
Risk Management and Product Innovation, organized by the Center for Microfinance;
Strategy in Institutional Development, conducted by UNITUS; Credit Risk Management; and
Assets and Liability Management. Having worked closely with donor agencies and
development partners, Happy has considerable rapport and contacts with that Sector and
knows their financial reporting arrangements.
Happy is in her final modules studying for NBAA’s CPA professional degree, where she is
currently registered as an Approved Accountant.
Mr. Cornelius Kasiya Kariwa (54), Tanzanian-Member
LLB. (Hons) University of Dar es Salaam; Masters of Laws LLM (IT&T), Open University
of Tanzania.
Advocate Kariwa is an experienced practicing attorney, having started out on professional
legal practice in 1994. He is Founder Partner and Managing Counsel of Kariwa & Co.
Advocates that specializes in corporate law and labor Relations).
Mr. Kariwa has ever held various positions in legal arena; he is the immediate Past
Chairperson of the Association of Tanzania Employers (ATE) (Aug. 2008 - Nov. 2012) and
also a former Executive Officer for the Association of Tanzania Employers Management
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consulting on Labour Laws and Industrial Relations for 6 years (1992 – 1998).He was also a
member to various bodies such as NSSF Board Vice Chairman (November 2008-March
2010) and Member NSSF Board of Trustees 2008-2012. Current he is a member to Board of
Directors- Tanga Cement Ltd. (from 2007).
Mr. Kariwa has attended various courses including First African Courses for Owners Senior
Managers of Enterprise – WISE, Nairobi 28th September – 9th October, 1992 ILO sponsored
program. Seminar on National and International Labour Standards Dar es Salaam, 9th – 13th
May, 1994.-Workshop on Management of Employers Organizations in Africa Harare16th- 20th
September, 1996
He is a ranking member of the legal profession in Tanzania, an Advocate of the High Court of
Tanzania; the Tanzania Court of Appeal; and the East Africa Court of Appeal.
Altemius Millinga (54) Tanzanian – Board Member
Bachelor of Arts in Economics, University Of Dar es Salaam; Master of Science in
Policy Economics, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, USA;
Mr. Millinga is an acknowledged microfinance consultant and practitioner who began his
career as a credit officer before he co-founded Youth Self Employment Foundation which is
has now given birth to YETU Microfinance PLC and has been in-charge since 1998.
He has attended several capacity enhancing courses in local and international institutions
including Grameen Bank (Bangladesh), Cranfield School of Management (UK),Georgetown
University (USA) PMI Global Leadership Training and OTS Japan. His employment records
include principal project officer-Presidential Trust Fund, Assistant Project Coordinator (ILO),
Programme Advisor, UNDP and Executive Director, Opportunities Industrialization Centres of
Tanzania (OICT - an affiliate of Opportunity Industrialization centres International of USA).
Mr. Millinga plays a major role in the development of microfinance and the banking sector in
Tanzania and consults for a number of local and international microfinance institutions,
governments and regional bodies. He has facilitated the establishment of number of banks
that include the Mbinga Community Bank, Tanzania Women’s Bank, Mkombozi Commercial
Bank and Maendeleo Bank. He owns the Microfinance and Enterprise Centre that runs short
courses on Microfinance for MFIs and Banks.
He is currently chairperson of Mbinga Community Bank, member of the Board of Directors of
Tanzania Microfinance Association and a local board member of SWISSAID Tanzania.
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4.1 Details of Senior Management
Altemius Millinga (54) Tanzanian – Managing Director
Mr. Millinga is the Managing Director of YETU Microfinance PLC as detailed in the
Directors’ profiles
Mr. Fares Kapinga (33) Tanzanian– Finance Manager
Advanced Diploma in Accountancy (IFM, Tanzania); CPA (T), Tanzania; M. Sc.
In Economics and Development, University of Bradford UK.
Mr. Kapinga is a Certified Public Accountant, CPA (T). He brings to the company his
considerable development banking experience that he obtained while working with
Tandahimba Community Bank, NBC and the Bank of India. He was Head of
YOSEFO’s finance department before joining YETU in January 2014 as its founding
CFO.
Mr. Kapinga has attended numerous seminars, symposia and short courses in-house
and outside the country.
Mr. Simpert Ndunguru (34) Tanzanian: Operations Manager
(CPA) (NBAA); Advanced Diploma in Accountancy (ADA), Institute of Finance
Management (IFM).
Mr. Simpert Ndunguru was first employed by Youth Self Employment Foundation
from 2008 to date and has worked in all its operational sections holding increasingly
senior positions. He began as an Accountant at head office, in which position he was
supervising transactions in the MIS (YOSEFO’s integrated Management Information
System). Later, he worked in other duties related to accounting and also as Internal
Auditor. He has also worked as an Operations Officer in the field.
Mr. Ndunguru attended numerous courses conducted by different professional
associations such as Financial Analysis for Microfinance Practitioners Training (At
Accra Ghana, conducted by the Microfinance Association UK): Clients Protection
Principles (by Oiko Credit TAMFI); Tanzania Employment Law and Industrial
Relations (conducted by Sparrow Training Solution); IFRS, Auditing and Assets
Management Seminars conducted by NBAA; Assets and Liabilities Management
Training, conducted by Mfx Microfinance Currency Risk Solutions, USA: Risk
Management Workshop (Self Risk Assessment (SRA) facilitated by a Risk
management Consultant from Netherland Organized by Oiko Credit; and Advanced
Bankers Realm and Database Administration conducted by Spasys ICT Consultants
of Nairobi.
Gikaro Samwel Wambura (32) Tanzanian - Chief Internal Auditor (CIA),
CPA (T); Bachelor in Accountancy and Finance, Mzumbe University
Mr. Gikaro Wambura joined YOSEFO in 2012 and promoted to the post of Chief
Internal Auditor in 2014.
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During his career he has attended various seminars and workshops such as IFRS,
Auditing and Assets Management Seminar NBAA, Public integrity and ethical, Public
Lecture on the change of roles of internal Auditors issues Mzumbe University, Report
preparation and representation PWC, Social Performance Management TMFI and
Advanced Bankers Realm and Database Administration facilitated by YOSEFO Head
Office.
Joyceline Kobero (33), Tanzanian – Company Secretary
LL.B, University of Dar es Salaam; Postgraduate Diploma in Human Resources
Management, Institute of Finance Management
Ms. Joyceline Kobero YOSEFO’s Company Secretary cum Head of HR working
under MD’s office. She is a registered Advocate of the High Court of Tanzania; a
member of Tanganyika Law Society; and the East African Law Society.
Prior to joining YETU; Joyceline worked with the Lawyers Environmental Action Team
(LEAT) as legal officer for three years’ having come from an NGO that gives legal aid
to people living with HIV/AIDS in the position of Legal Officer for one year. She began
her legal practice working for the law firm of Ngudungi & Company Advocates for 3
years.
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SECTION G: RISK FACTORS
Yetu’s business investment (just like any other business) is affected by risks that are
inherent in all businesses. Other risks are inherent in the type of business that Yetu
shall operate in. Although Yetu is inheriting an established business operation with a
trackrecord in its filed, scaling up to a licensed microfinance institution poses
additional regulatory concerns that will affect the manner it does its businesses and in
managing the expectations of its stakeholders under the new conditions. For these
reasons, prospective investors are cautioned to be aware of these risks, some of
which are discussed below.
1.0 Principal Risks and Uncertainties
YETU faces a variety of risks, the occurrence of which could adversely affect its
performance, earnings, financial position and prospects. Throughout 2013, the
company made material developments in the identification and management of its
risk profile in order to focus on the most significant risks and events that could affect
its operations, financials and performance.
The following are the principal risks affecting the company YETU has taken a number
of steps to mitigate some of these risks and will continue to evaluate ways in which it
can manage and mitigate risks accordingly. Notwithstanding this, due to the very
nature of risks no assurance can be given that mitigating actions taken or planned will
be wholly effective. In addition, there may be additional risks unknown to YETU and
other risks, which are currently believed to be immaterial, could turn out to be
material.
These risks, whether they materialize individually or simultaneously, could
significantly affect the company’s business and financial results. In addition, YETU
could also be affected by risks relating to the banking industry generally and the risks
and hazards involved in the business of bank, which are largely outside its control.
1.1 Risk Factors – general mitigation
YETU has a number of positive factors in mitigating the expected risks. First, it has a
unique advantage in the industry; it has inherited the business of YOSEFO which has
been in operation for over ten (10) year. YETU is inheriting experience, ready
established offices, staff, etc.
YETU is therefore not completely a start-up company since it is taking off from the
point where YOSEFO ended. Being that, and looking at its history, YOSEFO has had
a good track record in its general performance, customer base without forgetting its
financial performance. In other words the likelihood of occurrence of certain risks has
been reduced.
Prospective investors should know that we will work on managing and preventing the
financial distresses to avoid destructions in operation and weakening the relationship
with investors whom we don’t want to lose.
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1.2 Risk Management
YETU Microfinance has set a Risk Management Committee in its board committees
and a risk management department under the Operations manager. The role of the
department includes the review of operational procedures with the view to anticipate,
detect, assess, prevent and/or manage potential problems that could result in losses
to the organization.
Furthermore, the department will cover the following tasks and responsibilities:
·

Develop and implement the organization’s risk management program in a manner
that fulfills the mission and strategic goal of the organization while complying with
generally accepted standards of risk management;

·

Taking into account the general ethics of our people with regards to the business
and professionals.

·

Identify those areas within the organization where the risk of loss resulting from
financial, operational or administrative weakness is greater, and develop and
implement systems, policies and procedures for the identification, collection and
analysis of the identified risk factors;

·

Design and recommend appropriate procedures to migrate the probability or future
or recurring risk;

·

Coordinate efforts to control or mitigate loss-producing conditions and activities;

·

Analyze and report on issues and trends in overall risk management to the core
and general management teams and Risk Management Committee;

·

Monitor the effectiveness or risk management practices;

·

Suggest to the Risk Management Committee (for approval) the risk limits that are
considered acceptable;
· Prepare the Business Continuity Plan (BCP) for the branches and the organization
as a whole;
· Ensure that all necessary activities are done in order to revise and supervise risk at
branches.
· Updating customers on the happenings and the things sought to happen.
· The Compliance area will be introduced. A compliance officer avails for the
accomplishment of all AML procedures and reporting, including the establishment
of KYC procedures within the S&L. The section will include in its duties supervision
in the banking operations to ensure that all statutory regulations are not violated.
.Risk management process will entail of the following four key processes:
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a) Risk Identification:
In order to manage risks, you will need to identify the existing risks or risks that
may arise from both existing and new business initiatives. Identification will be
continuous, and will occur at both the transaction and portfolio level.
The common risks that are likely to be faced by banks or financial institutions are:Market risk, presence of many banks in the economy creates a competitive
environment for YETU; hence the demand for our services or product and rates
(prices) will highly be affected. The competitive cost of operation will also be high,
hence YETU needs good strategies to penetrate into the market, and has set
different products offer.
Operational risk is the risk in property and/or personnel of the business. An
internal risk caused by failure of the employees to observe and follow rules and
set procedures. It is mainly due to poor internal control system that may lead to
inadequate training of staffs, system failure or power breakdown, theft and fraud,
insufficient staffs and communication error.
Credit risk, refers to the risk of non-repayment. It’s the risk that money owing
won’t be paid back by the lender. A good KYC analysis will be used to evaluate
our customers and ensure repayment, a reasonable interest rate on the loans we
will set
Liquidity risk, a situation where there is no cash or cash equivalent to meet
short-term financial demands, this can be a result of over lending where all the
deposits are used-up. There will be a minimum set capital amount to be
maintained as reserve.
Taxation risk, this is basically an economic risk which stresses out the
uncertainties in taxation policy where future taxes cannot be stated at present
since will change depending on the changes in the economy.
Interest rate risk, is the risk associated in currency exchange. Where the
currency with a low value will experience a high rate of this risk
Speculative risk is a risk of uncertainty. With this, there is a possibility of a gain
or loss therefore Investors should take appropriate advice before investing. Your
attention is also drawn to the cautionary statement on page VI
b) Risk Measurement
Once risks have been identified, they will be measured in order to determine their
impact on the institution’s profitability and capital. Accurate and timely
measurement of risk is essential to effective risk management systems. YETU
MICROFINANCE PLC will periodically test to make sure that the risk
measurement tools it uses are accurate.
c) Risk Control: After measuring risk, YETU MICROFINANCE PLC will establish
and communicate risk limits through policies, standards, and procedures that
define responsibility and authority. The Institutions will apply various mitigating
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tools in minimizing exposure to various risks and institute a process to authorize
exceptions or changes to risk limits when warranted.
d) Risk Monitoring: YETU MICROFINANCE PLC will have an effective
management information system (MIS) to monitor risk levels and facilitate timely
review of risk positions and exceptions. Monitoring reports will be frequent, timely,
accurate, and informative and will be distributed to appropriate individuals to
ensure action, when needed.
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SECTION H: DETAILS OF NOMINATED ADVISOR
1.0 Introduction
The Second Schedule of the Capital Markets and Securities (Prospectus
Requirements) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 requires that details of the
Nominated Advisor be given in the Prospectus. In this document we describe our firm
and explain its track record with specific reference to our key areas of competence.
CONSULTANTS FOR RESOURCES EVALUATION LIMITED (hereinafter
abbreviated as “CREL”) was incorporated much earlier on 17th August 1987, with
Certificate of Incorporation # 14054. Its main objectives are: to provide consulting
services in capital markets operations; funds arrangement and management;
corporate finance; economic and market studies; taxation, public finance and policy
analysis; information technology; collective investment scheme; and organizational
development and corporate planning. In each of these key business segments,
professional training is a key strength that we use in conjunction with our track record
in the field.
With introduction of capital markets in Tanzania towards the end of the millennium,
CORE Securities Limited (hereinafter abbreviated as “CORE”) was incorporated
under Chapter 212 of the laws of the United Republic of Tanzania; with certificate of
incorporation Number 33144 dated 11th December 1997. The company was initially
licensed by the Capital Markets and Securities Authority (CMSA) in the category of
investment advisor but later upgraded to the coveted category of dealer in securities.
CORE Securities Limited was then admitted as member of the Dar es Salaam Stock
Exchange, D-007.
The founding Directors and senior staff of CREL are the same ones who founded
CORE Securities Limited in 1997. We could have used CREL to get the dealer’s
license, but that would have involved amending the Articles as required by CMSA
Regulations. By then the Company had cultivated a special niche in consulting and
professional training matters and the Directors decided to retain CORE in its
registered form, but “borrowing” the acronym for the new securities dealing company.
That is how CORE Securities Limited came to be.
Organizational relationships
Subsequent re-organization saw CORE Securities Limited (“CORE”) reconstituted
as the parent company (specializing in dealing matters, as licensed dealing member
of the DSE). The parent company is licensed by the CMSA in the category of Dealer
in Dual Capacity (License: D.007). It is also licensed by the Bank of Tanzania as an
Authorized Dealer in Government Securities.
The subsidiary, Consultants for Resources Evaluation Limited (“CREL”) then
specialized in investment advisory and corporate finance matters licensed by CMSA
in the category of investment advisor.
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In 2008, we applied for and received provisional admission to the CMAC in Rwanda,
to operate in its then over-the-counter market. Subsequently, OTC trading was
stopped and CMAC become reconstituted as CMA when the Rwanda Stock
Exchange became fully operational. In 2012 CORE Securities (Rwanda) Limited got
full admission as a licensed dealing member of the RSE, the only Tanzanian-owned
member firm. It is also licensed by the National Bank of Rwanda – the Nation’s
central bank, Banki Nkuru y’u Rwanda – as a licensed participant in its central
securities depository.
With these restructuring and further developments, CORE is now in a position to offer
the full range of corporate finance, advisory and dealing services to its clients across
the EA Region and beyond. Depending on the task at hand applications were made
using the appropriate license but all matters handles under one roof with the full
control of the same directors and senior staff.
Top management of our firm is vested in the 5-person Board of Directors while day
to-day executive and operational decisions are made by a core team that comprises
five ADRs, three NOMADS and 2 CPAs, among other professionals. This team has
delivered by far the largest output of capital markets transactions in Tanzania,
including Arranging 5 IPOs, sponsoring 7 IPOs, the only cross-border trading and colisting to the London Stock Exchange of a footsie-500 company, the only M&A
transaction to date on the DSE and the first and only IPO under the DSE’s Enterprise
Growth Market (EGM).
Professional capabilities:
1. CREL was awarded a contract by the World Bank to prepare for the National
Board of Accountants and Auditors (1999) an updated set of accounting and
auditing standards that would comply with international standards. These were
produced in 2000, discussed and passed by the accounting profession as
exposure drafts in 2001 and gazette by the NBAA in 2003 as the Nation’s
definitive standards until 2005 when Tanzania opted for wholesale adoption of
IFRS.
2. CREL was awarded a contract by the Treasury under funding from the
European Development Fund in 2003 to study the customs arrangements on
donor funded projects following some controversial repercussions in the use of
VAT exemptions and the need felt at that time to harmonies the customs and
tax regime in Tanzania. Following our recommendations, VAT exemptions and
other differential customs treatment of government and donor funded
expenditures were dropped.
3. CORE was first licensed as Investment Advisor in 1997 and, in that category,
participated in advising clients in the IPO’s of Tanzania Breweries Limited
(TBL), Tanzania Tea Packers Limited (TATEPA). When the Company’s license
was upgraded to that of Dealer, CORE was Co-sponsoring Brokers in the TCC
of IPO in the year 2000 and of Tanga Cement Company (in 2002).
4. For the Parastatal Sector Reform Commission (PSRC, from 1998 to date),
CORE Securities have carried numerous Privatization, Restructuring and
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Valuation Studies: Motor Mart, Printpack, Coastal Salt Works, TRALLCO,
TAFICO, Dar es Salaam RTC, Tanga RTC. CORE worked also on the
restructuring of TANESCO by unbundling it into 2 distribution companies, one
generating company, and one transmission-cum-trading company working with
in an international Consortium of consultants.
5. CORE was contracted by the then Privatization Trust as Manager for the Trust,
in which capacity CORE was advising the Trust in its mission to cater for the
general public in the divestiture of former parastatals. The procedure was that
with each privatization, a strategic investor was found to purchase majority
control of a Parastatal, with the remaining shares (20% to 45%) remaining
Government hands. The Trust would then task us to find the best way of
divesting these minority shares to individual Tanzania citizens – using such
methods as sale of shares on the DSE, placement of shares with selected
investors, sales to management and staff, and so on. Eventually it was decided
to convert the Privatization Trust into the Unit Trust of Tanzania for the
purpose of divesting the shares by means of collective investment schemes.
The first such CIS, the Umoja Fund Unit Trust was a resounding success.
6. In July 2004, CORE was Joint Sponsoring Brokers to the IPO of Tanzanite
One Limited on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the London Stock
Exchange. Working with William de Bröe PLC (licensed brokers of the London
Stock Exchange and Vertex International); CORE was able to attract a number
of selected Tanzanian investors to participate in the IPO following special
foreign exchange control dispensation.
7. CORE was appointed by PSRC as Lead Advisor for the IPO of the Dar es
Salaam Airports Handling Company Limited (DAHACO, later renamed
Swissport (T) Limited). This was the first time an indigenous firm had bid and
won such a contract against international competition. The IPO was 5-time
oversubscribed and the share price rose from TZS 225 at listing in June 2003
to TZS 680 on 31 October 2006. In addition to general coordination and
management of the IPO, CORE had specific responsibility for pricing the issue,
structuring a stock- split, designing an employee share ownership scheme
(ESOP) and finalizing the Registry by making the final allotment upon its
approval by the Regulator.
8. CORE was appointed in 2003 by Bidco Soap & Oil Limited (Kenya) to be
Sponsoring Broker for its TZS 10 billion mixed-and-floating 5 year bond, with
Barclays Merchant Bank of South Africa as the Arranger. This was the first
truly private-sector international DSE product, involving cross- regulation by
the Bank of Tanzania and the Bank of England (the bond was guaranteed by
the UK multinational Barclays Bank PLC). CORE played a pivotal role in
pricing and structuring the bond, as the Issuer and most of the other Advisors
were foreigners.
9. CORE was appointed in 2004 by the East African Development Bank to be
Sponsoring Broker for a TZS 10 billion fixed-rate bond. Although this was not
the first bond for EADB on the DSE, the fact is that target investors had
become more Sophisticated were demanding an objective rating by a
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reputable agency to agree on the price. In the absence of such rating CORE
assisted by pegging the bond on of the 5-year T-Bond then current, plus a
premium of 2 basis points.
10. CREL was appointed by PSRC early in 2006 to be Lead Advisor of the IPO of
Tanzania Portland Cement Company Limited (TPCC). This is a subsidiary of
the 4th largest cement maker in the world and the second cement company to
be listed on the DSE (the first listing was that of Tanga Cement, owned by the
2nd largest cement maker in the world). With TZS 95 billion collected, this was
the largest IPO in the history of Tanzania, larger than even the TZS 92 billion
of the Umoja Fund IPO that had a 43% in-built Government subsidy. Its huge
size notwithstanding, the IPO was oversubscribed 350% times. An innovative
pricing and allotment formula was proposed and approved by the Regulator.
11. In April 2007, we were appointed by the Presidential Parastatal Sector Reform
Commission (PSRC) to be Sponsoring Broker for the National Microfinance
Bank (NMB) and its subsequent listing on the Dar es Salaam Stock
Exchange (DSE). It was successfully listed on 31st October 2008.
12. In April 2008, we were appointed Lead Advisor by this community bank that
began as a special service provider for the city of Dar es Salaam controlled
by the City Council and municipalities of Ilala, Kinondoni and Temeke. The
bank successfully went public during the year and became the first bank to
be listed on the DSE in September 2008, barely beating NMB that listed on
16th October 2008.
13. We were appointed in 2010/2011 by the Canadian multinational Barrick
Group to be coordinating sponsors in Tanzania of the IPO listing on the
London Stock of the Group’s Tanzanian properties, incorporated as African
Barrick Gold. This was by way of a private placement (since the Barrick
Prospectus could not be approved by CMSA in time), after we had obtained
dispensation from the Bank of Tanzania. We successfully placed a good
number of shares, using the global custodian services of Barclays Bank PLC
Mauritius and we are currently the sole brokers of ABG in Tanzania. Later;
CORE was Lead Advisor and Sponsor of the cross listing of ABG onto the
DSE, with Standard Chartered bank (T) as global Custodian.
14. During 2010-2011, CREL was appointed as Financial Advisor to TATEPA’s
M&A Transaction whereby the founding shareholders bought out the founding
strategic investor and brought a London fund manager in its place. This was
Tanzania’s first ever business under the CMSA’s M&A Regulations.
15. DCB Commercial Bank PLC appointed us (in 2012) as Lead Advisors and
Sponsor of their rights issue transaction that coincided with the bank’s
recapitalization and extension of license to pan-territorial commercial banking.

16. Maendeleo Bank PLC, in 2013, appointed CREL to be Nominated Advisor to
list on the EGM segment of the DSE. This was done successfully, to become
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the first Issuer to be listed to Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange under the EGM
route.
17. In 2013, CORE was appointed by Mkombozi Commercial Bank PLC to be
sponsoring broker and CREL Leading Advisor for Right Issue that required the
bank to recapitalization and increases their Assets.
18. In 2014 (ongoing), CREL is the Nominated Advisor for YETU Microfinance
PLC in its quest to obtain a listing in the DSE through the EGM provisions.
1.1 Credentials of Directors and key professional staff
Mr. George Fumbuka is a UK Chartered Accountant and licensed by the NBAA as a
Public Certified Accountant in Public Practice. He is the CEO of our firm with over
25years’ experience in professional training, line management and consulting. He is a
prolific trainer who has authored authoritative textbooks and monographs in
accountancy and finance. He led a team of consultants (for the NBAA, financed by
the World Bank) who wrote or updated all accounting and auditing standards in
Tanzania in conformity with international accounting standards. He also holds a
master’s degree in business administration (MBA) from Scotland’s University of
Strathclyde Business School.
Nehemiah Kyando Mchechu is Director General, National Housing Corporation of
Tanzania. Nehemiah is an inspirational and transformational business leader. He is
currently leading the largest Company in East Africa with a Capital base over USD
1.4Billion. He was recruited in this job to undertake the restructuring the State Owned
Corporation following his good track record in restructuring the ailing Companies. He
has been able to transform the NHC from the Bureaucratic State owned Corporation
to among the best performing Companies in Tanzania.
Mr. Yona Killagane is a ranking member of the Accountancy profession in Tanzania.
After 3 years (1975-1977) on the academic staff of IDM Mzumbe, he worked with
Tanzania Petroleum Development Corporation (TPDC), rising in the ranks to the
position of Managing Director, serving the Corporation for 37 year before retiring this
year. Mr. Killagane, a Chartered Certified Accountant with an MSc degree in finance
from the University of Strathclyde in the UK, has participated as a technical resource
person to all the CMSA’s IPOs. He has authored authoritative presentations on
finance and financial reporting standards. He is currently on the Board of the Bank of
Tanzania and sits on its Audit Committee.
Mr. Bonaventura Mlunde is Director with special responsibility for fixed income
securities. He is a seasoned banker who took early retirement after 24 years of work
in various capacities - including senior positions as Director of Project Supervision &
Appraisal, Head of Business and before retirement Head of Finance & Administration
at Tanzania Development Finance Company Ltd (TDFL) Capital Finance Limited
(CFL). Mr. Mlunde is B.Com graduate, CPA (T) and Fellow of the Chartered Institute
Of Management Accountants (FCMA).
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Engineer Eva Fumbuka, another founding Director of our firm, is a Professional
Engineer well respected in the operation and management of electric power utilities
who provides CORE with technical expertise and direction in our business advisory
services in that sector. Eva did technician studies at the TANESCO Training Institute
and graduate studies at the Dar es Salaam Technical College. She has attended
specialist certification and professional development courses in Ireland, Sweden,
Japan, South Africa and the USA. Eva worked throughout the TANESCO system,
from the mandatory 2 year apprenticeship in the field a linesman and Mains Engineer,
rising to increasingly senior positions as distribution and commercial Engineer,
becoming Regional Manager of the Kinondoni North Region, the largest TANESCO.
Engineer Eva is currently Managing Director of Pomy Engineering Limited,
registered by the CRB as electrical engineering’s and building contractors.
Mrs. Mary Kessy: a graduate of the Institute of Finance Management in Dar es
Salaam, with an Advanced Diploma in Accountancy. She is also a holder of PGDTM
from the same institution, she holds a Master’s degree of cooperate Management
from Mzumbe University and a CPA (T). She is an Associate Director of firm with
responsibility for bonds and money market products as well as overall head of
Finance in the Company, ensuring assignments are completed and delivered within
promised time and cost estimates, liaising with bankers, regulatory authorities and
outsourced services. Mary is a fully qualified broker and an Authorized Dealer’s
Representative (ADR) of CORE
Mr. Jonathan Swalala: a graduate in agricultural economics and agri-business from
SUA – the Sokoine University of Agriculture in Morogoro. He is a Grade school
teacher, a diploma holder with 5-years’ experience teaching physics “A” and
mathematics in secondary schools prior to embarking on graduate as economist. In
this combination, Mr. Swalala plays a useful role for the firm studies providing
interface between science and business, professional training and public
sensitisation. Having attended and passed CMSA’s Dealers Course, Mr. Swalala is a
fully qualified broker and an Authorized (ADR) of CORE. He has noted coordination
skills in managing inter-disciplinary teams working on complex assignments.
Mrs. Nkunde Shoo began initially as Secretary and Office Management Assistant but
was able to advance herself to acquire a Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA)
from the College of Business Education. She also attended the DSE’s Floor Traders’
Course and qualified as a trader on the Exchange’s automated trading system. She
also attended various FIU regulatory courses and now serves as Compliance Officer.
Mr. Edwine Mahenge joined our Research Department after his B.Com Corporate
Finance at the University of Dar es Salaam in 2010. He has since then cultivated as a
significant research capability within the industry which is indispensable to our
advisory services. Edwine attended the CMSA’s NOMAD certification course in March
2013 and qualified as a Nominated Advisors Representative - NOMAD’s
representative.
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Miss Sandra Felician first worked for our Firm as an intern during her graduate
studies at the Institute of Accountancy Arusha in 2012. Later she graduated with the
Advanced Diploma in Banking and Finance, and then joined us as Associate Dealer
in fixed-securities Back-office operations. Sandra attended the CMSA’s dealers’
course for Nominated Advisors and qualified as a NOMAD’s representative in March
2013.
These CORE professionals are supported by the full resources of the firm, comprising
accountants, Back Office operators and Front Office dealing assistants. We have
robust IT connectivity, with subscriptions to Bloomberg giving us access to
international Clients and professional correspondents.
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SECTION I: STATUTORY INFORMATION
1.0 Offer statutory information
Particulars of the Initial Public Offer and listing
The Initial Public Offer
There are 25,193,213 ordinary shares are being offered to the public, who are invited
to apply only on the application form attached to, or issued in connection with, this
Prospectus.
Time and date of opening and closing the public offer
The offer will open at 9.00 am on Thursday, June 18, 2015 and end at the close of
business on Thursday, July 30, 2015
Eligibility
This offer is open to the general public.
Minimum and maximum level of subscription
Applications must be for a minimum of 100 shares and in multiples of 100 shares
thereafter. Investors may apply for any amount.
Allotment policy
The responsibility for allocation of Shares that are subject of the offer lies with the
Issuer in consultation with the Nominated Advisor. In the event that there is an
oversubscription, the Directors have agreed and the CMSA has approved to allot
more shares up to a maximum of 20% over the IPO in the Green Shoe option. A
minimum of 80% of shares shall be allotted to Tanzanians.
There are no restrictions to the maximum number of offer shares to be applied for.
Extension of the offer period
The Directors have resolved that the offer period will not be extended.
1.1 DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION OF THEIR INTEREST
· Directors’ shareholding
At the date of this Prospectus the following are the shareholdings of YETU’s directors:
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Table 16: DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN YETU’s SHARES
DIRECTORS
Ernest Ndimbo
Dr. Esther Mbise
Danford Mbilinyi
Altemius Millinga
Cornelius Kariwa
Happy Sambega
TOTAL SHARES
·

SHARES BEFOR E
STOCK- SPLIT
196,073
80,532
2,000
538,990
20,000
175,159
1,012,754

SHARES AFTER
STOCK- SPLIT
392,146
161,064
4,000
1,077,980
40,000
350,318
2,025,508

Directors’ interest in the offer

No director has any beneficial or non-beneficial interest in the promotion of the
company in the Offer. Neither have any sums been, or need to be, paid to any
Director or promoter in cash or otherwise to induce him to become a member of the
company or for the rendering of services in connection with the promotion of the
Company. The Company has not granted share options to any director and there are
no requirements for qualification shares
·

Conflict of interest

The Company’s Articles do not preclude a Director from entering into contracts or
being interested in contracts or arrangements with the Company. However, a Director
who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed
contract which has been, or is to be entered into by the Company, is required to
declare the nature and extent of his interest. No Director is permitted to vote in
respect of any contract or arrangement in which he is interested.
· Loans to Directors
The Company may grant a loan to any director or to a close relative of a director and
may give any guarantee or provide any security for any such loan made by any other
person. In all cases, such facilities must be given at arm’s length terms.
·

Working capital adequacy

The Directors believe that the working and issued share capital of YETU is adequate
for the Company’s current requirements. The Directors believe that with the ongoing
operations and this IPO, the Working capital position will be enhanced to support
further expansion.
·

Borrowings and loans receivable

Other than those made in the ordinary course of business, as at the date of this
Prospectus, the company has not made or received any material loans to third
parties.
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·

Capital commitments, lease commitments and contingent liabilities

Other than described in the Independent Reporting Accountants’ Report Note 16
page 72 the company has no other capital and lease commitments as at the date of
this Prospectus.
·

Litigation

Other than described in the Legal opinion page 117 the Directors confirm that they
are not aware of any material litigation or arbitration proceedings that may have, or
has had in the past 12 months, a significant effect on the company’s financial
position.
·

Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors of YETU, whose names appear on page 100 of this Prospectus, have
considered all statements of fact and opinion, and individually and collectively accept
full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in the Prospectus. The
Directors declare that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other
facts, the omission of which would make any statements in this Prospectus
misleading.
Application for listing
This offer is subject to the Directors’ application for listing to the DSE for approval of a
listing of YETU’s 25,193,213 ordinary shares. Listing is expected to occur on or about
17 August 2015.
Withholding tax on securities income
YETU is required to act as an agent for the Tanzania Revenue Authority in deduction
of withholding tax on dividends payable to its shareholders. The withholding tax rate
is currently 5% (if the company is listed on the DSE, 10% if not listed) of the gross
dividends.
Central Securities Depository
The Central Securities Depository (CSD) is a function within the DSE that holds the
definitive and authentic record of securities in immobilized or dematerialized form to
enable book-entry transfer of securities. Shares are held by the CSD on behalf of
shareholders in terms of the rules of the CSD and all transfers of shares after the date
of the listing must take place through the CSD. The CSD will issue each successful
applicant with a Depository Receipt, which is a document of title similar to a
Depository Receipts but is not negotiable.
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Experts’ Consent
Consultants for Resources Evaluation Limited (Nominated Advisor), M/S Mkoba &
Co. Advocates (Legal Advisor) Mhasibu Consultancy (Reporting Accountant), CORE
Securities Limited (Sponsoring Broker), have all given and not withdrawn their written
consent to the inclusion of their names and reports, where applicable, and reference
thereto in the form and context in which they appear in the Prospectus. None of these
consents have been withdrawn prior to registration of this Prospectus with the
Registrar of Companies.
Use of proceeds
The net of IPO proceeds will be used for recapitalizing the company, where YETU as
a financial service provider, the funds obtained will be good for lending activities,
strengthening of MIS-system and opening of new branches and credit delivery
outlets.
Authorizations
Original resolutions of change of name dated April 30, 2014 from the shareholders of
YETU Microfinance PLC.
Registration of Prospectus
A copy of this Prospectus will be registered with the Registrar of Companies in terms
of Section 35 of the Act.
Documents available for inspection
Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at YETU’s
registered offices at any time during business hours on weekdays (except official
Tanzania public holidays) from the offer opening date to the offer closing date:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of YETU;
The audited financial statements of YOSEFO for the three financial years
ended 31st December 2013.
The signed legal opinion of Mkoba & Co Advocates, the Legal Advisor
The signed Reporting Accountants’ Report of Mhasibu Consultants Limited
The signed Reporting Accountants’ report in respect to the profit forecast
prepared by Mhasibu Consultants Limited
Consent letters from the IPO Advisors;
NOMADS’ Valuation report
Documents related to borrowings, landed and leased properties of the
Company as stated in the Legal Opinion;
Certificate of registration/ incorporation, insurance policies, Directors’
resolution and material contracts reviewed as stated in the Legal Opinion.
Letter ref. CMSA/F3/B.25 dated 11TH JUNE 2015 from CMSA approving this
Prospectus;
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IPO Expenses
The estimated offer expenses are analysed below:
Cost component
Nominated Advisor’s fees
Legal fees
Reporting Accountant’s fees
CMSA approval fees
DSE listing fees
Agents' collection success fees (2%)
Printing of Prospectus
PR & Advertising (est.)
Total

Total
50,000,000
21,000,000
25,000,000
10,649,152
20,000,000
251,932,130
25,000,000
20,000,000
423,581,282

Commissions
As shown above, agency commission will be paid as success fee to the licensed
receiving banks at a rate of 2% of allotments to applications submitted through them.
Applicants are not required to pay any commission.
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2.0 Extracts from the Memorandum and Articles of Association
The key features of the Company’s MEMARTS are as follows:
Memorandum of Association
The Memorandum of Association set out the Company’s main objects, the principal
ones are:
1. to carry on the business of microfinance and banking in all its departments,
branches and agencies
2. lending money to individuals and small scale business
3. Facilitate payment systems through operating current account and other
accounts for individuals, government departments, NGOs and other institutions.
Articles of Association
Transferability of shares
The major provisions read as follows:
Article 8: Depository Receipt issued by the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange shall be a
prima-facie evidence of title to the shares issued in lieu of the Share Certificate. The
shareholder shall only be issued with one Depository receipt.

Article 10: As long as the Company shall be listed and remain listed at the Exchange, all
transfer of shares shall take effect in accordance with the Depository, Trading, Clearing
and Settlement Rules of the Exchange. The Company shall adhere to all the Exchange’s
other posting-listing requirements whether or not these are enumerated herein and the
Company shall take immediate steps to seek members’ approval to align these Articles
with any new Rules of the Exchange
Article 11: In the event of death or incapacitation of any shareholder, the depository
receipt or share certificate shall be transmitted to heirs on next of kin in accordance with
the rules and procedures determine by the Capital Markets and Securities Authority.
Alteration of Capital
The Share capital of the Company can be increased by an Ordinary Resolution, as
spelt out in Article 12(1) (4) of the Articles which reads as follows:
The company may from time to time consolidate and divide its share
capital into shares of larger or smaller amount than its existing shares.
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Votes of Members
The relevant provisions in the Articles of Association relating to the votes of member
are as follows:
Article 32 to Article 42
General Meetings
The relevant provisions in the Articles of Association pursuant to the General Meeting
are as follows:
Article 16 to Article 18
Article 16 reads;
The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual general
meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year, and shall specify the meeting
as such in the notices calling it; and not more than fifteen months shall elapse
between the date of the annual general meeting of the Company and that of the next.
Provided that so long as the company shall hold its first annual general meeting within
eighteen months of its incorporation, it need not hold it in the year of its incorporation
or in the following year. The annual general meeting shall be held at the registered
office of the Company or at such other place in Tanzania as the Directors shall
appoint and shall be held within four months following end of the company’s financial
year.
Proceedings of General Meetings
The proceedings of the Company are governed by Article 22 to Article 31 of the
Articles, which, inter alia, provide for quorum of half of the members of the paid up
issued capital including the proxies. The Articles read as follows:
Article 22: No business shall be transacted at any general
meeting unless a quorum is present at the time when the
meeting proceeds to business. Twenty members entitled to
attend the meeting holding a total of not less than 75% of the
shares if present shall be a quorum.
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Directors
The business of the Company is managed by 7 Directors, including the Managing
Director. According to Article 44, the first Directors of the Company are named in the
particulars delivered to the Registrar of Companies pursuant to the provisions of
Section 45 of the Companies Act.
Under Article 16, the Annual General Meeting of the Company has powers to appoint
the Board of Directors of the Company in groups as follows:
1. Shareholders holding 5% of the shares shall nominate 1 director for each 5%
of stock, up to a maximum of 5.
2. The remaining shareholders shall elect 2 directors by open vote at the AGM in
a manner that the Board shall set.
3. All directors shall be fit and proper persons and shall have first to be cleared by
BoT
4. The Chairperson is appointed by the Board Directors but shall not be the CEO.
Vacation of Office of Director
Articles 53 to Article 54 and Article 59 make provisions on how a director may cease
to hold office as follows:
The office of any member of the Board shall be vacated, if the member:
(1) Without the consent of the Company in a general meeting holds any other office
of profit or gain under the Company;
(2) becomes bankrupt; or
(3) becomes prohibited from being a director by reason of any order made under
section 213 or 269 of the Companies Act, 2002 or by any other law; or
(4) is found lunatic or becomes of unsound mind; or
(5) resigns his office by notice in writing to the company; or
(6) is directly or indirectly interested in any contract with the Company and fails to
declare the nature of his interest in manner required by section 150 of the
Companies Act, 2002 and the Banking Act: A director shall not vote in respect of
any contract in which he is interested or any matter arising therefrom, and if he
does so vote his vote shall not be counted; or
(7) is punished with imprisonment for a term exceeding six months without the
option of a fine; or
(8) is a director of another financial institution; or
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(9) if he absents himself from the meetings of the Board for three consecutive
sittings without special leave of absence from the members of the board and they
pass a resolution that he has by reason of such absence vacated his office.
(10) A branch Advisory Board member will automatically resign once he is transferred
or has moved from jurisdiction of the Branch/District.
Dividend Policy
Articles 66 & 67:
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2002 and the Banking and Financial
Institutions Act, the Company at the General Meeting may from time to time declare
dividends not less than 60% of the profits available for distribution
Winding Up
Article 88
If the Company shall be wound up the liquidator may with the sanction of an
extraordinary resolution of the General Meeting and any other sanction required by
the Companies Act, 2002, divide proportionally amongst the shareholders in specie or
kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of
property of the same kind or not) and may, for such purpose set such value as he
deems fair upon any property to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how
such divisions shall be carried out as between the shareholders. The liquidator may,
with the like sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in trustee upon such
trusts for the benefit of the contributories as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall
think fit, but so that no shareholder shall be compelled to accept any shares or other
securities whereon there is any liability
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SECTION J: LEGAL OPINION

Notaries Public &
Commissioner for
Oaths, Investments,
Corporate and Tax Law
Consultants

Our Ref.: MK/14/MISC/1

The Managing Director
YETU Microfinance Public Limited Company
P.O Box 75379
Dar es salaam.
Ladies and Gentlemen,
RE: LEGAL OPINION IN RESPECT OF OFFER FOR SALE OF
SHARES OF YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AND LISTING OF THE SHARES TO
THE ENTERPRISE GROWTH MARKET (EGM) SEGMENT OF DAR
ES SALAAM STOCK EXCHANGE (DSE)

Old Post Office Bldg.
st
1 Floor, Room No. 3
Sokoine/Mkwepu St.
P.O Box 14675
Dar es salaam
TANZANIA.
=====================

1.0 Background and Purpose:
1.1

We, Mkoba & Co. Advocates, have been engaged as
Legal Advisers to advise YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC
LIMITED COMPANY in connection with the planned listing
of the company’s shares on the Dar es salaam Stock
Exchange (“the Listing”) and the offer for sale to the public
of 25,193,213 ordinary shares of the company (the “Offer”)
pursuant to the prospectus dated 11th June 2015

1.2

YETU Microfinance Public Limited Company was
incorporated on the 23rd December 2013 as YETU
MICROFINANCE PLC LIMITED. It was a private limited
liability company.

1.3

On the 8th day of October 2014, the company changed its
name to YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED
COMPANY vide Certificate of Change of Name No.
104761.

Egidi S. M. Mkoba
LL.B (Hons), PGD.L
University of DSM
Tel. +255 22-2122490
Fax: +255 22-2122490
Cell. +255 713-222101
+255 763-222101
+255 782 222101
E-mail: emkoba@hotmail.com
=====================

Nesto A. Mkoba
LL.B (M.U)
PGD.L - (L.S.T)

Cell. +255 712-330800
+255 789-330800
+255 752-330800
E-l: adamnst494@gmail.com

===================
Kika A. Mzige
LL.B (NMMU-S.A)
PGD.L - (L.S.T)
Cell. +255 652-576849

2.0 Interpretation:
Wherever used in this opinion, unless the context otherwise
requires;

E-: kik_mzige@yahoo.com

125

§

The term “Banking Act” shall mean the Banking and Financial
Institutions Act, Cap. 342;

§

The term “BOT” shall mean the Central Bank of Tanzania, established under
the Bank of Tanzania Act, Cap. 197;

§

The term “CMSA” or “the Authority” shall mean the Capital Markets and
Securities Authority established under the Capital Markets and Securities Act,
Cap. 79.

§

The term “CMS Act” shall mean the Capital Markets and Securities
Act,Cap.79;

§

The term “Companies Act” shall mean the Companies Act, Cap 212;

§

The term “Company” shall mean YETU Microfinance Public Limited Company,
a company incorporated in Tanzania.
By resolution dated October 8, 2014 the company resolved to convert from a
private limited liability company to public limited liability company.

3.0

Authorized and issued share capital:

3.1

YETU Microfinance Public Limited Company has an authorized share capital of
TZS 30,000,000,000/= divided into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of TZS 250/=
each and 20,000,000 preference shares of TZS 250/= each. The total fully paid
up share capital is TZS 9,243,059,750 divided into 36,972,239 shares of TZS
250/= each.

3.2

The registered office of the company is located at Kiungani Street, Mnazi
Mmoja P.O Box 75379 Dar es salaam.

4.0

Reviewed Documentations, procedures and Assumptions:

4.1

In order to enable us make opinion in this regard as herein below indicated, we
have examined various documents which we considered necessary.
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
(x)

Certificate of Incorporation.
Memorandum and Articles of Associations
Certificate of Change of Name.
The Companies Act.
The Banking Act.
The CMSA Act and the Regulations made thereunder.
The Rules of the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange
Company Directors’ resolutions including the one made at the extra
ordinary general meeting approving, inter alia, the offer and the listing.
Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN) 125-181-317
YOSEFO Certificate of Registration and Incorporation
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4.2

In expressing the opinion, we have examined and relied on the original
and copies of the documents mentioned above and we have assumed
that;
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

All the signatures are genuine.
All documents submitted to us as originals are true and complete.
All the documents submitted to us as copies are true and complete
copies of the originals thereof.
The offer and the listing will not change the operation of the company.

5.0

Opinion:

5.1

Based on the laws and matters made known to us, we are of the considered
opinion that;
(i)

The company is a public company, duly incorporated in Tanzania
pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, with powers to
execute, deliver and exercise its rights and perform its obligations
pursuant to the Offer and the Listing, and that such execution and
performance have been duly authorized by appropriate corporate
action.

(ii)

The rights and obligations of the Company contemplated by the
transactions constitute valid and binding rights and obligations
enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof.

(iii)

The Offer and the Listing have been duly and validly authorized by the
Company and no other corporate action on the part of the company is
necessary to authorize the Offer and the Listing.

(iv)

The execution and consummation of the Offer and the Listing
contemplated by the company do not conflict with, and shall not result in
the breach of any applicable law, rule or regulation or any agreement or
obligation to which the company is a party or bound by, which would
individually or in the aggregate impair the validity of the offer and the
listing or have material adverse effect on the ability of the company to
perform its obligations after the offer and listing.

(v)

The Offer and the Listing are incompliance of the CMSA Act and all
other laws relevant and enforceable in Tanzania at the time of giving
this opinion.

(vi)

In consideration of the Dar es salaam Stock Exchange granting YETU
MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY application for the
listing of security, YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED
COMPANY did, ON 14th November, 2014 execute a letter of
undertaking to comply with the continuing obligations of listing on the
Exchange as set out in the annex to the undertaking.
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5.2

Based upon and subject as aforesaid, and without prejudice to the generality of
the matters set out in paragraph 9.3 of this opinion, we are further of the
considered opinion that;

5.3

According to the Articles of Association of the company, and the company
being a public company, its right to transfer shares and issuance of share
certificates is not restricted and after Listing, the company shall also be
regulated by the DSE Rules.

5.4

The company as first incorporated as a private company. By resolution passed
on October 8, 2014, the company resolved to change its name to YETU
MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY in order to comply with
Section 4(1) of Act which requires public companies to have the words “public
limited company” as the last words of the name.

5.5

All authorizations, approvals, consents, exemptions, filings or registrations
of/or with any governmental or public bodies or authorities of/or in Tanzania
required in connection with the business of the company have been obtained,
are in proper form, and are in full force and effect.

5.6

All authorizations and approvals by CMSA and the Stock Exchange required
for the offer and the Listing under the respective Legislation and Rules have
been obtained.

6.0

Properties:
Save as otherwise disclosed in this opinion, the company does not own any
properties of which title disclosure is material to our opinion;

7.0

Contracts:
As of the date of this opinion YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED
COMPANY has entered and is actually party to various contracts. These
include employment contracts, lease and other types of contracts. In particular
the company has the following contracts;
(i)
(ii)

Employment contracts with its employees.
Lease agreement with
i) Dar es Salaam City Council at Machinga Complex building- Mzizima
branch
ii) Mr. Ambrose Mganda- Ifakara branch
iii) Kilombero Plantation Limited(KPL)– Mngeta branch
iv) Zaoma Limited –Head office
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8.0 Court Actions:
8.1

By the information made available to us and through our candid search we are
firm in our finding that YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
has no litigation, arbitration, prosecution or other civil or criminal legal action.

8.2

No winding up order has been issued against YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC
LIMITED COMPANY and no receiver manager or liquidator has been
appointed in respect thereof.

8.3

Save as it has been specifically disclosed in this prospectus, there is no other
contract, agreement or arrangement concerning the offer.

8.4

There are no other material facts and or items than those mentioned in this
prospectus which have been disclosed to us or of which we are aware with as
regards to the legal status of YETU MICROFINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED
COMPANY, the Offer and the Listing.

9.0

Conclusion:
This opinion is given pursuant to the instructions made to us by the company
and is made upon the relevant laws in force in Tanzania at the time.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
MKOBA & CO. ADVOCATES

Egidi S. M. Mkoba
(MANAGING PARTNER)
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LICENSED DEALING MEMBERS OF THE DAR ES SALAAM STOCK EXCHANGE
CORE Securities Limited
4TH Floor, Elite City Bldg., Cnr Morogoro
Road/Samora Avenue
P. O BOX 76800, Dar es Salaam
Tel:+255 22 2123103
Fax +255 22 2122562
E-mail: info@coresecurities.co.tz

Tanzania Securities Limited
7th Floor, IPS Building
Samora Avenue/Azikiwe St.
P. O Box 9821, Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 22 2112807
Fax 255 22 2112809
E-mail: tsl@muchs.ac.tz

Orbit Securities Company Limited
4th Floor, Golden Jubilee Tower
PSPF Building
P.O Box 70254, Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 22 2111758/2120863
Fax 255 22 2113067
E-mail: orbit@orbit.co.tz

Vertex International Securities
Limited
Annex Building
Zambia High Commission
Sokoine Drive/Ohio Street
P.O Box 13412 Dar es Salaam
Tel: 022 2116382/2110387
Fax 022 2110387
E-mail: vertex@smartcardtz.com

TIB Rasilimali Limited
Samora Tower Building
Samora Avenue/Bridge Street
P.O Box 9154, Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 22 2111711
Fax 255 22 2122883
E-mail: rasilimali@africaonline.co.tz

Solomon Stockbrokers Limited
Ground Floor, PPF House
Samora Avenue
P.O Box 77049, Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 22 2112874
Fax 255 22 2131969
E-mail: solomon@simbanet.net

Zan Securities Ltd,
1st Floor Muzamil Centre, Malawi road,
P.O Box 2138, Zanzibar
TEL: 255 24 223 8359,
FAX: 255 24 223 8358.
Second Floor, Viva Tower
P O BOX 5366, Dar es Salaam,
TEL: 255 22 212 6415,
FAX: 255 22 212 6414

E.A. Capital Ltd
6th Floor, IT Plaza
Ohio Street
P.O. Box 20650, Dar es Salaam
Tel +255 779740818/ +255
784461759
EC@EACAPITAL-TZ.COM
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LIST OF CMSA-LICENSED INVESTMENT ADVISORS
1.

Consultants for Resources Evaluation
Limited
P. O. BOX 76800, Dar es Salaam
Tel:+255 22 2123103
Fax +255 22 2122562
E-mail: info@coresecurities.co.tz

4thFloor, Elite City Bldg., Car
Morogoro Road/Samora
Avenue
Dar es Salaam

2

Orbit Securities Limited
PO Box31831, Dar es Salaam
Tel: +255 22 2111758/2120863
Fax +255 22 2113067
E-mail: orbit-sec@raha.com

4th Floor, Golden Jubilee
Tower
PSPF Building
Dar es Salaam

3

ARCH Financial & Investment Advisory
Limited
P.O. Box 38028
Dar es Salaam
Tel. +255 22 732922396
Fax +255 22 732928489

2nd Floor, Wing C, NIC Life
House
Sokoine Drive/OhioStreet

4.

Rasilimali Limited
Samora Tower Building
Samora Avenue/Bridge Street
P.O Box 9154, Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 22 2111711
Fax 255 22 2122883
E-mail: rasilimali@africaonline.co.tz

7th Floor,
SamoraTower
Dar es Salaam

5.

Standard Charted Bank (T)Limited
P O Box 9011
Dar es Salaam
Tel.: +255 22 2122160
Fax: +255 22 2122096
E mail customercare@tz.stndardchartered.com

International House, Junction
of Shaban Roberts/Garden
Avenue Street
Dar es Salaam.

6.

Tanzania Securities Limited
PO Box 9821
Dar es Salaam
Tel: +255 22 2112807
Fax +255 22 2112809
E-mail: info@tanzaniasecurities.co.tz

7th Floor, IPS Building
Samora Avenue/Azikiwe
Street
Dar es Salaam

7.

Solomon Stockbrokers Limited
PO Box 77049, Dar es Salaam
Tel: +255 22 2112874
Fax +255 22 2131969
E-mail: solomon@simbanet.net

Ground Floor, PPF House
Samora Avenue/Morogoro
Road
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Enterprise Growth Market Advisors Ltd
P. O. Box. 20651
Dar es Salaam
Tel:, +255 22 276 0145
Fax. +255 22 2760145
Email:info@egma.co.tz
Exim Advisory Services Ltd (Fund Manager)
P.O. Box 3219, Dar es Salaam.
Tel: +255 22 2134156
Fax: +255 22 2134157

First Floor, Alpha House
Plot 25
New Bagamoyo road

Bank M Tanzania Limited
P.O. Box 96 Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2127824
Fax+255 22 2127825
Website www.bankm.co.tz

Money Centre-8 Ocean
Road

River Capital Partners
P O. Box 1258 Dar es Salaam
Tel+255 22 2126050
Fax +255 22 21216049

10th Floor, Amani Place Ohio
Street

Ernst &Young Advisory Services
P O. Box 2475, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2666853/266 7659
Fax +255 22 266 6869
Email EYAS@tz.ey.com
guarantee@raha.com

Utalii House 36 Laibon
Road, Oysterbay

Skylink Financial Services Limited
P O. Box 21338, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2115381
Fax +255 22 2112786
Email infor@skylinkfinancialservices.com

4th Floor, Amani Place,
Opposite Dar es Salaam
Serena Hotel

LJK Konsulting Limited
P O. Box 20651, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 222124383
Email infor@mekonsult.co.tz

Plot No.294,Regent Estate

Unit Trust of Tanzania (Fund Manager)
P O. Box 14825, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2122501
Fax +255 22 2137593
Email uwekezaji@utt-tz.org

3rd Floor Sukari House
Sokoine Drive/Ohio Street
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8th Floor, Office Academy
Scheme Building
Plot 2385/12, Azikiwe Street

Equity Investment Management Limited
P O. Box 8020, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 211 2926
Fax +255 22 211 3645

4th Floor, 50 Mirambo Street

Choice Capital Management Company Ltd
P O. Box 61269, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2133997
Website www.choicecapitalmanagement.com

5th Floor, NIC Life House,
Wing B Sokoine Drive/Ohio
Street

FTC Consultants Limited
P O. Box 22731, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 (77) 467 6676
Fax +255 222130519
www.ftc-tz.com

2rd Floor ,Osman Tower,
Zanaki Street

Sifa Advisory Limited
P O. Box 4123, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2137570
Fax +255 222136570
Website www.sifacapital.com

Maktaba Square Business
Park, 2nd Floor,
Azikiwe Street

Gem Consulting Limited
Plot 2385/12,Azikiwe Street
P O. Box 3219, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

8th Floor, Office Academy
Scheme Building

Trident East Africa Limited
P O. Box 38346, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Email info@tridentealtd.com

3rd Floor ,Maktaba Complex
(Tanzania Library Services
Building) Bibi Titi Road,

National Bank OF Commerce Limited
P O. Box 1863, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Tel+255 22 2199793
Fax +255 222113749
Emailcontact.nbc@nbctz.com
Website www.nbctz.com

Sokoine Drive/Azikiwe Street
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LIST OF LICENSED NOMINATED ADVISORS
Enterprise Growth Market Advisors Ltd
Alfa House
Plot 25, New Bagamoyo road
P. O. Box. 71399
Dar es Salaam
Tel: +255 22 2760145
Fax. +255 22 2760145
Email info@egma.co.tz
TSL Investment Management Ltd
7th Floor, IPS Building
Samora Avenue /Azikiwe Street
P.O. Box 9821
Dar es Salaam
Tel: 255 (22) 21 12807
Fax: 255 (22) 21 12809
E-mail:info@tanzaniasecurities.co.tz
ARCH Financial & Investment Advisory Limited
2nd Floor, Wing C, NIC Life House
Sokoine Drive/OhioStreet
P.O. Box 38028
Dar es Salaam
Tel. +255 22 732922396
Fax +255 22 732928489
Exim Advisory Services Ltd. (Fund Manager)
8th Floor, Office Academy Scheme Building
Plot 2385/12, Azikiwe Street
P.O. Box 3219, Dar es Salaam.
Tel: +255 22 2134156
Fax: +255 22 2134157
Consultants for Resources Evaluation Limited
4thFloor, Elite City Bldg., Car Morogoro
Road/Samora Avenue
P. O. BOX 76800, Dar es Salaam
Tel:+255 22 2123103
Fax +255 22 2122562
E-mail: info@coresecurities.co.tz
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APPLICATION FORM
A copy of the Prospectus to which this application is attached was registered in terms of
section 35 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 212) and section 131 of the Capital
Markets and Securities Act 1994 (as amended) by Act No. 4 of 1997(“the Prospectus”)
SERIAL NUMBER: 0000

CSD ACCOUNT NO.
For Official use only
YETU MICROFINANCE PLC

(Incorporated in the United Republic of Tanzania)
(Incorporation number: 104761)

APPLICATION FORM
For ordinary shares in terms of the public offer of 25,193,213 ordinary shares at a price of TZS
500 per share payable in full on application

Please refer to the instructions overleaf before completing this form.
This form, when completed, should be submitted, together with TZS cash or a TZS
banker’s cheque (crossed “not negotiable”) or TZS banker’s draft in favour of “YETU
MICROFINANCE PLC” public offer, by hand to an authorized receiving agent mentioned
below not later than the closing of Business on 30 July 2015.
Each application submitted must be in one name only and show one address. The
directors of YETU reserve the right to accept or reject any application, in whole or in part,
particularly if the instructions overleaf and as set out in this Prospectus are not properly
complied with.
To the Directors, YETU:
I/We, the undersigned, confirm that, having read the Prospectus, hereby irrevocably
apply for and request you to accept my/our application for the under mentioned number
of ordinary shares in YETU at TZS 500 per ordinary share or any lesser number that
may be allotted to me/us in terms of the Prospectus and subject to the Articles of
Association of YETU.
I/We enclose a TZS banker’s cheque/TZS banker’s draft in favour of “YETU public offer”,
for the appropriate amount due in terms of this application.

135

Dated:
Mobile number: _____________SD Account #:_____________
E-mail:
Signature:
Please complete in BLOCK LETTERS
Surname of individual or name of corporate
Mr
body/institution (Circle appropriate title or fill Mrs
in “Other title” if not listed)
Miss
Other title
All successful applicants will receive a CSD depository receipt as proof of their shareholding in YETU
Name in full (if an individual)____________________________________________
Name in full as registered (for Corporates)_________________________________
Name of competent registering Authority___________________________________
Collection instructions: please indicate (tick)- Posted to me at the given on the application form
The Depository Receipts or refund cheque (if any) should be - sent to the authorized receiving agent to
wait collection
Identity Number (individuals only)______________________________________
Registration Number (for Corporates)_________________law_______________
Only legally recognised persons or entities may apply, It is necessary to produce positive identification
when collecting Depository Receipts or refund cheques (if any). Depository Receipts and refund cheques
(if any) will only be available for collection from the Bank
Postal address Depository Receipts and refund
cheques (if any) will be sent to this address By
registered post at the applicant’s risk.

P O Box :(………………………………….. )
Mobile:........................
Email:........................
Bank Account Holder: ..............................
Bank Account Number:
Bank Name:
Branch Name:
Total amount of TZS cash, TZS Banker’s cheque
or TZS banker’s draft to cover ordinary shares
applied for herein at TZS 500 per ordinary share.
TZS (enter figures only – not words)

Total number of ordinary shares applied for
Note: Minimum number of 100 shares
(Enter figures only – not
words)

X

TZS 500

If a recognized nominee company, state number of principals covered by this form (a supporting schedule
which discloses the number of shares applied for on behalf of each principal in respect of each application
must appear in the space provided overleaf)
(Please detach along the perforation and retain this portion for your records)

Serial number: 0000
Name(s) of applicant or institution

Total shares required

Assisted by: (where applicable):
___________________________
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Total funds submitted

